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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Forward-Looking Statements and Risk Factors

Statements contained in this annual report on Fd+K, or Annual Report, regarding our expectatido®iefs, estimates, intentions or
strategies are forward-looking statements witheartteaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act@83 and Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934. Any statements containedihéhat are not statements of historical fact maylbemed to be forward-looking
statements. For example, words such as "may,","Wilhould," "estimates," "predicts," "potential¢ontinue," "strategy," "believes,"
"anticipates,” "plans,” "expects,” "intends," amitar expressions are intended to identify forwsrdking statements. You should not place
undue reliance on these forward-looking statemexttial results and trends may differ materiallynfr historical results or those projected in
any such forward-looking statements depending warigty of factors. These factors include, butraselimited to, customer acceptance and
demand for our voice over Internet protocol, or Rialelephony products and services, the reliakilitgur services, the prices for our services,
customer renewal rates, customer acquisition castg&ns by our competitors, including price reduts for their telephone services, potential
federal and state regulatory actions, compliansts¢potential warranty claims and product defemis,needs for and the availability of
adequate working capital, our ability to innovaehnologically, the timely supply of products by aontract manufacturers, potential future
intellectual property infringement claims that abaldversely affect our business and operatingtesarid our ability to retain our listing on the
NASDAQ Capital Market. The forwa-looking statements may also be impacted by thé&iaddl risks faced by us as described in this Repo
including those set forth under the section emtitRisk Factors." All forward-looking statementglinded in this Annual Report are based on
information available to us on the date hereof, @rdassume no obligation to update any such forlcaking statements. Readers are urge
carefully review and consider the various disclesumade in this Annual Report, which attempt tasalinterested parties of the risks and
factors that may affect our business, financialdition, results of operations and prospects.

Our fiscal year ends on March 31 of each calendar.yEach reference to a fiscal year in this AnReglort, refers to the fiscal year ended
March 31 of the calendar year indicated (for examfiécal 2013 refers to the fiscal year ended M&T, 2013). Unless the context requires
otherwise, references to "we," "us," "our," "8x8idathe "Company" refer to 8x8, Inc. and its cordatied subsidiaries.

Overview

8x8 develops and markets telecommunications sex¥ardnternet protocol, or IP, telephony and viégplications as well as contact center,
web-based conferencing and unified communicatiengces, and clouttased computing services. We offer the 8x8 Vir@ffice hosted PB.
(private branch exchange) service, 8x8 Virtual @oh€enter service, 8x8 Virtual Office Pro Unifi€dmmunications Solution and 8x8 Cloud-
Based Computing Solutions.

We initially marketed our services under the Paglkeand. In May 2009, we began marketing our sesvimder the 8x8 brand. As of March
31, 2013, we had more than 32,500 business cussonter use our services as their primary businésghiene system, including IP dial tone,
long distance and all of the business class fesitypically associated with a traditional businpssne system or PBX. Each business custom
subscribes to a number of various lines and ses\(ieg. physical phone extensions, virtual extensions|ifees, toll free numbers, receptionist
software, and unified communications services).

On September 15, 2011, we completed the acquisifi@ontactual, Inc., a provider of cloud-based cahter and customer interaction
management solutions for approximately $31.8 nmillichich we paid by the issuance of a total of 6,48@ shares of unregistered 8x8 com
stock. Approximately 1,005,000 of the shares of 8a8imon stock issued as acquisition consideratieaing held in escrow as security for
the indemnification obligations of the Contactualckholders under the merger agreement.
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Available Information

We were incorporated in California in February 188 reincorporated in Delaware in December 1996 nvsintain a corporate Internet
website at the address http://www.8x8.com. Theamstof this website are not incorporated in oenilise to be regarded as part of this
Annual Report. We file reports with the Securiitesl Exchange Commission, or SEC, which are availablour website free of charge. These
reports include annual reports on Form 10-K, quigrteports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Fori &d amendments to such reports,
each of which is provided on our website as soarasonably practical after we electronically ileeh materials with or furnish them to the
SEC. You can also read and copy any materialsleefth the SEC at the SEC's Public Reference Rabh®0 F Street, NE, Washington, DC
20549. You can obtain additional information abitngt operation of the Public Reference Room byrogllhe SEC at 1.800.SEC.0330. In
addition, the SEC maintains a website (www.sec.gloa) contains reports, proxy and information stegets, and other information regarding
issuers that file electronically with the SEC, indihg 8x8.

Industry Background

We employ cloud-based technology, known as Voia énternet Protocol ("VolP"), to deliver our seres. VolP technology enables
communications over the Internet through the cosgiom of voice, video and/or other media into getekets that can be efficiently
transmitted over data networks and then converaelt mto the original media at the other end. Degtlvorks, such as the Internet or local are
networks, or LANs, have always utilized packet-sivéd technology to transmit information between e@mmunicating terminals (for
example, a PC downloading a page from a web sesvene computer sending an e-mail message to @anotmputer). IP is the most
commonly used protocol for communicating on thesekpt switched networks. VolP allows for the traission of voice, video and data over
these same packet-switched networks, providingtamative to traditional telephone networks whirde a fixed electrical path to carry voice
signals through a series of switches to a destinati

As a result of the potential cost savings and addatlires of VolP, many consumers, enterpriseditivaal telecommunication service
providers and cable television providers view Valthe future of telecommunications. VolP has dgpeed significant growth in recent ye
due to:

e Demand for lower cost telephone service;

e Improved quality and reliability of VolP calls dte technological advances, increased network deweémt and greater bandwidth
capacity;

e New product innovations that allow VolP providessoffer services not currently offered by traditibtelephone companies; and

e Increased awareness of the capabilities and bemdftioud-based Software as a Service ("SaaSf)natives to traditional premises-
based systems

The traditional telephone networks maintained byyracal and long distance telephone companiesykres the public-switched telephone
networks, or PSTN, were designed solely to camyidelity audio signals with a high level of relidity. Although these traditional telephone
networks are very reliable for voice communicatioms believe these networks are not well-suitesktwice the explosive growth of digital
communication applications for the following reason

e They are expensive to build because each subsertbphone must be individually connected tocénral office switch, which is
usually several miles away from a typical subsctibecation;

e They transmit data at very low rates and resolstiomaking them poorly suited for delivering higtdiity audio, entertainment-quality
video or other rich multimedia content;

e They use dedicated circuits for each telephonewdalth allot fixed bandwidth throughout the duratiof each call, whether or not vo
is actually being transmitted, which is an inefiti use of the investment in the network; and

e They may experience difficulty in providing newdifferentiated services or functions, such as vide@mmunications, that the network
was not originally designed to accommodate.

Until recently, traditional telephone companieséavoided the use of packetitched networks for transmitting voice calls doghe potentic
for poor sound quality attributable to latency ssiidelays) and lost packets which can preventtiraal transmission. Recent improvements in
packet-switching technology, compression and braadtaccess technologies, as well as improved haedaveal provisioning techniques, have
significantly improved the quality and usability péicket-switched voice calls.
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Historically, packet-switched networks were buiktinly for carrying non real-time data, althoughytlaee now fully capable of transmitting
real time data. The advantages of such networkthaneefficiency, flexibility and scalability. Batwidth is only consumed when needed.
Networks can be built in a variety of configuraao suit the number of users, client/server apptia requirements and desired availability
bandwidth, and many terminals can share the sammection to the network. As a result, significantigre traffic can be transmitted over a
packet-switched network, such as a home netwotkeomternet, than a circuit-switched telephonywvwek. Packet-switching technology
allows service providers to converge their tradisily separate voice and data networks and moigegffly utilize their networks by carrying
voice, video, facsimile and data traffic over theng network. The improved efficiency of packet shiitg technology creates network cost
savings that can be passed on to the consumee fioiim of lower telephony rates.

The growth of the Internet in recent years has gnahe scalability of these underlying packet-smeétt networks. As broadband connectivity,
including fiber lines, cable modem and digital sarifzer line ("DSL"), has become more available &s$ expensive, it is now possible for
service providers like 8x8 to offer SaaS appliagatisuch as voice and video that run over theset®anks to businesses and residential
consumers. Providing such services has the pokéntimth substantially lower the cost of telephseevice and equipment to these customers
and increase the breadth of features availableitsubscribers. Services like full-motion, two-wagteo are now supported by the bandwidth
spectrum commonly available to broadband customers.

The growing adoption of VolIP in the business comityus part of a broader technological migratiomnaccurring from traditional on-
premise information technology ("IT") systems tow-based alternatives accessible from any locatietwork or device. This dramatic shift
is enabling businesses to transition deploymentaaidagement of their IT infrastructure from a capétxpenditure model to an operating
expense approach, freeing valuable internal ressustile gaining increased flexibility, capabil@iend performance. According to a Frost &
Sullivan March 2012 report, the inflection point fiosted/cloud communications has arrived as baseshave become more focused on i
such as cost management, accommodating disperdedatiile workforces and the need to re-assign aidtrétive IT staff to more strategic
tasks.

Our Strategy

Our objective is to provide reliable, scalable, gnofitable worldwide Internet-based communicatisasvices with unmatched quality by
leveraging our patented software technologies liwatannovative, competitively priced offerings.a\htend to bring the best possible voice,
video, unified communications, managed hosting@dadd-based computing services at an affordabtead businesses and enhance the way
in which these customers communicate with eachr @the the world. We intend to continue to focus marketing primarily towards our
business customer services.

Specific strategies to accomplish this objectiva@tde:

e Build anindirect sales channel. Our direct sales force generated more than 93%io$ales in fiscal 2013. In fiscal 2014, we inténd
continue to build an indirect sales channel to egjpdistribution of our products and services. Wen to leverage our commercial
relationships with our equipment vendors and thegarnce of our sales team to market our servinesddition, we intend to engage
with other indirect sales channels to market ouwvises.

e Capitalize on our technological expertise to introduce new products and features. Over the past 10 years, we have developed or amhjuir
several core technologies that form the backbormiofideo and VolP service which we intend to iesdevelop product enhanceme
and future products. We developed the core softasseciated with the Virtual Office product lineliding the call control engine,
protocol stacks and network address translatiod\{™Nl traversal firmware for the customer premiseipgent. As a result, we are able
to update the software functionality of our sersigdthout third party assistance and limit the rdisition of our unique customer
premise equipment features such as NAT traversalgtomer premise equipment that is sold in corjanavith our services. We were
the first VoIP service provider to ship two-way @@enabled hardware, and our 8x8 Virtual Officevisess are among the most feature-
rich hosted VolP business services in the industry.

o Offer the best possible service and support to our customers with a world class customer support organization. We have an established
call center and customer support group at our heatleys in San Jose, California and an outsourakdenter operation located in
Santa Maria, California. We also have investedgnificant upgrades to our existing back officerégtructure to enhance the support
we can provide to new and existing subscribersyedkas our distribution partners. Our strengthdude customer service from
technically sophisticated customer service agemtgiging support from onshore facilities locateddalifornia.
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Our Services

Our services work over virtually any high-speecdinet connection worldwide to allow calls to omfrany phone in the world, whether that
phone is an IP phone, a mobile phone or a PSTNet@x8's service utilizes IP customer premise agaift to enable plug and play
installation and a familiar dial tone user intedflaghe 8x8 service also uses web-based technoltmg@sable unified communications services
such as web conferencing and Internet fax as wedcaount setup, account management, billing astbmer support. We have developed
proprietary implementations of standafussed technologies underlying our 8x8 service, whiorks with third party carriers to terminate V
calls on the PSTN network.

8x8 Virtual Office Business Telephone Service

Our 8x8 Virtual Office business telephone servieswaunched in March 2004 and is targeted at tfadl simd medium-sized business market.
8x8 Virtual Office is an affordable, easy-to-usteaiative to traditional PBX systems or Centressslgervices from legacy telecommunication:
providers that offers features and services nejtheride. 8x8 Virtual Office allows users with gjhispeed Internet connection anywhere in
world to be part of a virtual PBX that includes@utted attendants to assist callers, conferendgédsj extension-to-extension dialing and ring
groups, in addition to a rich variety of other Imesis class PBX features normally found on dedida®4d equipment. 8x8 Virtual Office
extensions do not require a dedicated communicatitfrastructure. The service is received througlffice's existing Internet connection,
thus eliminating the need for additional phonedioe digital subscriber lines for extensions, intcast to traditional Centrex or PBX products.
The service is provided by 8x8 software that rumg@mputing platforms located in our data centers.

8x8 Virtual Office subscribers have the abilitycttoose any phone number available to 8x8 subssrilbgardless of a user's geographic
location. Subscribers also can port existing tebeghnumbers, including toll-free numbers, from otervice providers at no additional cost.
Each extension in the virtual PBX can be locatedhdrere in the world that is serviced by a high-shi¢ernet connection. 8x8 Virtual Office
extension-to-extension calls and transfers areraptished over the Internet, anywhere in the wdrkek of extra charges from third party
telecommunications carriers. 8x8 Virtual OfficeerH the following essential services for small arelium-sized businesses:

Auto-attendant providing dial by extension, namgm@up;
Unlimited calling to the US, Canada, 20 additioo@lintries and other 8x8 subscribers, as well asritevnational rates;
Unlimited 8x8 extension-to-extension dialing anywéhi the world;
Direct Inward Dial ("DID") phone number with anysieed area code for each extension;
Conference bridge, 3-way calling, music on holdl, gark/pick-up, call transfer, hunt groups, andrax disturb;
Business-class voice mail including email alertd dimect transfer to mailbox;
Call waiting / Caller-ID;
Distinctive tone ringing; and
Optional receptionist console application offering:
o Multiple call viewing and handling;
o Direct transfer to extension's voicemail;
o Supervised transfers; and
o View of extension status.

8x8 Virtual Contact Center

The 8x8 Virtual Contact Center service, introdugeduly 2007 and delivered utilizing the softwagettnology acquired from Contactual, Inc.
("Contactual), is a fully integrated hosted cahter solution that works with any broadband Irtéconnection and provides enterprise class
contact center functionality combined with Virtuffice calling features. The 8x8 Virtual Contactiar allows companies to quickly deploy
and operate multi-channel contact centers withBis8¥irtual Office infrastructure without the tinaed expense of purchasing, installing and
maintaining costly, specialized equipment. Delizeeatirely as a hosted service, the 8x8 Virtualt@anCenter requires no specialized
hardware or software, no telecom equipment andpafsant capital expenditures, making it an ideduson for blending in-house, offsite or
multi-site call center agents. Agents require najhinore than a web browser and a suitable voiceedvat can be provided by 8x8 or a third
party service provider.




The 8x8 Virtual Contact Center service offers feasusuch as skills-based routing, multi-media manmamt, real time monitoring and
reporting, voice recording and logging, historiggorting, Interactive Voice Response, CRM inteégratvith Salesforce.com and NetSuite,
contact and case management tools.

8x8 |P Telephones

In the second half of fiscal 2011, we began selfofycom IP phones and Polycom IP speakerphon&sPdlycom IP phones deliver enhan
equipment and service features including high dté&im HD audio, corporate directory display andKap, intercom paging, shared line
appearance and Power over Ethernet capabilitystalf2012, we also began selling Cisco IP Phones.

In the second quarter of fiscal 2009, we launcheddix8 675xi series of IP phones that incorpor8te8is advanced NAT traversal technolo¢
to facilitate the network-independent operatiorthlantages of the 8x8 service. These advantagesiimthe ability to simply plug the phone
into any public or private Internet connection amdnediately make or receive calls without perforgnany network or firewall configuration
changes.

8x8 Virtual Office Pro Unified Communications

Introduced in January 2010, 8x8 Virtual Office Fy@ powerful unified communications service tHaivas subscribers to manage essential,
advanced business communications functions ortirmugh a centralized web-based portal via a P@opgpablet or smartphone. Integrated
with the 8x8 Virtual Office phone service, Virtuaffice Pro enhances business productivity by progdisers with a complete, instantly
accessible suite of communication tools used imy@lay business interactions. In October 2010, wgabeselling the Virtual Office Pro service
on a standalone basis so that a business custooudd no longer be required to buy a physical IBghbne from us in order to access our
Virtual Office services.

8x8 Virtual Office Pro delivers these tools throuyheasy-to-use online dashboard which provides:

e A visual overview and online control of 8x8 Virtuaffice business calling activity including pointéclick access to inbound and
outbound calls and call management features suchlksansfer, do not disturb ("DND") and call fearding;

e Microsoft Outlook Contacts and Corporate Directimtggration;

e Virtual Meeting - allows subscribers to createnjand invite participants to web, audio and videxetings;

e Virtual Office Mobile extension - to place and reeeVolP calls and access common Virtual Officevgas and functions from an
iPhone/iPod Touch/iPad/Android mobile handset;

e Fax - enables users to send and receive unlimibessfusing either a separate phone number forrftdbessame number as your 8x8
extension;

e Call recording - enables any inbound or outbourktede recorded and later reviewed, downloadedebeted;

e Presence management - tells other co-workers whattiger is logged in, logged off, on the phongtted phone or currently
unavailable; and

e My Inbox overview - gives a comprehensive view bfaicemails, recordings, FAX messages, calls, emat history.

8x8 Cloud-Based Computing Solutions

In May 2010, we introduced 8x8 managed hostingcoald-based computing solutions that enable busioestomers to reduce costs and gail
performance and reliability advantages by elimmgin-house ownership of server equipment andcastirmation technology systems
management staff.

Sales, Marketing and Promotional Activities

We currently sell and market our 8x8 services t @sers through our direct sales force, websité thind party resellers. Our inside sales fi
primarily handles inbound telephone calls and wellsads which are generated from third party tgamkration sources and direct web
advertising such as Google, or traditional adviegi€hannels such as in-flight magazines and kalitds. Our sales departments consisted of
100 employees at the end of fiscal 2013. Saleeseptatives are paid a base salary and monthly &miom for selling our products and
services. The commission is based on new sales batlee sales representative.
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Competition

We face strong competition from incumbent telephoompanies, cable companies and alternative vaoidesaleo communication providers.
Because most of our target customers are alreagyp@sing communications services from one or mbthase providers, our success is
dependent upon our ability to attract these custeraeay from their existing providers. This willtpatially become more difficult as the early
adopter market for VolP services becomes satueatddnainstream customers make up more of our targetet. We believe that the princi
competitive factors affecting our ability to attrand retain customers are price, call qualityiakelity, customer service, and enhanced sen
and features. For more information regarding thksrassociated with such strong competition, plesfee to Item 1A, Risk Factors, included
under the headinglhtense competition in the markets in which we comgte could prevent us from increasing or sustainingur revenue
and increasing or maintaining profitability."

Incumbent telephone companie

The incumbent telephone companies are our prin@mpetitors and have historically dominated thejigaal markets. These competitors
include AT&T, CenturyLink and Verizon Communicat®as well as rural incumbents, such as Windstré&dese competitors are substanti
larger and better capitalized than we are and ttevadvantage of a large existing customer basklaager marketing budgets than we have.
Moreover, they also provide some of the broadba&ndees that are required to use our service, wisiehsignificant competitive advantage.

Vendors of private branch exchange ("PBX") systerard alternative voice communications providers

Competitors for the 8x8 business service includditional PBX and key system manufacturers and tieskllers, including Cisco Systems,
Inc., Avaya Holdings Corp., Mitel Networks Corpacat, Shoretel, Inc. and Toshiba, Centrex servidised by incumbent telephone
companies, and VolP services offered by XO Comnaiigns, Cbeyond, Inc. and other companies.

Operations

We have a centrally managed platform consistindgadd management, monitoring, control and billingtegns that support all of our products
and services. We have invested substantial resetwagevelop and implement our real-time call managnt information system. Key
elements of this system include a prospective cost@uotation portal, customer provisioning, custoaccess, fraud control, network
security, call routing, call monitoring, media pessing and normalization, call reliability, andaiketd call record storage and billing. Our
platform monitors our process of digitizing and gessing voice and video into packets and tranisigithese packets over data networks
around the world. We maintain a call switching faan in software that manages call admission, aatitrol, call rating and routes calls to an
appropriate destination or customer premise equipnuinless the recipient is using an Internet tedgyy device, the outgoing packets
(representing a voice and/or video call initiatgdaln 8x8 subscriber) are sent to one of our patBlecommunications carriers, where the c:
transferred to the PSTN and directed to a regalaphone anywhere in the world. Our billing andibaffice systems manage and enroll
customers and bill calls as they originate and iteate on the service.

Network Operations Center

We maintain a network operations center at our gaders in San Jose, California and employ a efadpproximately 50 individuals with
experience in voice and data operations to proRidour operations support, 7 days per week. Wevaiseus tools to monitor and manage all
elements of our network and our partners' netwirksal-time. We also monitor the network elemeaitsome of our larger business
customers. Additionally, our network operationsteeprovides technical support to troubleshoot ppgint and network problems. We also
rely upon the network operations centers and ressusf our telecommunications carrier partnersiggraent our monitoring and response
efforts.

Customer and Technical Support

We maintain a call center at our headquarters mJ®ae, California and have a staff of more thahefiployees and contractors that provide
customer service and technical support to custarheeidition, we have outsourced some customgratipctivities to third parties.
Customers who access our services directly throughveb site receive customer service and techeiggbort through multilingual telephone
communication, web-based and "chat" sessions, andilesupport.




Interconnection Agreements

We are a party to telecommunications interconnedtsaervice agreements with VolP providers and P&I&tommunications carriers, such as
Level(3) Communications, Verizon Communications antdliquent. Pursuant to these agreements, VdIP @dginating on our network can
be terminated on other VolP networks or the PSTdir&spondingly, calls originating on other VolPwetks and the PSTN can be terminatec
on our network. While we believe that relationshathiese providers and carriers are good, we haessurance that these partners will be abl
or willing to supply services to us in the future.

Research and Development

The VolP market is characterized by rapid technicldghanges and advancements. Accordingly, we rmakstantial investments in the
design and development of new products and sepasasell as the development of enhancements atarés to our existing 8x8 products
services. Future development also will focus onue and interoperability of our products and sewiwith emerging audio and video
telephony standards and protocols, quality andp@dnce enhancements to multimedia compressiomithgs, support of new customer
premise equipment, new unified services and thamegment of existing products and services thag¢ssential to our success.

We currently employ approximately 50 individualg@search, development and engineering activitiesir facilities in San Jose, California
well as outsourced software development consult&@search and development expenses in each fié¢theyears ended March 31, 2013,
2012 and 2011 were $8.1 million, $6.7 million ard8million, respectively.

Regulatory

Although several regulatory proceedings are undgmvare being contemplated by federal and statoaities, including the Federal
Communications Commission ("FCC") and state regmjaagencies, VolP communication services, likespbave been subject to less
regulation at the state and federal levels thatitiomal telecommunications services. Providergaditional telecommunications services are
subject to the highest degree of regulation, whitsviders of information services are largely exefmpm most federal and state regulations
governing traditional common carriers. The FCC swtgected VolP service providers to a smaller sudseegulations that apply to traditional
telecommunications service providers and have ebthassified VoIP services as either telecommuduiwina or information. The FCC is
currently examining the status of VolP service jilevs and the services they provide in multipleropeceedings.

The effect of any future laws, regulations and osdm our operations, including, but not limitedttte 8x8 service, cannot be determined. Buf
as a general matter, increased regulation andrtpesition of additional funding obligations increasservice costs that may or may not be
recoverable from our customers, which could resuthaking our services less competitive with triadial telecommunications services if we
increase our retail prices or decreasing our proéitgins if we attempt to absorb such costs.

Regulation of the Internet

In addition to regulations addressing Internetgltmy and broadband services, other regulatorgsseelating to the Internet, in general, could
affect our ability to provide our services. Congrbas adopted legislation that regulates certgiads of the Internet including online content,
user privacy, taxation, liability for third partgtivities and jurisdiction. In addition, a numbdrimitiatives pending in Congress and state
legislatures would prohibit or restrict advertisimgsale of certain products and services on ttexret, which may have the effect of raising
cost of doing business on the Internet generally.

Federal, state, local and foreign governmentalriegdions are considering other legislative andila&gry proposals that would regulate anc
tax applications running over the Internet. We cdmmedict whether new taxes will be imposed onsaivices, and depending on the type of
taxes imposed, whether and how our services woallaffected thereafter. Increased regulation ofritkernet may decrease its growth and
hinder technological development, which may negdyivmpact the cost of doing business via the heeor otherwise materially adversely
affect our business, financial condition and resaftoperations. Please refer to Part I, Iltem Bisk Factors" for a discussion of regulatory
risks, proceedings and issues that could adveadfdgt our business and operating results in thedu
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Intellectual Property and Proprietary Rights

Our ability to compete depends, in part, on oulitglib obtain and enforce intellectual propertptaction for our technology in the United
States and internationally. We currently rely priliyeon a combination of trade secrets, patentpydghts, trademarks and licenses to protect
our intellectually property. As of March 31, 201®& have been awarded 86 United States patentsdaiittbaal United States and foreign
patent applications are pending. Our patents expirgates ranging from 2013 to 2031. We cannotigradhether our pending patent
applications will result in issued patents.

To protect our trade secrets and other proprigtdoymation, we require our employees to sign agres providing for the maintenance of
confidentiality and also the assignment of rigbtenventions made by them while in our employ. Ehesin be no assurance that our means of
protecting our proprietary rights in the Unitedt8$aor abroad will be adequate or that competitidhnot independently develop technologies
that are similar or superior to our technology, lthate our technology or design around any of aiepts. In addition, the laws of foreign
countries in which our products are or may be slolehot protect our intellectual property rightdtie same extent as do the laws of the Unitec
States. Our failure to protect our proprietary infation could cause our business and operatindtsasusuffer.

We are also subject to the risks of adverse clainaslitigation alleging infringement of the intaltaal property rights of others. Such claims
and litigation could require us to expend substhmnéisources and distract key employees from tiaimal duties, which could have a material
adverse effect on our operating results, cash flawgsfinancial condition. The communications anfiveare industries are subject to frequent
litigation regarding patent and other intellectpedperty rights. Moreover, the VoIP service providemmunity has historically been a targe
patent holders. There is a risk that we will barget of assertions of patent rights and that we Inearequired to expend significant resource
investigate and defend against such assertionatehprights. For information about specific claiplease refer to Part I, ltem 1Risk Factor

- "Our infringement of a third party's proprietaechnology could disrupt our business" and Pdtéin 3. "LEGAL PROCEEDINGS."

We rely upon certain technology, including hardwamnd software, licensed from third parties. Thésenkes are on standard commercial term
made generally available by the companies provittiedicenses. To date, the cost and terms of timseses individually has not been
material to our business. There can be no assuthatée technology licensed by us will continagtovide competitive features and
functionality or that licenses for technology cuntfg utilized by us or other technology which weynsgek to license in the future will be
available to us on commercially reasonable ternet atl, however. The loss of, or inability to miaiim, existing licenses could result in
shipment delays or reductions until equivalent tetbgy or suitable alternative products could beetlaped, identified, licensed and integra
and could harm our business.

Geographic Areas

Most of our customers and substantially all of muenues are in the U.S. Revenue from customesideuhe United States was not material
for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2013, 2012201d..

Employees

As of March 31, 2013, our workforce consisted of #nployees. None of our employees are represéytediabor union or are subject t
collective bargaining arrangement.

Executive Officers of the Registrant
Our executive officers as of the date of this repoe listed below.

Bryan R. Martin, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. Bryan R. Martin, age 45, has served as ChairmaheoBoard of Directors since
December 2003 and as Chief Executive Officer aral digector since February 2002. From March 200Mdeember 2008, and again from
April 2011 to December 2011, he has served asd@eisiFrom February 2001 to February 2002, he deaseour President and Chief
Operating Officer. He served as our Senior Vicesiélent, Engineering Operations from July 2000 tbrEary 2001 and as Chief Technical
Officer from August 1995 to August 2000. He alsoved as a director of the Company from January 1888.igh July 1999. In addition, Mr.
Martin served in various technical roles for ther@any from April 1990 to August 1995. He receivel8.&. and an M.S. in Electrical
Engineering from Stanford University.




Dan Weirich, Chief Financial Officer. Dan Weirich, age 39, has served as our Chief Finh@Xficer since July 2006. From November 2008
to March 2011, Mr. Weirich also served as our Rieysi. From June 2006 to July 2006, Mr. Weirich edras our Acting Chief Financial
Officer. He was our Vice President of OperatiomsrfrApril 2006 to June 2006 and Director of Strategmles from March 2004 to April 2006.
Prior to joining us, Mr. Weirich served in variotmes for iAsiaWorks, Qwest Communications and Pipodletwork. He received a B.S. in
International Business from the University of Caldo at Boulder.

Kim Niederman, President.Kim Niederman, age 61, has served as our Pressilece January 2012. From February 2011 to Dece(it,
Mr. Niederman served as our Senior Vice PresideBates. From February to November 2010, Mr. Nieder was Senior Vice President of
NComputing, Inc. and from January 2007 to Janu@g92Mr. Niederman was Chief Executive Officer &rdsident of Anagran, Inc. Frc
January 2003 to January 2007, Mr. Niederman wag6¥ite President of Worldwide Sales for Polycdngt. He received a B.A. from the
University of Denver.

Debbie Jo Severin, Chief Marketing Officer and VicePresident of Marketing. Debbie Jo Severin, age 53, has served as our Maidfeting
Officer and Vice President of Marketing since Mag€i09. From 2003 to March 2009, Ms. Severin seagWice President of Marketing for
Covad Communications. Prior to Covad Communicatitds Severin worked at PrimeOne Tele-TV, Northp&ommunications, Valiant
Networks, BellSouth Telecommunications and Pa@#gd. She received a Masters Degree in Mathematicsa Bachelor of Science from |
University of Alabama, Birmingham.

Huw Rees, Vice President of Business Developmehiuw Rees, age 52, has served as Vice Presidenigifi@s Development since
November 2008. From January 2001 to November 2008Rees served as our Vice President, Sales amkietiag. He served as tl
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Compamyholly owned subsidiary, Centile, Inc., fromyJ@D01 until September 2003.
Additionally, he served as Vice President, SalesBunsiness Development of Centile from March 2@0July 2001. He served as Vice
President, Sales of the Solutions Group of the Gomgrom August 2000 until February 2001 and ag&or, North American Sales of the
Company from April 1999 to August 2000. He previgusorked at Mitel Corporation as Sales ManagethefWestern Region and also in
sales management roles at GEC Plessey Inc. andMa&tC. He received a B.Sc. (Hons) from the Ursitgrof Manchester, Institute of
Science and Technology in Electrical and Electr&rigineering and a M.B.A. from the University ofMexrne.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
If any of the following risks actually occur, oundiness, results of operations and financial cawditould suffer significantly.

Intense competition in the markets in which we comgte could prevent us from increasing or sustainingur revenue and increasing or
maintaining profitability.

The telecommunications industry is highly compegitiWe face intense competition from traditionééphone companies, wireless companies
cable companies, competitive local exchange carradternative voice communication providers artkpendent VolP providers. In addition,
our customers are not subject to long-term conted@ommitments to purchase our services and canirtate our service and switch to
competitors' offerings on short notice.

Most of our current and potential competitors, ipatarly incumbent telephone and cable companiage honger operating histories,
significantly greater resources and name recogniiod a larger base of customers than we hava.r@sult, these competitors may have
greater credibility with our existing and potentialstomers. They also may be able to adopt monesgige pricing policies and devote greatel
resources to the development, promotion and saleeaf products than we can to ours. Our compaetiteay also offer bundled service
arrangements offering a more complete product teefipé technical merits or advantages of our prisd@ompetition could decrease our
prices, reduce our sales, lower our gross profitkegrease our market share.

We also compete against established alternativeevammmunication providers and face competitiomfagher large, well-capitalized Internet
companies that have recently launched or planuadia VVolP-enabled services. In addition, we compétie independent VolP service
providers. Some of these service providers may shoo sacrifice revenue in order to gain marketeshg offering their services at lower
prices or for free. In order to compete with suetvige providers, we may have to significantly reglour prices, which would affect our
profitability.




We also are subject to the risk that new technekbgiay be developed that are able to deliver cangpevice services at lower prices, bette
more conveniently. Future competition from new teslbgies could have a material adverse effect orgoawth and operating results.

Given the significant price competition in the mekfor our products, we are at a significant disathge compared to many of our
competitors, especially those with substantiallyager resources, and therefore may be better@bléhstand an extended period of downw
pricing pressure. The adverse impact of a shoitfalur revenues may be magnified by our inabtlityadjust spending to compensate for such
shortfall. Announcements of new products and teldgies by our competitors or us could cause custstiwedefer purchases of our existing
products, which also could have a material adveffeet on our business, financial condition or @pieg results.

The success of our Company is dependent on the gritwand public acceptance of our services.

Our future success depends on our ability to sicanitly increase revenues generated from our svia turn, the success of our voice and
video communications services depends, among tihregs, upon future demand for VolP telephony ayistand services. Because the use of
our service requires that the user be a subsaritan existing broadband Internet service, usyaibywided through a cable or digital subscriber
line, or DSL, connection, slow or limited adoptiohbroadband Internet service could adversely affex growth of our subscriber base and
revenues. Although the number of broadband sulesriborldwide has grown significantly over the Itat years, VoIP service has not yet
been adopted by a majority of prospective businastomers. According to a report filed by the F@Qanuary 2013, as of December 31,
2011, approximately 9.5% of access lines to buse®s the United States utilize interconnected®&#rvices. To increase the deployment o
broadband Internet services from broadband Inteyamftice providers, telephone companies and caloiganies must continue to invest in the
deployment of high speed broadband networks taleasial and business customers, over which we hawsntrol. In addition, VolP networ
must improve quality of service for real-time comizations, managing effects such as packet jipi@eket loss, and unreliable bandwidth, so
that toll-quality service can be consistently provided. VidRphony equipment and services must achieve itasilevel of reliability that usel

of the PSTN have come to expect from their teleghsmrvice, and the cost and feature benefits oPVialist be sufficient to cause customel
switch away from traditional telephony service pdavs. We must devote substantial resources toageletistomers and end users about the
benefits of VolP telephony solutions, in general] aur services in particular. Substantial, ongairigraction with our customers in order to
train and assist them with the deployment and @iseioservices over these networks is sometimesimed; If any or all of these factors fail to
occur, our business may be affected adversely.

The impact of the current economic climate and advse credit markets may impact customer demand forwr products and services.

Many of our existing and target customers are énstmall and medium business sector. Although wievebur products and services are less
costly than traditional telephone services, thassrnesses may be more likely to be significantfgeed by economic downturns than larger,
more established businesses. They also may belikelseto require working capital financing fromdal and regional banks whose lending
activities have been reduced substantially sin@828s a result of which the existing and targstamers may lack the funds necessary to ad
new equipment and services such as ours. Additigribkse customers often have limited discretipriands which they may choose to spend
on items other than our products and servicesn#lisand medium businesses continue to experiecmaoenic hardship, this could negatively
affect the overall demand for our products andisesy delay and lengthen sales cycles and leddwe@sgrowth or even a decline in our
revenue, net income and cash flows.

Although the majority of our billing arrangementghwcustomers are prepaid, we regularly monitorgéreentage of customers who cease to
pay for our services due to closing or downsizimgjrtbusiness. In general, our customers may textaitneir subscriptions for our services on
30 days notice. Even though our customer churrs iatproved in fiscal 2013, we believe that morentB@% of our total customer churn is
related to customers' financial condition and caieocertain that we will continue to experience $me improvement in churn rates given
current economic conditions. Additionally, the cangtion of our sales cycle coupled with challeng@g@gnomic conditions could have a
negative impact on the results of our operations.
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We have a history of losses and are uncertain of ofuture profitability.

We recorded operating income of approximately $23l6on for the fiscal year ended March 31, 201 @&nded the period with an
accumulated deficit of $109 million. We recorde@miing income of approximately $7.2 million andZs6illion for the fiscal years ended
March 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Althoughhaee achieved operating income in each of our fieast recent fiscal years, we suffered
operating losses in each of the three prior figeaks and may incur operating losses in the foedseduture, which may be substantial. As we
expand our geographic reach and service offergngs further invest in R&D, we will need to increasgenues in order to generate sustainab
operating profit. Given our history of fluctuatingvenues and operating losses, we cannot be cértdiwe will be able to maintain operating
profitability on an annual basis or on a quart&dgis in the future.

Our business depends on continued, unimpeded accésgshe Internet by us and our users, but Internetaccess providers and Internet
backbone providers may be able to block, degrade aharge for access to or bandwidth use of certairf our products and services,
which could lead to additional expenses and the le®f users.

Our products and services depend on the abiliuofusers to access the Internet, and certainrgbragucts require significant bandwidth to
work effectively. Currently, this access is prowddey companies that have significant and increasiagket power in the broadband and
Internet access marketplace, including incumbdepb®mne companies, cable companies and mobile comnations companies. Some of these
providers offer products and services that directisnpete with our own offerings, which give themignificant competitive advantage. Some
of these providers have stated that they may tadasores that could degrade, disrupt or increaseosteof user access to certain of our
products by restricting or prohibiting the usefwdit infrastructure to support or facilitate oufesings, or by charging increased fees to us or
our users to provide our offerings, while othengluding some of the largest providers of broadhatefnet access services, have committt
not engaging in such behavior.

On December 23, 2010, the FCC adopted an ordeintipaises "network neutrality” obligations on praigl of fixed and wireless broadband
Internet access services, with wireless provideb§est to a more limited set of rules. Among otténgs, the rules: (1) require providers of
consumer broadband Internet access to publiclyadisaheir network management practices and thferpeaince and commercial terms of tt
broadband Internet access services; (2) preveatlbemd Internet access providers from blockinguhadntent, applications, services, or non-
harmful devices, subject to reasonable network igament; and (3) prevent broadband Internet aceestdprs from unreasonably
discriminating in the transmission of lawful netkdraffic over a consumer's broadband Internet ssservice. The FCC rules became
effective on November 20, 2011. Numerous partie® lzgppealed these rules which have been consalibefere the U.S. Court of Appeals
the District of Columbia. We cannot predict theammhe of these appeals or the impact of these anlemir business at this time. Although we
believe interference with access to our productssamvices is unlikely, broadband Internet accessiger interference has occurred, in limited
circumstances in the U.S., and could result insa taf existing users and increased costs, and coplar our ability to attract new users,
thereby negatively impacting our revenue and growth

The VolIP telephony market is subject to rapid techological change, and we depend on new product andrgice introductions in order
to maintain and grow our business.

VolIP telephony is an emerging market that is cheraed by rapid changes in customer requiremémtguent introductions of new and
enhanced products, and continuing and rapid teolieal advancement. To compete successfully indimisrging market, we must continue to
design, develop, manufacture, and sell new andreltaV/olP telephony software products and sentltasprovide increasingly higher levels
of performance and reliability at lower cost.

Decreasing telecommunications rates and increasimggulatory charges may diminish or eliminate our conpetitive pricing advantage.

Decreasing telecommunications rates may diminisiliominate the competitive pricing advantage of senvices, while increased regulation
and the imposition of additional regulatory fundisigligations at the federal, state and local leeelld require us to either increase the retail
price for our services, thus making us less cortipetior absorb such costs, thus decreasing ofit prargins. International and domestic
telecommunications rates have decreased signifjcaner the last few years in most of the markete/hich we operate, and we anticipate
these rates will continue to decline in all of tharkets in which we do business or expect to dinbss. Users who select our services to take
advantage of the current pricing differential betwéeraditional telecommunications rates and owsratay switch to traditional
telecommunications carriers if such pricing diffgials diminish or disappear, however, and we béllunable to use such pricing differentials
to
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attract new customers in the future. Continued dat¥eases would require us to lower our ratesrtain competitive and would reduce or
possibly eliminate any gross profit from our seegcln addition, we may lose subscribers for owises.

Reform of federal and state Universal Service Fungrograms could increase the cost of our service twur customers diminishing or
eliminating our pricing advantage.

The FCC and a number of states are consideringmedo other modifications to Universal Service Fymdgrams. The way we calculate our
contribution may change if the FCC or certain st&iegage in reform or adopt other modificationsApnil, 2012, the FCC released a Further
Notice of Proposed Rulemaking to consider reforonthé manner in which companies, like us, contaliatthe federal Universal Service Fu
program. In general, the Further Notice of Propd3elkmaking is considering questions like: what pamies should contribute, how
contributions should be assessed, and methodsptowa the administration of the system. We cannedipt the outcome of this proceeding
nor its impact on our business at this time.

Should the FCC or certain states adopt new corinilbumechanisms or otherwise modify contributiotigdtions that increase our contribution
burden, we will either need to raise the amountureently collect from our customers to cover thlidigation or absorb the costs, which wo
reduce our profit margins. Furthermore, the FCCrhbetl that states can require us to contributgate Universal Service Fund programs. A
number of states already require us to contribmbéle others are actively considering extendingrtheograms to include the services we
provide. We currently pass-through Universal Serand contributions to our customers which mayltés our services becoming less
competitive as compared to those provided by others

We may become subject to state regulation for certia service offerings.

Certain states take the position that offering&biP companies, like us, are intrastate and theeefabject to state regulation. These states
argue that if the beginning and end points of comigations are known, and if some of these commuioics occur entirely within the
boundaries of a state, the state can regulatetfeing. We believe that the FCC has preemptetgstaom regulating VolP offerings like ours
in the same manner as providers of traditionattetenunications services. We cannot predict howisisise will be resolved or its impact on
our business at this time.

We rely on third party network service providers to originate and terminate substantially all of our public switched telephone network
calls.

We leverage the infrastructure of third party netagervice providers to provide telephone numbeg&TN call termination and origination
services, and local number portability for our oasérs rather than deploying our own network thraugithe United States. This decision has
resulted in lower capital and operating costs fartwusiness in the short term but has reduced penating flexibility and ability to make time
service changes. If any of these network serviogigers cease operations or otherwise terminateghgces that we depend on, the delay in
switching our technology to another network serygoavider, if available, and qualifying this newdee could have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition or operatiesuits.

While we believe that relations with our currentvéee providers are good, and we have contragidaioe, there can be no assurance that thes
service providers will be able or willing to suppgst-effective services to us in the future ot tha will be successful in signing up alternative
or additional providers. Although we could replace current providers, if necessary, our abilitptovide service to our subscribers could be
impacted during this timeframe, and this could hanedverse effect on our business, financial ¢mmdor results of operations. The loss of
access to, or requirement to change, the telephomégers we provide to our customers also could havaterial adverse effect on our
business, financial condition or operating results.

Due to our reliance on these service providers wirteblems occur in a network, it may be difficaltidentify the source of the problem. The
occurrence of hardware and software errors, whethiesed by our 8x8 service or another vendor'syatsdmay result in the delay or loss of
market acceptance of our products and any necessasjons may force us to incur significant expenshe occurrence of some of these t
of problems may seriously harm our business, firrdmmondition or operating results.
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Our physical infrastructure is concentrated in a fav facilities and any failure in our physical infragructure or services could lead tc
significant costs and disruptions and could reduceur revenue, harm our business reputation and have material adverse effect on our
financial results.

Our leased network and data centers are subjeetritous points of failure. Problems with coolingugment, generators, uninterruptible po
supply, routers, switches, or other equipment, tredr not within our control, could result in siessinterruptions for our customers as well a:
equipment damage. Because our services do ndteegpographic proximity of our data centers to customers, our infrastructure is
consolidated into a few large facilities. Any faiuor downtime in one of our data center facilitesild affect a significant percentage of our
customers. The total destruction or severe impaitroBany of our data center facilities could résulsignificant downtime of our services and
the loss of customer data. Because our abilitytta@ and retain customers depends on our abdifrovide customers with highly reliable
service, even minor interruptions in our servicalddarm our reputation. Additionally, in connectiwith the expansion or consolidation of
our existing data center facilities from time tmé, there is an increased risk that service inptions may occur as a result of server relocatior
or other unforeseen construction-related issues.

We have experienced interruptions in service inpidist. While we have not experienced a materiaéase in customer attrition following the
events, the harm to our reputation is difficulassess. We have taken and continue to take st@pgtove our infrastructure to prevent service
interruptions, including upgrading our electricatlanechanical infrastructure. However, servicerifgions continue to be a significant risk
for us and could materially impact our business.

Any future service interruptions could:

Cause our customers to seek damages for lossasddru

Require us to replace existing equipment or addrrddnt facilities;

Affect our reputation as a reliable provider of ting services;

Cause existing customers to cancel or elect toar@w their contracts; or
Make it more difficult for us to attract new custers.

Any of these events could materially increase oqeases or reduce our revenue, which would havatarial adverse effect on our operating
results.

Increased energy costs, power outages, and limitedailability of electrical resources may adverselwffect our operating results.

Our data centers are susceptible to increased abgtaver and to electrical power outages. Ouraust contracts do not contain provisions
that would allow us to pass on any increased afstsergy to our customers, which could affect @perating margins. Any increases in the
price of our services to recoup these costs cootidha@ implemented until the end of a customer eattierm. Further, power requirements at
our data centers are increasing as a result dhtiheasing power demands of today's servers. Isessi our power costs could impact our
operating results and financial condition. Sincerelg on third parties to provide our data centeith power sufficient to meet our needs, our
data centers could have a limited or inadequateuatraf electrical resources necessary to meetustomer requirements. We attempt to limit
exposure to system downtime due to power outagessiog backup generators and power supplies. Hawthese protections may not limit
our exposure to power shortages or outages entialy system downtime resulting from insufficierdvger resources or power outages could
damage our reputation and lead us to lose currehpatential customers, which would harm our opegatesults and financial condition.

Increased Internet bandwidth costs and network faillres may adversely affect our operating results.

Our success depends in part upon the capacitgbilitly, and performance of our network infrasturet, including the capacity leased from our
Internet bandwidth suppliers. We depend on thesgamies to provide uninterrupted and error-fregiserthrough their telecommunications
networks. Some of these providers are also our etitops. We exercise little control over these [devs, which increases our vulnerability to
problems with the services they provide. We hayeearnced and expect to continue to experiencerugons or delays in network service.
Any failure on our part or the part of our thirdrfyasuppliers to achieve or maintain high datagraission capacity, reliability or performance
could significantly reduce customer demand forsrmvices and damage our business.
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As our customer base grows and their usage ofdelewinications capacity increases, we will be regiuto make additional investments in
capacity to maintain adequate data transmissioadspéhe availability of which may be limited oetbost of which may be on terms
unacceptable to us. If adequate capacity is natadoka to us as our customers' usage increasesietwork may be unable to achieve or
maintain sufficiently high data transmission capaakeliability or performance. In addition, ourdiness would suffer if our network suppliers
increased the prices for their services and we weable to pass along the increased costs to ctoroers.

We depend on contract manufacturers to manufacturesubstantially all of our products and third party vendors for IP phones, and any
delay or interruption in manufacturing by these cortract manufacturers or vendors would result in dela/ed or reduced shipments to ou
customers and may harm our business.

We do not have long-term purchase agreements witleantract manufacturers and we depend on a ctnated group of contract
manufacturers for a substantial portion of manui@ey) our products. There can be no assurancetitatontract manufacturers will be able or
willing to reliably manufacture our products, inlwvmes, on a costffective basis or in a timely manner. If we canominpete effectively for tt
business of these contract manufacturers, or ifoditlye contract manufacturers experience finarariather difficulties in their businesses, our
revenue and our business could be adversely affelctgarticular, if one of our contract manufaetsrbecomes subject to bankruptcy
proceedings, we may not be able to obtain any ppoaducts held by the contract manufacturer.

We also rely on third party vendors for IP phoreestilize our service. We currently do not havegdarm supply contracts with any of these
vendors. As a result, most of these third partydees are not obligated to provide products or sexvto us for any specific period, in any
specific quantities or at any specific price, extxapmay be provided in a particular purchase ol inability of these third party vendors to
deliver IP phones of acceptable quality and inreely manner, particularly the sole source vendwa|d adversely affect our operating results
or cause them to fluctuate more than anticipatetdlittonally, some of our products may require sgkoéd or high-performance component
parts that may not be available in quantities dimre frames that meet our requirements.

Our infringement of a third party's proprietary tec hnology could disrupt our business.

There has been substantial litigation in the comipations, VoIP services, semiconductor, electrgracsl related industries regarding
intellectual property rights and, from time to tintieird parties may claim infringement by us ofithetellectual property rights. Our broad
range of current and former technology, includiRgélephony systems, digital and analog circudfyware, and semiconductors, increases thi
likelihood that third parties may claim infringentday us of their intellectual property rights. Feetample, on May 2, 2008, we received a lette
from AT&T Intellectual Property, L.L.C. ("AT&T IP"expressing the belief that we must license a §pdgbatent for use in our 8x8 broadb:
telephone service, as well as suggesting that waroh license to its portfolio of MPE&patents for use with our video telephone prodant
services. At the same time, we began an evaluafiorhether AT&T IP's affiliated entities may needlicense any of our patents or other
intellectual property. We have continued to engaggiscussions with AT&T IP to explore a mutualigraeable resolution of the parties'
respective assertions regarding these intellegugderty issues. We are unable at this time t@ stéiether we will enter into any license or
cross-license agreements with AT&T IP or whethemtienately anticipate any material effects on operating results or financial condition
as a consequence of these matters.

Certain technology necessary for us to providesewvices may, in fact, be patented by other pagitber now or in the future. If such

technology were held under patent by another pergemwould have to negotiate a license for theaighat certain technology. We may not
able to negotiate such a license at a price thetdeptable. The existence of such a patent, anability to negotiate a license for any such
technology on acceptable terms, could force ugése using such technology and offering produatssarvices incorporating such technolc

We have recently been named as defendants in $@adeat infringement lawsuits. For example:

e On February 22, 2011, we were named a defendankawsuit, Bear Creek Technologies, Inc. v. 8x8, bt al., along with 20 other
defendants.

e On October 25, 2011, we were named a defendanawsauit, Klausner Technologies, Inc. v. Oracle i@wation et al., along with 30
other defendants.
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If we were found to be infringing on the intelleatyproperty rights of any third party in these laits or other claims and proceedings that may
be asserted against us in the future, we couldibest to liabilities for such infringement, whicbuld be material. We could also be required
to refrain from using, manufacturing or sellingte@r products or using certain processes, eithethi¢h could have a material adverse effect
on our business and operating results. From tintieni®, we have received, and may continue to receithe future, notices of claims of
infringement, misappropriation or misuse of othartigs' proprietary rights. There can be no asseréimt we will prevail in these discussions
and actions or that other actions alleging infrmeget by us of third party patents will not be atstor prosecuted against us. Furthermore,
lawsuits like these may require significant time @xpense to defend, may divert management's iattemivay from other aspects of our
operations and, upon resolution, may have a magatiaerse effect on our business, results of ojpersitfinancial condition and cash flows.
More information regarding the two pending suitprisvided below under Part |, Item 3. "LEGAL PROQHEGS."

We license technology from third parties that we daot control and cannot be assured of retaining.

We rely upon certain technology, including hardwamnd software, licensed from third parties. Thene lse no assurance that the technology
licensed by us will continue to provide competitfeatures and functionality or that licenses fahteology currently utilized by us or other
technology which we may seek to license in therfjtwill be available to us on commercially readdaderms or at all. The loss of, or inabi
to maintain, existing licenses could result in sigmt delays or reductions until equivalent techgyplor suitable alternative products could be
developed, identified, licensed and integrated,@ndd harm our business. These licenses are ndathcommercial terms made generally
available by the companies providing the licen3ég cost and terms of these licenses individualtynat material to our business.

Inability to protect our proprietary technology would disrupt our business.

We rely, in part, on trademark, copyright, and éradcret law to protect our intellectual propentyhie United States and abroad. We seek to
protect our software, documentation, and othernt@nimaterials under trade secret and copyrightvevich afford only limited protection. We
also rely, in part, on patent law to protect oueliectual property in the United States and ird&iomally. As of March 31, 2013, we had been
awarded 86 United States patents and have additibriged States and foreign patent applicationdpen We cannot predict whether such
pending patent applications will result in issuademts that effectively protect our intellectuadperty. We may not be able to protect our
proprietary rights in the United States or inteiowadlly (where effective intellectual property peotion may be unavailable or limited), and
competitors may independently develop technolotfiasare similar or superior to our technology, ldigte our technology or design around
any patent of ours. We have, in the past, licemsgl] in the future, expect to continue licensingteahnology to others, many of whom are
located or may be located abroad. There are noas=s that such licensees will protect our teamofrom misappropriation. Moreover,
litigation may be necessary in the future to erdavar intellectual property rights, to determine ¥alidity and scope of the proprietary right
others, or to defend against claims of infringen@aritivalidity. Such litigation could result in sstiantial costs and diversion of management
time and resources and could have a material aeledsct on our business, financial condition, apdrating results. Any settlement or adv
determination in such litigation would also subjestto significant liability.

Our products must comply with industry standards, FCC regulations, state, local, country-specific anéhternational regulations, and
changes may require us to modify existing productand/or services.

In addition to reliability and quality standardsetmarket acceptance of telephony over broadbaneétiiorks is dependent upon the adoption
of industry standards so that products from mudtiplanufacturers are able to communicate with etiwdr.oOur VolIP telephony products rely
heavily on communication standards such as SIP, M@ network standards such as TCP/IP and UDRdmperate with other vendors'
equipment. There is currently a lack of agreemertdray industry leaders about which standard shoelldded for a particular application, and
about the definition of the standards themselvbssg standards, as well as audio and video conqmestandards, continue to evolve. We
must comply with certain rules and regulationshaf FCC regarding electromagnetic radiation andgafandards established by Underwriters
Laboratories, as well as similar regulations aatidards applicable in other countries. Standa®léraquently modified or replaced. As
standards evolve, we may be required to modifyexisting products or develop and support new vassaf our products. We must comply
with certain federal, state and local requiremesggsrding how we interact with our customers, idiolg marketing practices, consumer
protection, privacy, and billing issues, the prawisof 9-1-1 emergency service and the qualityestice we provide to our customers. The
failure of our products and services to complydelays in compliance, with various existing andlewg standards could delay or interrupt
volume production of our VolIP telephony productshject us
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to fines or other imposed penalties, or harm thegpion and adoption rates of our service, anyldth would have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition or operatiesuits.

Our ability to offer services outside the U.S. isubject to different local regulatory environments,which may be unknown, complicated
and uncertain.

Regulatory treatment of VolP telephony outsidellinited States varies from country to country artédrothe laws are unclear. In January
2013, we launched our Virtual Office services im&aa. We currently distribute our products andisesvdirectly to consumers and through
resellers that may be subject to telecommunicatiegslations in their home countries. The failuyaus or our customers and resellers to
comply with these laws and regulations could redugerevenue and profitability. Because of ourtieteship with the resellers, some count
may assert that we are required to register ageeot@munications provider in that country. In sgelse, our failure to do so could subject us t
fines or penalties. In addition, some countriescaresidering subjecting VolP services to the retijutas applied to traditional telephone
companies. Regulatory developments such as these ftave a material adverse effect on the use $ewices in international locations.

As we expand our operations internationally, weeekpo become subject to additional governmentlatigms. Such regulations include, but
are not limited to: licensing obligations, emergeservices obligations, data retention and trarlafg@s and regulations, privacy laws and
regulations, consumer protection, national sectleiys and regulations, law enforcement obligatidingncial reporting, surcharge and other
fees that must be collected and remitted as wadtleer laws and regulations. In some cases, teeast laws may be uncertain or unsettled
complicating our ability to comply and may subjastto fines, penalties or other enforcement actiltris possible that we could be subject to
civil and criminal liabilities that may damage dawrsiness reputation and brand. Moreover, any clsaindaws, regulations or enforcement
policies may expose us to unknown civil and crirhieks that could requires us to modify our offgg$ or expose us to fines, penalties or ¢
enforcement actions, or compel us to require witbrous obligations that we either were not previossbject or did not foresee. We may be
required to exit certain foreign markets shouldhscitanges make the provision of our service unataf, too costly, too risky or for other
reasons that could adversely impact our profitghitr our ability to compete effectively with othgervice providers. Any of these occurrence:
could negatively impact our brand and our busimepatation.

We will also become subject to risks associateti wlitanges in the regulatory structure of the tetenanications services marketplace in
international markets. As in the United Stateswilecontinue to depend on underlying carriersamiinate our traffic to the PSTN in each
country where we offer services. As countries ea@and change intercarrier payment schemes, rearal/enpose new obligations, our costs
to provide service may increase. This could requéreither to reduce our profitability or raise th&il price of our service which may make
our offerings less competitive with other providershe marketplace. We may have to exit markedsre previously thought would be
profitable which could negatively impact our busisgand damage our brand and reputation.

Acquisitions may divert our management's attentionyesult in dilution to our stockholders and consumeesources that are necessary to
sustain our business.

In fiscal 2012, we made two business acquisitiomfiscal 2011, we made one acquisition and onestment in another company and, if
appropriate opportunities present themselves, wemake additional acquisitions or investments deeimto joint ventures or strategic
alliances with other companies. Risks commonly entered in such transactions include:

The difficulty of assimilating the operations anetgonnel of the combined companies;

The risk that we may not be able to integrate titpisied services or technologies with our currentises, products, and technologies;
The potential disruption of our ongoing business;

The diversion of management attention from ourtexgsbusiness;

The inability of management to maximize our finaheind strategic position through the successtaegiration of the acquired
businesses;

Difficulty in maintaining controls, procedures, apdlicies;

The impairment of relationships with employees,@igps, and customers as a result of any integratio

The loss of an acquired base of customers and gmoying revenue;

The assumption of leased facilities, other longateommitments or liabilities that could have a mateadverse impact on our
profitability and cash flow; and
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e The dilution to our existing stockholders from thsuance of additional shares of common stockduwaton of earnings per outstand
share in connection with an acquisition that fealéncrease the value of our company.

As a result of these potential problems and risksjnesses that we may acquire or invest in mapratuce the revenue, earnings, or busines
synergies that we anticipated. In addition, thexe lse no assurance that any potential transaciibhensuccessfully identified and completed
or that, if completed, the acquired business oestment will generate sufficient revenue to offsetassociated costs or other potential har
effects on our business.

Increased taxes on our service will increase our stomers' cost of using our service and/or reduce ogprofit margins (to the extent the
costs are not passed through to our customers) amee may be subject to liabilities for past sales anadditional taxes, surcharges and
fees.

Until 2007, we did not collect or remit state ormiuipal taxes, such as sales, excise, and ad valtaxes, fees or surcharges on the charges t
our customers for our services, except that we histerically complied with the collection of Califhia sales tax and financial contribution:
the 9-1-1 system and the federal Universal Seiviged. We have received inquiries or demands fromaraber of state and municipal taxing
agencies seeking payment of taxes, fees or surehangt are applied to or collected from custornémoviders of traditional public switched
telephone network services. Although we have ctersily maintained that these taxes, fees or sugelsado not apply to our service for a
variety of reasons depending on the statute orthaleestablishes such obligations, a number téstaave changed their statutes as part of
streamlined sales tax initiatives and we are nollecting and remitting sales taxes in those stdths. collection of these taxes, fees or
surcharges will have the effect of decreasing aigemdvantage we may have over other providershawve historically paid these taxes and
fees. Our compliance with these tax initiatived ai$o make us less competitive with those comprstitvho choose not to comply with these
tax initiatives. Currently, three jurisdictions amenducting sales tax audits of our records. Alslafch 31, 2013, there has been no change
status of the assessment. We collect and haveaat@outaxes that we believe are required to betreda While historically, the amounts that
have been remitted have been within establishedialscif our ultimate liability exceeds the accrdount, it could result in significant
charges to our earnings.

Our emergency and E-911 calling services are diffent from those offered by traditional wireline telgphone companies and may expose
us to significant liability. There may be risks assciated with limitations associated with E-911 emegency dialing with the 8x8 service.

Both our emergency calling service and our E-91lingaservice are different, in significant respgdrom the emergency calling services
offered by traditional wireline telephone companieseach case, the differences may cause signtfalays, or even failures, in callers'
receipt of the emergency assistance they need.

We are offering E311 service that is similar to the emergency caliiarvices provided to customers of traditionakliie telephone compan
in the same area. For those customers located EB3%I1 area, emergency calls are routed directhntemergency services dispatcher at the
PSAP in the area of the customer's registereditotathe dispatcher will have automatic accesfi¢ocustomer's telephone number and
registered location information. If a customer meteeir 8x8 service to a new location, the custéregistered location information must be
updated and verified by the customer. Until thiaesaplace, the customer will have to verbally aeltiee emergency dispatcher of his or her
actual location at the time of an emergency 9-&lll This can lead to delays in the delivery of egeacy services.

The emergency calls of customers located in aré&semve are currently unable to provid®EE service as described above are supportec
national call center that is run by a third pantgydder and operates 24 hours per day, seven daysgek. These operators still receive the
customer's registered service location and phomeruautomatically, and coordinate connecting #ikercto the appropriate PSAP or
emergency services provider and providing the ecnstts registered service location and phone nutob#iose local authorities, which can
also delay the delivery of emergency serviceshéndvent that a customer experiences a broadbgrmir@r outage, or if a network failure w
to occur, the customer will not be able to reaclemergency services provider using our services.

The FCC may determine that our nomadic emergentygaolution does not satisfy the requirementg#®VolP E-911 order because, in
some instances, our nomadic emergency callingisaluéquires that we route an emergency call tatenal emergency call center instead of
connecting our customers directly to a local PS#®ugh a dedicated connection and through the appte selective router. The FCC may
issue further guidance on compliance requirementise future that might require us to disconnegséhcustomers not receiving access to
emergency services in a manner consistent witivtie E-911 order. The effect of such disconnectiomsnetary penalties, cease and desist
orders or other enforcement actions
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initiated by the FCC or other agency or task fagainst us could have a material adverse effecuoibusiness, financial condition or
operating results.

Delays our customers may encounter when makinggamey services calls and any inability of the angvgepoint to automatically recognize
the caller's location or telephone number can t@slife threatening consequences. Customers mahge future, attempt to hold us respons
for any loss, damage, personal injury or deathesetf as a result of any failure of ouBEL services. In July 2008, the President signtxiaw
the "New and Emerging Technologies 911 Improverdeniof 2008." The law provides public safety, irdennected VolP providers and otf
involved in handling 911 calls the same liabilitpgections when handling 911 calls from intercorteéd/olP users as from mobile or wired
telephone service users. The applicability of thkility protections to our national call centefwgn is unclear at the present time. Also, we
may be exposed to liability for 911 calls made ptathe adoption of this new law although we amaware of any such liability.

The FCC may require us to deploy an E911 service that automatically determines the loctn of our customers. The adoption of such
requirement could increase our costs that could makour service more expensive, decrease our profitargins, or both.

On June 1, 2007, the FCC released a Notice of BembRulemaking in which it tentatively concludedttall interconnected VolIP service
providers that allow customers to use their seririamore than one location (nomadic VoIP serviagvfaters such as us) must utilize an
automatic location technology that meets the satneracy standards which apply to providers of conecraeémobile radio services (mobile
phone service providers). In September 2010, thé feleased a Notice of Inquiry again requestingroemt on what type of automatic
location standards should apply to providers of adimVolP service providers, whether the FCC'ssralencerning the delivery of emergency
services should be extended beyond providers efdahnected VolP services, and whether such emeygemvice obligations should apply to
mobile VolP applications used on smartphones, ceenpand other devices. In July 2011, the FCC seléa Second Further Notice of
Proposed Rulemaking, seeking comment on a numhsswés including (i) whether to apply the FCC'81H-rules to "outbound-only"
interconnected VolIP services (i.e., services thppert placing calls to the PSTN); (ii) whetheatbopt rules requiring all interconnected VolP
service to automatically provide location infornoatifor emergency calls; and (iii) whether to rewvise FCC's definition of interconnected
VolIP service to require an "Internet connectiorthea than a broadband connection, and to "defimaectivity in terms of the ability to
connect calls to the United States E.164 telepimomebers rather than the PSTN." Also, the FCC relasNotice of Proposed Rulemaking
that sought comment on whether any amendment afdfirition of interconnected VolP service shouédlimited to E-911 requirements, or
should apply other regulatory requirements to ttaekéitional services. In September 2011, the FQ&ased a Notice of Proposed Rulemaking
soliciting comment on what role the agency coubyph the fostering the development and impleméiaif newer 911 technologies
including, but not limited to, prioritization of Qltraffic triggered by an event such as a natusalgder, long-term implementation of IP-based
alternatives for delivering different kinds of mado emergency call takers like video, photographsd, other forms of data, and text-to-911
solutions.

The outcome of these proceedings cannot be detednainthis time and we may or may not be able topdp with any such obligations that
may be adopted. At present, we currently have nansiéo automatically identify the physical locat@frone of our customers on the Internet.
The FCC's VolP E-911 order has increased our datiog business and may adversely affect ourtstii deliver the 8x8 service to new and
existing customers in all geographic regions ardmadic customers who move to a location where gemeyy calling services compliant with
the FCC's mandates are unavailable. Our compliaitbeand increased costs due to the FCC's VolP Ee®der put us at a competitive
disadvantage to those VolP service providers whaedher not subject to the requirements or hawse not to comply with the FCC's
mandates. We cannot guarantee that emergencygadlinice consistent with the VolP E-911 order Wdlavailable to all of our customers,
especially those accessing our services from autsidhe United States. The FCC's current VolP E-@Her or follow-on orders or
clarifications or their impact on our customers tluservice price increases or other factors chalte a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition or operating results.
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The FCC adopted orders reforming the system of payents between regulated carriers that we partner wit to interface with the public
switch telephone network. The rates we pay for theervices performed by these carriers may increasesa result of the FCC's reform
order. As a result, we may increase rates for sers&, making our offerings less competitive with oths in the marketplace, or reduce ou
profitability.

The FCC reformed the system under which regulatedigers of telecommunications services compensath other for various types of
traffic, including VolP traffic that terminates dine PSTN and applied new call signaling requiresmémd/olP and other service providers. The
FCC's rules concerning charges for transmissiofod® traffic could result in an increased costdoinate the traffic absent specific
agreements that provide the appropriate rate tthbeged for such traffic when passed between ustued carriers. For VolP traffic that
terminates on the PSTN, the Order establishesaitianal framework that: (1) establishes defautiéicarrier compensation rates for "toll"
VoIP-PSTN traffic that are equal to interstate asamtes applicable to non-VolP traffic; (2) estdids default intercarrier compensation rates
for other VolP-PSTN traffic that will be the appiale reciprocal compensation rates; and (3) allegslated providers of telecommunications
services to tariff these default charges in thevaht federal and state tariffs that apply in theemce of an agreement. The rules then provide
for a multiyear transition to a national "bill-akéep" framework as the ultimate end state foreddldommunications traffic exchanged with a
local exchange carrier. Under bill- akdep, providers do not charge an originating cafdeterminating traffic and instead recover thsts o
termination from their own customers. To the extbat the company transmits traffic not subjec &pecific intercarrier compensation
arrangement and another provider were to assdrtitbaraffic we exchange with them is subjectighkr levels of compensation than we, or
the third parties terminating our traffic to theT®§ pay today (if any), our termination costs coinlidially increase, but ultimately will be
reduced as the intercarrier compensation systamsitians to a bill-and-keep framework. Accordingly the near term, our costs to terminate
traffic to the PSTN may increase which could resuktither us increasing the retail charges foramvice offerings or reducing our
profitability. But, over the longer term, we expecir costs to terminate traffic to the PSTN to ohexl

Recently, the FCC clarified its intercarrier compa&tion order with respect to the compensation gaaents for the origination of VolP traff
Pursuant to the clarification order, local exchaogeiers will be able to tariff default chargedieh are charges imposed in the absence of
commercial agreements between parties exchangiffig bound for the PSTN, equal to intrastate aoraging access for originating intrastate
toll VolP traffic. The order makes clear that VdtBffic includes traffic that originates or termtaa in IP, or both, and also without regard to
whether the traffic originates in time-division rtiplexing or Internet protocol format. Local exclgancarriers will have the ability to tariff
default charges for the origination of intrastaii YolP traffic at intrastate rates until June 2014. Starting July 1, 2014, local exchange
carriers will be permitted to tariff default rategual to interstate originating access. For adlristatte VolP traffic, interstate access rates
continue to apply, consistent with the originalendAt this time, we cannot predict what, if anppiact the FCC's clarification order will have
on our business.

The FCC's Order reforming payments for carrier exchange services for various type of traffic also impses call signaling requirements
on VolP providers like us. To the extent that we aanot comply with these rules, we may be subject fines, cease and desist orders, or
other penalties.

The FCC Order reforming the system of compensdtiomarious types of traffic also included rulesamidress calls for which identifying
information is missing or masked in ways that imgpédling for such traffic. The FCC's new rulesu&q, among other things, interconnected
VolIP providers, like us, that originate interstaténtrastate traffic destined for the PSTN, totmait the telephone number associated with the
calling party to the next provider in the call pdtitermediate providers must pass calling partyler or charge number signaling information
they receive from other providers unaltered, tossgloent providers in the call path. While we baiexe are in compliance with this rule, to
extent that we pass traffic that does not have@pjate calling party number or charge number imi@tion, we could be subject to fines, cease
and desist orders, or other penalties.
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The FCC's Order reforming payments between carrierdor various types of traffic also includes a Furtler Notice of Proposec
Rulemaking. Depending on the rules adopted by the®C in this proceeding, the payments we make to undging carriers to access the
Public Switched Telephone Network may increase, welh may result in us increasing the retail price obur service, potentially making
our offering less competitive with traditional providers of telecommunications services, or may reduasur profitability.

The FCC's Order reforming payments between cardergarious types of traffic includes a Furthertide of Proposed Rulemaking which rr
result in the FCC adopting additional rules apftlieao the exchange of traffic between regulatediolers of telecommunications services.
While it is uncertain what rules, if any, the FC@adopt and when the FCC may do so, it is possibat as a result of this proceeding the
charges our underlying service providers assessllscrease when we send traffic to the PSTN. @tahis occur, we may have to raise the
retail rate of our offering, potentially making osgrvices less competitive with traditional provilef telecommunications services, or our
profit margins may decrease. The FCC proceedingg®ing and we cannot predict whether the FCCarillor what rules it may adopt nor ¢
we predict what impact it may have on our busirsdghis time.

The FCC and Congress are investigating call compliein rates to rural areas of the United States. Oneompany made a voluntary
contribution of approximately $1 million to the U.S Treasury during the course of the FCC's investigiéon and agreed to implement a
compliance plan. The investigations into rural calcompletion rates remain ongoing. We may become sjglat to an investigation or an
enforcement action.

Although we rely on third party carriers to handleof our traffic destined for the PSTN, includit@rural areas, it is possible that the FCC
could focus on our practices and procedures fainmgsuch calls. We are monitoring call completiates and we are working with our
underlying carriers to improve call quality and quetion rates throughout our network. It is possitilat we, like other providers in the
communications marketplace, may be subject to finegther enforcement actions should the FCC déterthat our call completion rates to
rural areas are, or have been, unacceptable.

The FCC has proposed a number of rules that woeldde new reporting obligations. At this timerdimains unclear what rules the FCC will
adopt and whether we will be subject to additioegbrting obligations. It is possible that as ailesf this proceeding, our compliance costs
will increase and the charges our underlying serpioviders assess us may increase. The FCC pingdsdtill in its early stages and we
cannot predict whether the FCC will act or whaesult may adopt, nor can we predict what impagtay have on our business at this time.

A petition filed by tw telecom inc. with the FCC seks an Order that its provision of facilities-basednterconnected VolP services should
be classified as "telecommunications services," "tephone exchange services," and/or "exchange accéssder relevant federal law.
We cannot predict the outcome of this proceeding madts impact on our business at this time.

In July 2011, the FCC released a Public Notice eoming a Petition for Declaratory Ruling filed lwy telecom inc. The Petitioner requests the
FCC to clarify that incumbent providers of locdkhone service, like AT&T and Verizon, allow farett IP-to-IP interconnection with
incumbent local exchange carriers for certain IBeldaservices. Specifically, tw telecom seeks dife¢b-IP interconnection from incumbent
local telephone companies for the transmissionranting of tw telecom's facilities-based VolP sees and for voice services that originate
and terminate in Time Division Multiplexing formlut are converted to IP format for transport (nefdrto by the industry as "IP-in-the-
middle" voice services). Additionally, tw telecosasking for the FCC to clarify that its facilitteased VolP services are "telecommunication
services" as well as "telephone exchange servared/br "exchange access," as those terms are defivder the Communications Act of 1934,
as amended by the Telecommunications Act of 1996 c#hnot predict the outcome of this proceedingtsqrotential impact on our business
at this time. Depending on how the FCC rules ontthi&lecom petition, we could be subject to greedgulation at the state level which wo
increase our costs of doing business. It is alssipte that an adverse ruling by the FCC in thixeeding could change the intercarrier
compensation rate that our carriers pay to hanaliéraffic which could also increase our costsréased costs to us may require us to raise o
prices, making our services less competitive, redua profit margins, or both.
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The FCC may require providers like us to comply wih regulations related to how we present bills to atomers. The adoption of sucl
obligations may require us to revise our bills andnay increase our costs of providing service whichotld either result in price increases
or reduce our profitability.

The FCC released an order with respect to prevgtiia placement of unauthorized charges on consimeégphone bills, a practice referrec

in the industry as "cramming." While the FCC did artend regulations applicable to providers dodiitianal telephone services to
interconnected VolP providers to prevent "crammiagtl other "Truth-in-Billing" requirements, the F@@icated that it would continue to
monitor the marketplace and may extend such olidigan the future. The proceeding remains open.cafeot predict the outcome of this
proceeding, nor can we predict its potential immacbur business at this time. These events coal@ase our expenses, which would have al
adverse effect on our operating results.

The FCC adopted rules concerning disabilities accesequirements that may expand disabilities accessquirements to additional
services we offer.

In October, 2010, the "Twenty-First Century Comneations and Video Accessibility Act" was signedifaw. In October, 2011, the FCC
adopted an order implementing the new accessibéipirements as well as released a Notice of Regp&ulemaking concerning certain,
additional, discrete issues. We cannot predict vdretve will be subject to additional accessibititguirements or whether any of our service
offerings that are not currently subject to diséibs access requirements will be subject to sustigations. These events could increase our
expenses, which would have an adverse effect oomenating results.

There may be risks associated with our ability to @mply with the requirements of federal law enforcemant agencies.

The FCC requires all interconnected VolP providersomply with the Communications Assistance fowLEnforcement Act ("CALEA"). Th
FCC allows VolP providers to comply with CALEA thugh the use of a solution provided by a trusteditparty with the ability to extract call
content and call-identifying information from a \oprovider's network. While the FCC permits compaiike us to use the services provided
by these third parties to comply with CALEA, we aittmately responsible for ensuring the timelyidedy of call content and call-identifying
information to law enforcement, and for protectsuipscriber privacy.

We selected a partner to work with us to develgplation for CALEA compliant lawful interception ebmmunications and, as of May 14,
2007, we had installed this solution in our netwoplerations and data centers, but had not yet agatptertification testing of all required
intercept capabilities of this equipment. We cortgadeformal CALEA compliance testing with this patrin March 2009 and currently, our
tested CALEA solution is fully deployed in our nemk. However, we could be subject to an enforceraetibn by the FCC or law enforcem
agencies for any delays related to meeting, oeifai to comply with, any current or future CALEgbligations.

There may be risks associated with our ability to @mply with requirements of the Telecommunications Rlay Service.

The FCC requires providers of interconnected V@Rises to comply with certain regulations pertagnio people with disabilities and to
contribute to the Telecommunications Relay Servioe§ RS, fund. We are also required to offer 7-dbbreviated dialing for access to relay
services. As of April 5, 2008, we have implemerdett1-1 system which routes such calls to the@pjate relay center based upon the
customer's assigned telephone number. We may lpecsti enforcement actions including, but not tedito, fines, cease and desist orders, ©
other penalties if the FCC believes we are not dmmpwith these new disability requirements.

There may be risks associated with our ability to @amply with the requirements of federal and other rgulations related to Customer
Proprietary Network Information ("CPNI").

The FCC requires providers of interconnected V@Rises to comply with its customer proprietarywiatk information, or CPNI, rules. CPI
includes information such as the phone numbersa&ly a consumer, the frequency, duration, anagrof such calls, and any
services/features purchased by the consumer, suchllavaiting, call forwarding, and caller ID, &udition to other information that may
appear on a consumer's bill.
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Under the FCC's rules, companies like us may n®tQRNI without customer approval except in narrcnauenstances related to the provision
of existing services, and must comply with detadedtomer approval processes when using CPNI eutdithese narrow circumstances. The
rules also require more stringent security meadoresccess to a customer's CPNI data in the fdrrequired passwords for dime access an
call-in access to account information as well astamer notification of account or password changes.

At the present time, we do not utilize our custdm@&PNI in a manner which would require us to abtainsent from our customers but, in the
event that we do in the future, we will be requiteddhere to specific CPNI rules aimed at markesinch services. Before December 8, 2007
we implemented internal processes in order to lm®impliance with all of the FCC's CPNI rules. Qaitdre to achieve compliance with any
future CPNI orders, rules, filings or standardsay enforcement action initiated by the FCC oeotigency, state or task force against us
could have a material adverse effect on our busjfemncial condition or operating results.

If we are unable to improve our process for local amber portability provisioning, our growth may be negatively affected.

We support local number portability, or LNP, whilfiows our customers to retain their existing tampe numbers when subscribing to our
services. Transferring numbers is a manual pratedsin the past, has taken us 20 business ddgsager, although we have taken steps to
automate this process to reduce the delay. A netomer of our services must maintain both the ne8vsgrvice and the customer's existing
telephone service during the number transfer psod&g comparison, transferring wireless telephammaipers among wireless service provider:
generally takes several hours, and transferringlinig telephone numbers among traditional wiresieevice providers generally takes a few
days. The additional delay that we experience étdwur reliance on third party carriers to transhe numbers, as well as the delay the
existing telephone service provider may contritiatthe process. Local number portability is consdean important feature by many potentia
customers, especially our business customers favelfail to reduce related delays, we may expegeincreased difficulty in acquiring new
customers or retaining existing customers. Moreaber FCC requires interconnected VolP provideke, Uis, to comply with industry standard
timeframes and a shorter timeframe for certain gygfeports. If we are unable to process ports withe requisite timeframes, we could be
subject to fines and/or penalties. Additionallythboustomers and carriers may seek relief fronréhesant state public utility commission, the
FCC, and/or in state or federal court.

The rates we pay to underlying telecommunicationsacriers may increase which may reduce our profitablity and increase the retail
price of our service.

The FCC has several open proceedings consideringuies that may impact charges that regulatedeefenunications carriers assess each
other for originating and terminating traffic. # possible that the FCC will adopt new rules thiéjexcts interconnected VolP traffic to increa
charges. Should this occur, the rates that we @ayit underlying carriers may increase which malyce our profitability and may also
increase the retail price of our service makingsmrrice less competitive with other providersiofigr calling services. We cannot predict
either the timing or the outcome of these proceglin

Our success also depends on our ability to handlelarge number of simultaneous calls, which our netark may not be able to
accommodate.

We expect the volume of simultaneous calls to iaseesignificantly as the 8x8 subscriber base grows.network hardware and software may
not be able to accommodate this additional voluinge fail to maintain an appropriate level of ogtng performance, or if our service is
disrupted, our reputation could be hurt and weaéage customers, all of which could have a mdtadserse effect on our business, financial
condition or operating results.

We could be liable for breaches of security on ouweb site, fraudulent activities of our users, or tk failure of third party vendors to
deliver credit card transaction processing services

A fundamental requirement for operating an Intetreeted, worldwide voice and video communicatiomgise and electronically billing our
8x8 customers is the secure transmission of conti@anformation and media over public networkdthaugh we have developed systems ant
processes that are designed to protect consunoemiation and prevent fraudulent credit card tratisas and other security breaches, failui
mitigate such fraud or breaches may adversely tafi@coperating results. The law relating to tlability of providers of online payment
services is currently unsettled and states mayténaic own rules with which we may not comply. \W&dy on third party providers to process
and guarantee payments made by 8x8 subscribetsagptain limits, and we may be unable to prevemtooistomers from fraudulently
receiving

22




goods and services. Our liability risk will increa$ a larger fraction of our 8x8 transactions itweofraudulent or disputed credit card
transactions. Any costs we incur as a result afduent or disputed transactions could harm ouiniess. In addition, the functionality of our
current billing system relies on certain third garéndors delivering services. If these vendorsuaiable or unwilling to provide services, we
will not be able to charge for our 8x8 services itimely or scalable fashion, which could signifittg decrease our revenue and have a ma
adverse effect on our business, financial conditiod operating results.

We have experienced losses due to subscriber fraadd theft of service.

Subscribers have, in the past, obtained accebe X8 service without paying for monthly servicel anternational toll calls by unlawfully
using our authorization codes or by submitting d@ent credit card information. To date, such lssfsem unauthorized credit card transact
and theft of service have not been significant.Wifee implemented anti-fraud procedures in ordeptdrol losses relating to these practices,
but these procedures may not be adequate to e#gctimit all of our exposure in the future fromatid. If our procedures are not effective,
consumer fraud and theft of service could signifisadecrease our revenue and have a material sehedfect on our business, financial
condition and operating results.

Natural disasters, war, terrorist attacks or malicious conduct could adversely impact our operationsat could degrade or impede our
ability to offer services.

As a provider of "cloud-based" services, our s@wirely on uninterrupted connection to the Intethiiugh data centers and networks. Any
interruption or disruption to our network, or tiérd parties on which we rely, could adversely ietpaur ability to provide service. Our
network could be disrupted by circumstances outsfdair control including natural disasters, adtevar, terrorist attacks or other malicious
acts including, but not limited to, cyberattackko8ld any of these events occur and interfere withability to operate our network even for a
limited period of time, we could incur significagtpenses, lose substantial amounts of revenuersidfnage to our reputation, and lose
customers. Any of these events could have a mhsehieerse impact on our business.

Vulnerabilities to security breaches, cyber intrusbns and other malicious acts could adversely impacur business.

Critical to our provision of service is the storageocessing, and transmission of confidential sewkitive data. We store, process and transm
a wide variety of confidential and sensitive infation including credit card, bank account and offmemcial information, proprietary, trade
secret or other data that may be protected byléctell property laws, customers' and employeesopelly identifiable information, as well as
other sensitive information. We, along with othiershe industry, will be subject to cyber threats @ecurity breaches, either by third parties ¢
employees, given the nature of the information teees process and transmit. Our continued abititgecurely store, process and transmit dat:
is essential to our business.

We are aware of the risks associated with cybeatisrand we have implemented a number of measupgstect ourselves from cyber attacks.
Specifically, we have redundant servers such thagisuffer equipment or software failures in onesltion or on one set of servers, we hav:
ability to provide continuity of service. We actiyenonitor our network for cyber threats and impéarhprotective measures periodically. We
conduct vulnerability assessments and penetragising and engage in remedial action based onassg#ssments. Depending on the evolving
nature of cyber threats and the measures we maytbamplement to continue to maintain the secwftgur networks and data, our
profitability may be adversely be impacted or weyrhave to increase the retail price of our servtbes may make our offerings less
competitive with other communications providers.

But, like all other companies in the marketplaberé¢ is no guarantee that we will not be adverisaacted by cyberattacks. If our employees
or third parties obtain unauthorized access toseaure network, or if our network is penetrated,sauvice could be disrupted, sensitive
information could be lost, stolen or disclosed ttmild have variety of negative impacts includiegdl liability in form of class action lawsui
investigations by federal and state law enforceragencies, could expose us to fines or penaltrescauld harm our business reputation w
any of these eventualities could have a materigatiee impact on our business.

23




A higher rate of customer terminations would negatiely affect our business by reducing our revenue aequiring us to spend more
money to grow our customer base.

Our rate of customer terminations, or average mpmihstomer churn (excluding cancellations withthdays of sign-up), was 1.8% for the
fiscal year ended March 31, 2013 compared with Z@%he fiscal year ended March 31, 2012. Our phrate could increase in the future if
customers are not satisfied with our service. Othaetors, including increased competition from otlelP providers, alternative technologies,
and adverse business conditions also influencelounn rate.

Because of churn, we have to acquire new custoameas ongoing basis just to maintain our existawgl of customers and revenues. As a
result, marketing expenditures are an ongoing reqent of our business. If our churn rate increaseswill have to acquire even more new
customers in order to maintain our existing revendfée incur significant costs to acquire new custiaanand those costs are an important
factor in determining our net profitability. Theoeé, if we are unsuccessful in retaining custoroerre required to spend significant amounts
to acquire new customers beyond those budgetedewenue could decrease and our net income couleatse.

Our future operating results may vary substantiallyfrom period to period and may be difficult to predict.

Our historical operating results have fluctuatephgicantly and will likely continue to fluctuata ithe future, and a decline in our operating
results could cause our stock price to fall. Omanual and a quarterly basis, there are a numbfactufrs that may affect our operating results,
many of which are outside our control. These ine|uzlit are not limited to:

changes in market demand;

the timing of customer orders;

customer cancellations;

competitive market conditions;

lengthy sales cycles and/or regulatory approvalesyc
new product introductions by us or our competitors;
market acceptance of new or existing products;

the cost and availability of components;

the mix of our customer base and sales channels;

the mix of products and services sold;

the number of additional business customers, cgt basis;
the management of inventory;

continued compliance with industry standards agdlegory requirements; and
general economic conditions.

Due to these and other factors, we believe thabgdo-period comparisons of our results of operaiare not meaningful and should not be
relied upon as indicators of our future performarnicis possible that in some future periods osules of operations may be below the
expectations of public market analysts and investbthis were to occur, the price of our commtock would likely decline significantly.
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We need to retain key personnel to support our prodcts and ongoing operations

The development and marketing of our VolP servigifiscontinue to place a significant strain on diamited personnel, management, and othe
resources. Our future success depends upon thiewedtservices of our executive officers and okegremployees who have critical industry
experience and relationships that we rely on tdement our business plan. None of our officersey &mployees are bound by employment
agreements for any specific term. The loss of éreises of any of our officers or key employeesldalelay the development and introduction
of, and negatively impact our ability to sell oengces which could adversely affect our financédults and impair our growth. We currently
do not maintain key person life insurance policasany of our employees.

We may need to raise additional capital to supporour future operations.

As of March 31, 2013, we had cash and cash equitsaénd investments of approximately $52.3 millidthile we believe these funds are
sufficient to meet our current and anticipatedililify requirements, we may need to raise additi@aaital to pursue our strategic objectives.
We may seek additional funding through public avale equity or debt financing. Recently, we fieedhelf registration statement with the
SEC that was declared effective on April 5, 20118ishelf registration statement allows us togelto an additional amount of approximately
$250 million of our securities from time to timerthg the next three years. We might decide to ragitional capital at such times and upon
such terms as management considers favorable and interests, including, but not limited to, frdhe sale of our debt and/or equity
securities under our shelf registration statentauttwe cannot be certain that we will be able tmplete offerings of our securities at such
times and on such terms as we may consider desifaibls. Any such financings may be upon termsaha potentially dilutive to existing
stockholders. We may not be able to obtain suclitiaddl financing as needed on acceptable termat all, which may require us to reduce
our operating costs and other expenditures, inetpdeductions of personnel and capital expenditures

Our stock price has been highly volatile.

The market price of the shares of our common shaskbeen and is likely to continue to be highlyatitd. It may be significantly affected by
factors such as:

actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operatiegults;

announcements of technical innovations;

future legislation or regulation of the Internetl&or VolP;

loss of key personnel;

new entrants into the VOIP service marketplacduiting cable and incumbent telephone companie#rat well-capitalized
competitors;

new products or new contracts by us, our compstibotheir customers;

the perceived or real impact of events that negbtiaffect our direct competitors; and

e developments with respect to patents or proprigights, general market conditions, changes imfiie estimates by securities
analysts, and other factors which could be unréladeor outside of, our control.

The stock market has from time to time experiergigdificant price and volume fluctuations that hpegticularly affected the market prices
for the common stocks of technology companies hatlltave often been unrelated to the operatingpaéance of particular companies. These
broad market fluctuations may adversely affectrttaeket price of our common stock. In the pastpfelhg periods of volatility in the market
price of a company's securities, securities claeralitigation has often been initiated agaie tssuing company. If our stock price is
volatile, we may also be subject to such litigatiBnch litigation could result in substantial castsl a diversion of management's attention an
resources, which would disrupt business and ccalge a decline in our operating results. Any satlg or adverse determination in such
litigation would also subject us to significantdity.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal operations are located in San JogeinG facility that is approximately 104,657 sqeifeet of office space. We believe our new
facilities will adequately meet our current andefegeable future needs. For additional informatgarding our obligations under leases see
Note 4 to the consolidated financial statementdaioad in Part II, Item 8 of this Repa
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we become involved in variougaleclaims and litigation that arise in the normoalirse of our operations. While the res
of such claims and litigation cannot be predictathwertainty, we are not currently aware of anghsmatters that we believe would hay
material adverse effect on our financial positi@sults of operations or cash flows.

On February 22, 2011, we were named a defendankawsuit, Bear Creek Technologies, Inc. v. 8x8, éhal. , along with 20 other
defendants. On August 17, 2011, the suit agamstas dismissed without prejudice from this lawsmider Rule 21 of the Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure. On August 17, 2011, we were sagain by Bear Creek Technologies, Inc. in the Wh&tates District Court for the District
of Delaware. We believe we have factual and legédmkses to these claims and we are presentingpeoug defense. Further, on Novembel
2012, the U.S. Patent & Trademark Office ("USPTilfjated a Reexamination proceeding with a Reeration Declaration explaining that
there is a substantial new question of patentgpbiased on four separate grounds, affecting elaai of the patent which is the basis for the
complaint filed against the Company. On MarchZiil3, the USPTO issued a first Office Action in Beexamination, with all claims of the
722 patent being rejected on each of the fourrsg@agrounds raised in the Request for Reexammalfitere is a pending motion to stay the
litigation based on the possibility that at leas¢ @f the rejections will be upheld. We cannoineste potential liability in this case at this garl
stage of litigation.

On October 25, 2011, we were named a defendantaiwsuit, Klausner Technologies, Inc. v. Oracle @@wationet al. , along with 30 other
defendants. The lawsuit alleges infringement patent that is now believed to be expired. On Mawer 1, 2011, Klausner dismissed the
complaint voluntarily and filed new complaints segiing the defendants, including a new Complaimtiagf us. We believe we have factual
and legal defenses to these claims and we arerpireg@ vigorous defense, and we have filed seveadions consistent therewith including a
motion to transfer and a motion to dismiss the dampas filed on February 23, 2012. On March213, Chief Judge Davis granted our
Motion to Change Venue, and has thereby orderddhisacase be transferred to the US District Céarthe Northern District of California on
or after April 4, 2013. This case been transfeaecbrdingly. We have not answered the complaiié cannot estimate potential liability in
this case at this early stage of litigation.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable
PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND R ELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

We completed our initial public offering on July997 under the name 8x8, Inc. From that date tiird\pril 3, 2000, our common stock was
traded on the NASDAQ National Market, or the NASDA@der the symbol "EGHT." From April 4, 2000 thghuJuly 18, 2001, our common
stock was traded on the NASDAQ under the symbolRST" Since July 19, 2001 our common stock has ttasheler the symbol "EGHT." In
July 2002, in connection with the transformatiortted NASDAQ to a national securities exchange @ting was transferred to the NASDAQ
Capital Market of the NASDAQ Stock Market LLC.

We have never paid cash dividends on our commark stod have no plans to do so in the foreseeahlesfuAs of May 15, 2013, there were
257 holders of record of our common stock.
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The following table sets forth the range of higld éow close prices for each period indicated:

Period High Low
Fiscal 2013:
First quarter $4.36 $3.80
Second quarter $7.02 $4.14
Third quarter $7.58 $5.62
Fourth quarter $7.95 $ 6.00
Fiscal 2012:
First quarter $4.97 $2.80
Second quarter $5.44 $3.00
Third quarter $4.67 $3.13
Fourth quarter $4.73 $3.11

See Item 12 of Part Il of this Report regardinfpimation about securities authorized for issuanuger our equity compensation plans.

The graph below shows the cumulative total stoddoteturn over a five year period assuming thestment of $100 on March 31, 2008 in
each of 8x8's common stock, the NASDAQ Compositexrand the NASDAQ Telecommunications Index. Tragpbris furnished, not filed,
and the historical return cannot be indicativeutfife performance.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Amaong 8 x &, Inc, the NASDAQ ComposieIndex, andthe NASDAQ Telecommunications Index
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*5100 invested on 331/08 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending March 31.
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On August 1, 2012, we sold 53,899 shares of comstek at $3.315 per share, and 94,951 shares ahoonstock at $3.774 per share to
employee participants in our Employee Stock Purelidan, or ESPP. On February 1, 2013, we sold 88&B&res of common stock at $3.774
per share, and 54,197 shares of common stock &% $ér share to employee participants in our EBPRe of the shares sold in the
transactions on these two dates were registeradEGBP was created pursuant to section 423 ohtleenll Revenue Code and allows our
eligible employees to purchase common stock thrquaginoll deductions at a price equal to 85% offttiemarket value of a share of our
common stock at the beginning of each two yearioifeperiod, or the end of a six month purchasépemhichever is lower. The employees
are allowed to completely withdraw all of their paly contributions prior to the applicable purchalsge. Under our ESPP, the purchase dates
are February 1 and August 1 of each calendar year.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Years Ended March 31,

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
(in thousands, except per share amot

Total revenue $ 107,614 $ 85,803 $ 70,163 $ 63,396 $ 64,674
Net income (loss $ 13,939 $ 69,228 $ 6,494 $ 3,879 $ (2,500
Net income (loss) per shal

Basic $ 0.20 $ 1.04 $ 0.10 $ 0.06 $ (0.04)

Diluted $ 0.19 $ 0.99 $ 0.10 $ 0.06 $ (0.04)
Total asset $ 152,611 $ 130,733 $ 26,584 $ 23,712 $ 21,856
Fair value of warrant liabilit $ - 8 - $ - $ 167 $ 21
Accumulated defici $ (109,179 $ (123,118 $ (192,346 $ (198,840 $ (202,719
Total stockholders' equit $ 137,033 $ 118,450 $ 15,861 $ 13,300 $ 9,030

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
OVERVIEW

We were founded in 1987 and completed an initi&lipwoffering of common stock in 1997. We develom anarket telecommunications
services for Internet protocol, or IP, telephony aideo applications as well as web-based conféngrand unified communications services.
We offer the 8x8 Virtual Office hosted PBX serviég8 Virtual Contact Center service, the 8x8 Vitt@éfice Pro unified communications
solution and 8x8 Cloud-Based Computing solutiorsoAMarch 31, 2013, we had more than 32,500 basinastomers. Each business
customer subscribes to a number of various lindssarvices €.g. physical phone extensions, contact center seatsalextensions, fax lines,
toll free numbers, receptionist software, unifi@inenunications services, etc.). Since fiscal 2008s&ntially all of our revenues have been
generated from the sale, license and provisiona@P\products, services and technology. Prior twafi2003, our focus was on our VolP
semiconductor business.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES & ESTIMATES

Our consolidated financial statements are prepiarednformity with accounting principles generadlgcepted in the United States of America.
Note 1 to the consolidated financial statemenfart 11, Item 8 of this Report describes the sigaifit accounting policies and methods use
the preparation of our consolidated financial stegmts.

We have identified the policies below as some efittore critical to our business and the understanali our results of operations. These
policies may involve a higher degree of judgment e@amplexity in their application and representdhiical accounting policies used in the
preparation of our consolidated financial statemmeflthough we believe our judgments and estimatesappropriate, actual future results may
differ from our estimates. If different assumptiarsconditions were to prevail, the results couddnaterially different from our reported
results. The impact and any associated risks rktatéhese policies on our business operationstugsed throughout Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &webults of Operations where such policies affectreported and expected financial results
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial stetets in conformity with accounting principles geally accepted in the United States
requires management to make estimates and assasfiat affect the reported amounts of assetslitie® and equity and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date efdbnsolidated financial statements and the rep@n@ounts of revenues and expenses durin
reporting period. On an ongoing basis, we evaloateestimates, including, but not limited to, thoskated to bad debts, valuation of
inventories, and litigation and other contingenci%'e base our estimates on historical experiendearvarious other assumptions that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstatioesesults of which form the basis for making jodgts about the carrying value of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent frother sources. Actual results could differ fromsh@stimates under different assumptions or
conditions. We base our estimates on historicaég&pce and on various other assumptions thatedievied to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the bfsisnaking judgments about the carrying value ckts liabilities and equity that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual resadtdd differ from those estimates under differ@sgsumptions or conditions. Additional
information regarding risk factors that may impawt estimates is included above under Part |, té&m"'Risk Factors."

Revenue Recognition

Our revenue recognition policies are describedateN to the consolidated financial statementsairt P, Item 8 of this Report. As described
below, significant management judgments and estisnaiust be made and used in connection with tlentevrecognized in any accounting
period. Material differences may result in the amtaand timing of our revenue for any period if ouanagement made different judgments or
utilized different estimates.

Under the terms of our typical subscription agresimeew customers can terminate their service wii days of order placement and receive
a full refund of fees previously paid. We have deieed that we have sufficient history of subsaribenduct to make a reasonable estimate o
cancellations within the 30-day trial period. THere, we recognize new subscriber revenue in thetimia which the new order was shipped,
net of an allowance for expected cancellations.

Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Acoting Standards Codification ("ASC") 605-25 reqgaitbat revenue arrangements with
multiple deliverables be divided into separatesinftaccounting if the deliverables in the arrangetmeet specific criteria. In addition,
arrangement consideration must be allocated antangdparate units of accounting based on thetiviel&ir values, with certain limitations.
The provisioning of the 8x8 service with the accamyng 8x8 IP Telephone constitutes a revenue geraent with multiple deliverables. In
accordance with the guidance of ASC 605-25, wecatlm 8x8 revenues, including activation fees, antbadx8 IP telephones and subscriber
services based on the fair value determined by thkitive selling prices. Revenues allocated &s¢hdevices are recognized as product
revenues during the period of the sale less tlvavalice for estimated returns during the 30-day piesiod. All other revenues are recognized
when the related services are provided. We re@rdnue net of any sales-related taxes that aegllil our customers. We believe this
approach results in consolidated financial statasérat are more easily understood by investors.clst of the products sold is recognized
contemporaneously with the recognition of prodesenue.

At the time of each revenue transaction, we asshsther the revenue amount is fixed and determénabil whether collection is reasonably
assured. We assess whether the fee is fixed aathdatble based on the payment terms associatedhvettransaction. If a significant portion
of a fee is due after our normal payment termsciviare 30-90 days from invoice date, we accounthferfee as not being fixed and
determinable. In these cases, we recognize revasthe fees become due. We assess collection basedumber of factors, including past
transaction history with the customer and the ¢veatthiness of the customer. We generally do nqtiest collateral from our customers. If we
determine that collection of a fee is not reasonabbkured, we defer the fee and recognize revdrthe éime collection becomes reasonably
assured, which is generally upon receipt of paymafet defer recognition of revenue on product stdestailers where the right of return ex
until products are resold to the end user andrthkeperiod has expired.

Under our revenue recognition accounting principifies software license arrangement includes aecegt criteria, we do not recognize
revenue until we can demonstrate objectively thatsoftware or service can meet the acceptanegiardr that the customer has signed forma
acceptance documentation. If a software licenssngament obligates us to deliver unspecified fupnoglucts, we recognize revenue on a
subscription basis, ratably over the term of theticat.
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For all sales, except those completed via thehetemve use either a binding purchase order or gigeed agreement as evidence of an
arrangement. For sales over the Internet, we @sedit card authorization as evidence of an arnargge, and recognize revenue upon
settlement of the transaction, if there are noausr acceptance conditions. We do not settle ceadit transactions until equipment related to
the transaction, if any, is shipped to a customer.

Our ability to enter into revenue generating tratisas and recognize revenue in the future is stitigea number of business and econt
risks discussed above under Item 1A,"Risk Factors."

Collectability of Accounts Receivable

We must make estimates of the collectability of aerounts receivable. Management specifically aeslyiccounts receivable, including
historical bad debts, customer concentrations poust creditworthiness, current economic trendsdrahges in our customer payment terms
when evaluating the adequacy of the allowance dobtful accounts. As of March 31, 2013, the acceuateivable balance was $3,880,000,
net of an allowance for doubtful accounts of $480,0ncluding a reserve for disputed credits, améstimated returns reserve of $152,000. If
the financial condition of our customers deteriesabur actual losses may exceed our estimatesdatitional allowances would be required.

Valuation of Inventories

We write down our inventory for estimated obsoleseeor unmarketable inventory equal to the diffeesibetween the cost of inventory anc
estimated market value based upon assumptions aliate demand, market conditions and replacemestsclf actual future demand or
market conditions are less favorable than thosggted by us, additional inventory write-downs niseyrequired.

Income and Other Taxes

As part of the process of preparing our consolifiteancial statements we are required to estimmaténcome taxes in each of the jurisdicti

in which we operate. This process requires ustimate our actual current tax expense and to assegmrary differences resulting from book-
tax accounting differences for items such as actwaeation. These differences result in deferredatsets and liabilities, which are included
within our consolidated balance sheet. We must #ssess the likelihood that our deferred tax asg#itse recovered from future taxable
income and to the extent we believe that recovenot likely, we must establish a valuation allosann the event that we determine that we
would be able to realize deferred tax assets ifiuttuge in excess of the net recorded amount, arsadent to the deferred tax asset would
increase income in the period such determinatios wade.

Significant management judgment is required tordetee the valuation allowance recorded againstnetideferred tax assets, which include
net operating loss and tax credit carry forwards Valuation allowance is based on our estimatésxable income by jurisdiction in which \
operate and the period over which our deferrechtmets will be recoverable. During the fourth cpraof fiscal 2012, we reassessed the need
for a valuation allowance against our net defetasdasset and concluded that it was more likely tiat that we would be able to realize a
significant portion of our deferred tax assets. dxdingly, we released most of our valuation alloearelated to our deferred tax asset which
resulted in a credit to the income statement of@gmately $62.1 million. We determined that a asle of a portion of our valuation allowance
was appropriate as a result of the following diseesvents: (1) our attainment of three consecuytdas of net income, (2) the acquisition of
Contactual in the second quarter of fiscal 20128 completion of the Section 382 ownership asialynder the Internal Revenue Code for
Contactual in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012ring the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013, we evalgittee need for a valuation allowance against
our net deferred tax asset and concluded that ditiathl allowance was needed. Therefore, we irsgdaur valuation allowance related to
state net operating loss and tax credit carryowish resulted in a debit to the income stateméapproximately $1.0 million. We determin
that an increase in our valuation allowance wasapfate as a result of the change in the net ircapportionment methodology in Californ

In making this determination, we considered allilabde positive and negative evidence, including cent earnings trend and expected
continued future taxable income. As of March 311.20he net deferred tax asset on the consolidszthce sheet represented the projecte
benefit we expect to realize. We continue to maindavaluation allowance against the remaindenfdeferred tax assets that we believe we
will not be able to utilize.

We have received inquiries, demands or audit reguesan several state, municipal and 9-1-1 taxiggreies seeking payment of taxes that ar
applied to or collected from the customers of pdevs of traditional public switched telephone netngervices. We recorded no expense for
the years ended March 31, 2013, 2012 and 201 1sfonated tax exposure for such assessments.
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Stock-Based Compensatiot

We account for our employee stock options, stoaklmse rights and restricted stock units grantetbuthe 1996 Stock Plan, 1996 Director
Option Plan, 1999 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plae,2006 Stock Plan, the 2003 Contactual Plan, @i Equity Incentive Plan and stock
purchase rights under the 1996 Employee Stock BaecRlan (collectively "Equity Compensation Plansigler the provisions of ASC 718 -
Stock Compensation . Under the provisions of ASC 718, shéyi@sed compensation cost is measured at the grentdsed on the estimated
value of the award, and is recognized as an experesethe employee's requisite service period (gglyehe vesting period of the equity
grant), net of estimated forfeitures.

Stock-based compensation expense recognized Dahsolidated Statements of Income for fiscal 2@03,2 and 2011, was measured based
on ASC 718 criteria. Compensation expense fortate-based payment awards is recognized usindrtigtg-line single-option method and
includes the impact of estimated forfeitures. AS® vequires forfeitures to be estimated at the tifngrant and revised, if necessary, in
subsequent periods if actual forfeitures diffenirthose estimates.

To value option grants, stock purchase rights astticted stock units under the Equity Compensaians for actual and pro forma stock-
based compensation we used the Black-Scholes ogilaation model. Fair value determined using thecB-Scholes option valuation model
varies based on assumptions used for the expetctekd wices volatility, expected life, risk fregédmnest rates and future dividend payments. Fc
fiscal years 2013, 2012 and 2011, we used thertdatwolatility of our stock over a period equalthe expected life of the options to their fair
value. The expected life assumptions represenwéighted-average period stock-based awards aregxgeo remain outstanding. These
expected life assumptions were established thréhuegheview of historical exercise behavior of stbesed award grants with similar vesting
periods. The risk free interest was based on th&irgy market bid yields on actively traded U.Sasway securities in the over-the-counter
market for the expected term equal to the expeeted of the option. The dividend yield assumpticasvbased on our history and expectation
of future dividend payout.

ASC 718 requires us to calculate the additionad paicapital pool ("APIC Pool") available to absdax deficiencies recognized subsequent tc
adopting ASC 718, as if we had adopted ASC 71&affective date of January 1, 1995. There areatioavable methods to calculate our
APIC Pool: (1) the long form method or (2) the $form method as set forth in ASC 718. We havetetkto use the long form method under
which we track each award grant on an employeeryl@yee basis and grant-by-grant basis to deterihthere is a tax benefit or tax
deficiency for such award. We then compared theviie expense to the tax deduction receiveddohgrant and aggregated the benefits ar
deficiencies to establish the APIC Pool.

Due to the adoption of ASC 718, some option exescigsult in tax deductions in excess book dedusti@sed on the option value at the time
of grant. We recognize these windfall tax benefgsociated with the exercise of stock options tirée stockholders' equity only when
realized. We use the "with and without" approacldescribed in ASC 740, in determining the ordewirich our tax attributes are utilized. The
"with and without" approach results in the recoigmitof the windfall stock option tax benefits orfter all other tax attributes of ours have
been considered in the annual tax accrual computadilso, we have elected to ignore the indirextafiects of share-based compensation
deductions in computing our research and developtagrcredits and alternative tax credits and ab swe recognize the full effect of these
deductions in the consolidated income statemetitamperiod in which the taxable event occurs.
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SELECTED OPERATING STATISTICS

We periodically review certain key business metnaishin the context of our articulated performammals, in order to evaluate the
effectiveness of our operational strategies, atlcasources and maximize the financial performarfi@air business. The selected operating
statistics include the following:

Selected Operating Statistics
March 31, Dec 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31,

2013 2012 2012 2012 2012

Gross business customer additi(1) 2,808 2,617 2,915 2,943 2,892
Number of new services sold (1)( 50,728 44,391 42,920 41,146 39,221
Average number of subscribed servic
per new business customer 18.1 17.0 14.7 14.0 13.6
Business subscriber acquisition ¢

per service (4 $92 $98 $89 $97 $99
Total business customers | 32,535 31,473 30,498 29,913 28,671
Average number of subscribed servic

per business customer 115 11.2 10.6 10.1 9.8
Business customer average mont

service revenue per customer $ 263 $ 260 $ 256 $ 250 $ 244
Business customer churn (le

cancellations within 30 da

of sigr-up) (8) 1.7% 1.6% 2.4% 1.7% 2.0%
Business service revenue chi 1.5% 2.6% 1.0% 2.3% 1.6%
Overall service margi 80% 78% 76% 75% 76%
Overall product margi -17% -34% -22% -30% -15%
Overall gross margi 71% 68% 68% 67% 68%

(1) Does not include customers of Virtual Office SotZerigo, Inc. ("Zerigo").
(2) Number of recurring revenue services sold to bissimeistomers during the period.
(3) Number of new services sold divided by gross bssireistomer additions.

(4) The combined costs of advertising, marketing, priiong, sales commissions and equipment subsidiesefe services sold during the period divided by
the number of new services sold during the period.

(5) Business customers are defined as customers pfyisgrvice. Customers that are currently in thel89 trial period are considered to be customeas th
are paying for service. Customers subscribing ttudl Office Solo or Zerigo services are not inéddas business customers.

(6) The simple average number of subscribed servicédedi by the simple average number of busines®mess during the period. The simple average
number of subscribed services is the number ofcsildesi services on the first day of the period phesnumber of subscribed services on the lasbiigye
period divided by two. The simple average numbdrusiness customers is the number of businessmassmn the first day of the period plus the number
of business customers on the last day of the pelioded by two.

(7) Business customer average monthly service reveaueystomer is service revenue from business cestm the period divided by the number of months
in the period divided by the simple average nundbérusiness customers during the period.

(8) Business customer churn is calculated by dividirgriumber of business customers that terminatéet tak expiration of the 30-day trial) by the slenp
average number of business customers and divilimgesult by the number of months in the periodhénsecond quarter of fiscal 2013, an affiliatéhwi
411 business customers representing approxima®eld8 of monthly service revenue cancelled ser&eeluding these 411 cancellations, business
customer churn (less cancellations within 30 ddysgn-up) was 1.9%.

We believe it is useful to monitor these metricgetiier and not individually, as we do not make tes$ decisions based upon any s
metric.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjiorctvith our Consolidated Financial Statements iatated notes included elsewhere in this
Report.

We have minimal seasonality in our business butéafly sales of new subscriptions in our fourttcisquarter are greater than any of the first
three quarters of the fiscal year. We believe tisisurs because the customers we target have angntespend a greater portion of their
annual capital budgets at the beginning of thencileyear rather than the last three quarterseoféar.

REVENUE
Years Ended March 31, Year-over-Year Change
2013 2012 2011 2012 to 201 2011 to 201-
(dollar amounts in thousands)
Service revenu $ 98212 ¢ 78382 ¢ 64,998 % 19830 253% $ 13,384 20.6%
Percentage of total reven 91.3% 91.4Y% 92.6%

Service revenue consists primarily of revenuesbatizble to the provision of our 8x8 services amyhities earned under our VolP technology
licenses. We expect that 8x8 service revenuesatitinue to comprise nearly all of our service raxes for the foreseeable future.

The increase in fiscal year 2013, compared wittefigear 2012, was primarily attributable to arréase in 8x8 service revenues resulting
growth of our business service subscriber base b@siness service subscriber base grew from appedgly 28,500 customers at the end of
fiscal 2012 to approximately 32,500 customers omddl&1, 2013. The increase was partially offsealtecrease in customers of our reside
services. These changes were consistent with thieection of our marketing efforts toward our buesa customer service. We expect the tr
to continue in future periods.

The increase in fiscal year 2012, compared wittefigear 2011, was primarily attributable to arréase in 8x8 service revenues resulting 1
growth of our business service subscriber base b@siness service subscriber base grew from appedgly 24,000 customers at the end of
fiscal 2011 to approximately 28,500 customers omddl&1, 2012. The increase was partially offsealtecrease in customers of our reside
services.

Years Ended March 31, Year-over-Year Change
2013 2012 2011 2012 to 201: 2011 to 2017
(dollar amounts in thousands)
Product revenu $ 9,402 $ 7,421 % 5,165 $ 1,981 26.7% $ 2,256  43.7%
Percentage of total reven 8.7% 8.6% 7.4%

Product revenue consists primarily of revenues feaies of IP telephones, primarily attributableto 8x8 service.

The increase in fiscal year 2013 from fiscal ye@t2 resulted from a $2.0 million increase in prddewvenue attributable to growth in
business customer subscriber base, for which we bagn subsidizing equipment purchases.

The increase in fiscal year 2012 from fiscal ye@t 2 resulted from a $2.3 million increase in prddwvenue attributable to growth in
business customer subscriber base, for which we begn subsidizing equipment purchases.

No single customer represented more than 10% ofovalrrevenues during fiscal 2013, 2012 or 2(
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The following table illustrates our net revenuesglepgraphic area. Revenues are attributed to desrtased on the destination of shipmer
thousands):

Years Ended March 31,

2013 2012 2011
United State: $ 104,387 % 83,841 $ 69,455
Other locations 3,227 1,962 708
$ 107,614 % 85,803 $ 70,163
COST OF REVENUE
Years Ended March 31, Year-over-Year Change
2013 2012 2011 2012 to 201: 2011 to 2017
(dollar amounts in thousands)
Cost of service revent $ 22201 $ 18,065 $ 14,508 $ 4,136 22.9% $ 3,557 24.5%
Percentage of service rever 22.6% 23.0% 22.3%

Cost of service revenue primarily consists of casdsociated with network operations and relatedqgueel, telephony origination &
termination services provided by third party cagiend technology license and royalty expenses.

The increase in cost of service revenue for fig€dl3 from fiscal 2012 was primarily due to a $2i@iom increase in third party network
service expenses, a $0.8 million increase in phgral related expenses, a $0.7 million increagiepreciation expenses, a $0.4 million
increase in amortization expense due to intangétgsiired in acquisitions, a $0.1 million increaseonsultant and outside service expenses.
The increase in cost of service revenues was panifiset by a $0.3 million reduction in licensadifee expenses, a $0.1 million decrease in
expensed computer equipment and furniture andréstand a $0.1 million reduction in other coster/ice expenses.

The increase in the cost of service revenue faafi2012 from fiscal 2011 was primarily due to a2¥hillion increase in third party network
service expenses, a $1.1 million increase in phgral related expenses, a $0.4 million increasmmsultant and outside service expenses, a
$0.4 million increase in amortization expense dumtangibles acquired in the acquisitions of Cotutal, Inc. and Zerigo, Inc., a $0.3 million
increase in depreciation expenses, a $0.2 milhorease in expensed computer equipment and fueratunl fixtures, and a $0.1 million
increase in repair and maintenance expenses. thease in cost of service revenues was partialbebby a $0.2 million reduction in license
and fee expenses and a $0.1 million decreaseinitiag expenses.

Years Ended March 31, Year-over-Year Change
2013 2012 2011 2012 to 201: 2011 to 2017
(dollar amounts in thousands)
Cost of product revent $ 11,801 $ 9,822 $ 8,115 $ 1,979 20.1% $ 1,707 21.0%
Percentage of product rever 125.5% 132.4% 157.1%

The cost of product revenue consists of costs @tsdowith systems, components, system manufagtuaissembly and testing performed by
third party vendors, estimated warranty obligatiand direct and indirect costs associated with gpeodurchasing, scheduling, shipping and
handling. We allocate a portion of service revertogzoduct revenues but these revenues are lasghb cost of the product.

The increase in the cost of product revenue faafig013 from fiscal 2012 was primarily due to a8hillion increase in the shipment of
equipment to our business customers, a $0.1 milliorease in warranty expense, and a $0.1 millaneiase in freight costs.
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The increase in the cost of product revenue faafi2012 from fiscal 2011 was primarily due to a8hillion increase in the shipment of
equipment to our business customers and a $0.ibbmilicrease in freight costs. The increase in obproduct revenues was partially offset by
a $0.2 million decrease in payroll and related espe due to reduction in headcount.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES

Years Ended March 31, Year-over-Year Change
2013 2012 2011 2012 to 201 2011 to 2017
(dollar amounts in thousands)
Research and developm $ 8,147 $ 6,745 $ 4819 $ 1402 208% $ 1,926  40.0%
Percentage of total reven 7.6% 7.9% 6.9%

Historically, our research and development expehage consisted primarily of personnel, systematype design, and equipment costs
necessary for us to conduct our development anitheegng efforts. We expense research and developoosts as they are incurred.

The increase in research and development expemstisdal 2013 from fiscal 2012 was primarily dttitable to a $1.1 million increase in
payroll and related expenses, a $0.1 million ingeda recruiting expenses, and a $0.2 million iaseein other research and development
expenses.

The increase in research and development expemstisdal 2012 from fiscal 2011 was primarily dititable to a $1.5 million increase in
payroll and related expenses, a $0.3 million ineega consulting and outside service expenses &ddlamillion increase in other research anc
development expenses.

SALES AND MARKETING EXPENSES

Years Ended March 31, Year-over-Year Change
2013 2012 2011 2012 to 201: 2011 to 2017
(dollar amounts in thousands)
Sales and marketir $ 46,244 $ 37,980 $ 31,744 $ 8,264 21.8% $ 6,236  19.6%
Percentage of total reven 43.0% 44.3% 45.2%

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarilyeeggnnel and related overhead costs for sales,atirgk and customer service. Such ¢
also include outsourced customer service call ceaferations, sales commissions, as well as trade,sadvertising and other marketing
promotional expenses.

The increase in sales and marketing expensessfal 2013 from fiscal 2012 was primarily due to6a22million increase in payroll and related
expenses from an increase in our sales force darfllion increase in third party sales commissi@#&3 million increase in sales promotion
expenses, a $0.3 million increase in bad debt esggen$0.2 million increase in amortization expahseto intangibles acquired in acquisitic
and a $0.9 million net increases in other salesnaadketing expenses.

The increase in sales and marketing expensessfal 2012 from fiscal 2011 was primarily due to4a3million increase in payroll and related
expenses due to an increase in our sales forée7a$llion increase in advertising expenses, & $dillion increase in sales promotion
expenses, a $0.3 million increase in amortizatiocustomer relationship intangible, a $0.2 milliacrease in temporary personnel, consulting
and outside service expenses, a $0.2 million iseré@atravel and meal expenses, a $0.2 millioremse in tradeshow expenses, a $0.1 million
increase in public relation expenses, a $0.1 miliicrease in bad debt expense and a $0.1 miliorease in credit card processing fees. This
increase was partially offset by a $0.6 millionuetion in legal expenses, as fiscal 2011 includ&a.& million accrual related to the
memorandum of understanding to settle a lawsuinagas in fiscal 2011.
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GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Years Ended March 31, Year-over-Year Change
2013 2012 2011 2012 to 201: 2011 to 2012
(dollar amounts in thousands)
General and administrati $ 8,619 $ 6,012 $ 4733 $ 2,607 434% $ 1,279  27.0%
Percentage of total reven 8.0% 7.0% 6.7%

General and administrative expenses consist priynafi personnel and related overhead costs fornfiea human resources and ger
management.

The increase in general and administrative expefasdiscal 2013 from fiscal 2012 was primarily digea $1.0 million increase in payroll and
related expenses, a $0.9 million increase in teanggrersonnel, consulting and outside service esgera $0.2 million increase in sales and
use tax expense, a $0.2 million increase in rengigxpense and a $0.3 million increase in otheegd and administrative expenses.

The increase in general and administrative expeiosdiscal 2012 from fiscal 2011 was primarily dicea $0.5 million increase in legal
expenses related to patent litigation and mergéraaquisitions, a $0.4 million increase in payesitl related expenses, a $0.2 million increase
in temporary personnel, consulting and outsideiserexpenses, a $0.1 million increase in facil@hated expenses and a $0.1 million increase
in meals, travel and entertainment costs. The ase&rén general and administrative expenses waslpadffset by $0.1 million reduction in
sales, property and franchise taxes due to seftieams release of outstanding state sales tax.audit

GAIN ON PATENT SALE

Years Ended March 31, Year-over-Year Change
2013 2012 2011 2012 to 201: 2011 to 2012
(dollar amounts in thousands)
Gain on patent sa $ (12,965 $ - $ -$ (12965 NA $ - NA
Percentage of total reven -12.0% 0.0% 0.0%

In June 2012, we entered into a patent purchaseagmt for the sale of a family of United Statetepis. We recognized a gain of slightly less
than $12.0 million, net of transaction costs, ie finst fiscal quarter of 2013 and approximatelyOsdillion in the fourth fiscal quarter of 2013
due to the third party purchaser entering intecarise agreement with its customer. The gain ompsa#de has been recorded as a reduction of
operating expenses in the consolidated stateméitsame.

INTEREST INCOME (LOSS) AND OTHER, NET

Years Ended March 31, Year-over-Year Change
2013 2012 2011 2012 to 201: 2011 to 201-
(dollar amounts in thousands)
Interest income (loss) and other, $ 105 $ (305 $ 138 $ 410 -134.4% $ (443, -321.0%
Percentage of total reven 0.1% -0.4% 0.2%

This item primarily consisted of capital gains diaftion and interest income in fiscal 2013 and RGQur interest income (loss) and other, net,
primarily consists of an impairment charge to wdtevn the strategic investment in Stonyfish, Inad énterest and investment income earned
on our cash, cash equivalents and investment beddndiscal 2012.

The increase in other income (loss) and otherfandiscal 2013 from fiscal 2012 consists primaurdlfyan increase in capital gain distributions
due on mutual funds and interest income earned.
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The decrease in other income (loss) and othefonéiscal 2012 from fiscal 2011 consists primaulfythe impairment charge due to the write
down of our strategic investment of $0.4 millioriset by capital gain distributions earned on outualfunds and interest income earned on
our cash, cash equivalents and investment balaric&& 1 million.

INCOME ON CHANGE IN FAIR VALUE OF WARRANT LIABILITY
Years Ended March 31, Year-over-Year Change

2013 2012 2011 2012 to 201: 2011 to 2017
(dollar amounts in thousands)

Income on change in fa
value of warrant liability $ - $ - $ 167$% - NA $ (167 -100.0%
Percentage of total reven 0.0% 0.0% 0.2%

In connection with the sale of shares of our comstoek in fiscal 2005 and 2006, we issued warramtisree different equity financings. The
income on change in fair value of the warrant ligbin fiscal 2011 is due to the partial exerces®l expiration of all remaining warrants in the
third quarter of fiscal 2011.

PROVISION (BENEFIT) FOR INCOME TAXES

Years Ended March 31, Year-over-Year Change
2013 2012 2011 2012 to 2013 2011 to 2012
(dollar amounts in thousands)
Provision (benefit) for income tax $ 9733 ¢ (62,354 $ 55 $ 72,087 -115.6%$ (62,409 -113470.99
Percentage of total reven 9.0% -72.7% 0.1%

We recorded an income tax provision of $9.7 milliofiscal year 2013 of which $8.7 million relatednet income from operations, including
the sale of patent under our patent purchase agrgeand $1.0 million due to an increase in ounaibn allowance. During the fourth quarter
of fiscal 2013, we evaluated the need for a vaduagillowance against our net deferred tax assetlaremined that an additional $1.0 million
was needed for certain net operating loss carrgoet may expire before utilization. Therefore,in@eased the valuation allowance related
to the deferred tax asset which resulted in a delilie consolidated income statement of approxpatl.0 million.

We recorded an income tax benefit of $62.4 milliofiscal 2012, primarily related to the release6£.1 million of our valuation allowance in
the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012 and the reledsk0at million of our valuation allowance due t@thcquisition of Zerigo in the first fiscal
quarter of 2012 partially offset by $0.1 million stiite income tax expense. During the fourth quaftéiscal 2012, we evaluated the need for &
valuation allowance against our net deferred taet@sand concluded that it was more likely tharntimat we would be able to realize our
deferred tax assets with the exception of certatroperating loss and tax credit carryforwards.gkdingly, in the fourth quarter of fiscal 201
we released a significant portion of our valuattiowance related to our net deferred tax asséts.effective tax rate for the fiscal year ended
March 31, 2012 differed from the statutory fedémabme tax rate primarily because we utilized priet operating losses and available tax
credits when we had a valuation allowance agaimsteferred tax assets. Therefore, our incom@rtaxision consisted primarily of minimum
and capital state income taxes and foreign incaxe t

As of March 31, 2011, we provided a full valuat@iiowance related to our net deferred tax assetgedlieved the objective and verifiable
evidence of our historical pre-tax net losses oighe&d the existing positive evidence regardingahility to realize our deferred tax assets.

At March 31, 2013, we had net operating loss carwérds for federal and state income tax purposapmroximately $149.3 million and
$95.4 million, respectively, that expire at variglates beginning in 2014 and continuing through?22@3 addition, at March 31, 2013, we had
research and development credit carryforwardsedeffal and state tax reporting purposes of apprateiy $2.4 million and $3.7 million,
respectively. The federal credit carryforwards Wwalgin expiring in 2021 continuing through 2033,le/the California credit will carry forwau
indefinitely. Under the ownership change limitasaof the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amertdedmount and benefit from the net
operating losses and credit carryforwards mayrhidd in certain circumstances.
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At March 31, 2013 and 2012, we had net deferredatsets before valuation allowances of approximabb.6 million and $63.8 millio
respectively.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As of March 31, 2013, we had $52.3 million of casld cash equivalents and investments. By compargdviarch 31, 2012, we had $24.4
million in cash and cash equivalents. We currehélye no borrowing arrangements. We believe we haffeeient liquidity to fund operations
for the foreseeable future. In addition, we hawhelf registration statement that would allow usaise up to $250 million from the sale of new
securities of ours. Please refer to Part |, ItemRisk Factors "We may need to raise additionaitabfp support our future operations."

2013 to 2012

Net cash provided by operating activities for fl2@13 was $31.8 million, compared with $9.2 mifliprovided by operating activities f
fiscal 2012. The increase in cash provided by dpayactivities was primarily due to the sale ofgrd under our patent purchase agreement
($13.0 million) and use of our deferred tax asseteduce our cash taxes due ($9.3 million). Caskiged by operating activities has
historically been affected by:

the amount of net income;

sales of subscriptions;

changes in working capital accounts, particulanlgéferred revenue due to timing of annual plaeweis;
add-backs of non-cash expense items such as dejsacand amortization; and

the expense associated with stock-based awards.

Net cash used in investing activities was $5.9iamlin fiscal 2013, compared with $3.0 million usadnvesting activities in fiscal 2012. TI
increase in cash used in investing activities dyfiscal 2013 is primarily related to the purchasadditional equipment and leasehold
improvements related to our new facility ($3.4 roill) offset by a reduction in cash used to purclsinesses in fiscal 2012 ($0.7 million).

Net cash provided by financing activities was $Rilion in fiscal 2013, compared with net cash us€80.3 million in financing activities i
fiscal 2012. Our financing activities for fiscal Z®provided cash of $2.5 million due to issuanceashmon stock under our employee stock
purchase plan and the issuance of shares relathd #xercise of options. The cash provided bynitireg activities in fiscal 2013 was partially
offset by $0.5 million due to repurchase of restdcshares and payment of capital leases.

2012 to 2011

Net cash provided by operating activities for fls#@12 was $9.2 million, compared with $8.6 milliprovided by operating activities for fisc
2011. Cash used in or provided by operating a&iwitas historically been affected by:

the amount of net income;

sales of subscriptions;

changes in working capital accounts, particulanlgéferred revenue due to timing of annual plaeweis;
add-backs of non-cash expense items such as dejisacind amortization; and

the expense associated with stock options and-ftask&d awards.

Net cash used in investing activities was $3.0iamilin fiscal 2012, compared with $5.4 million usadnvesting activities in fiscal 2011. Tl
decrease in cash used in investing activities duistal 2012 was primarily related to the purchasmvestments in December 2010 ($2.0
million), the acquisition of a strategic investménStonyfish in April 2010 ($0.3 million) and atrdecrease in cash used in the acquisition of
businesses ($0.3 million). The decrease in casthinsavesting activities during fiscal 2012 wastaly offset by an increase in the cash usec
to purchase equipment in fiscal 2012 ($0.2 million)
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Net cash used in financing activities was $0.3iamlin fiscal 2012, compared with $4.8 million usadinancing activities in fiscal 2011. O
financing activities for fiscal 2012 used cash 2f@bmillion for the repurchase of shares of comrsimtk under our share repurchase plan, $0.
million for the buyout of stock options under thesting provisions of our 1996 Stock Plan and 18@statutory Stock Option Plan and $0.3
million for capital lease payments. The use of dadinancing activities in fiscal 2012 was parjabffset by $3.0 million in cash provided by
the issuance of common stock under our employexk siation plans and employee stock purchase ptawgedl as the issuance of restricted
shares.

Contractual Obligations

Future operating lease payments, capital lease @atgnand purchase obligations at March 31, 201&fonext five years were as follows
thousands):

Year Ending March 31,
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Total

Capital lease $ 22 % 21 $ 7% - 8 - 3 50
Office lease! 1,578 1,625 1,674 1,724 4,698 11,299
Purchase obligatior
Third party customer support provic 2,158 - - - - 2,158
Third party network service provide 2,091 1,579 52 - - 3,722
Open purchase orders 48 - - - - 48

$ 5897 ¢ 3225% 1733 % 1724 $ 4,698 $ 17,277

We lease our headquarters facility in San Josdfo@@h under an operating lease agreement thairesn October 2019. The lease is
industrial net lease with monthly base rent of $&3Q for the first 15 months with a 3% increasehegear thereafter, and requires us to
property taxes, utilities and normal maintenancgo

In the third quarter of 2010, we amended our cahtrath one of our third party customer supportders containing a minimum monthly
commitment of approximately $430,000. The agreemenmiires a 150-day notice to terminate. At Marth2013, the total remaining
obligation under the contract was $2.2 million.

We entered into contracts with multiple vendorstfard party network service providers which expirevarious dates in fiscal 2014 through
2016. At March 31, 2013, the total remaining oligras under these contracts were $3.7 million.

At March 31, 2013, we had open purchase orderg®f0®0, primarily related to inventory purchasesrfrour contract manufacturers. These
purchase commitments are reflected in our condelitiinancial statements once goods or services haen received or at such time when wk
are obligated to make payments related to thesdsgooservices.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

The primary objective of our investment activitisgo preserve principal while maximizing incometvaiut significantly increasing risk. Some
of the securities in which we invest may be subjecharket risk. This means that a change in pliegainterest rates may cause the principal
amount of the investment to fluctuate. To minimtzis risk, we may maintain our portfolio of cashuaglents and investments in a variety of
securities, including commercial paper, money miiileds, debt securities and certificates of dapdsie risk associated with fluctuating
interest rates is limited to our investment poitf@nd we do not believe that a 10% change inésterates would have a significant impact on
our interest income.

During the years ended March 31, 2013 and 2012jivaot have any outstanding debt instruments dtiear equipment under capital leases
and, therefore, we were not exposed to marketreisiting to interest rates.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders 8x8, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of 8x8, Inc. (the Company), as of Mafc?813 and 2012, and the related
consolidated statements of income, comprehenso@nie, stockholders' equity and cash flows for ed¢he three years in the period ended
March 31, 2013. We also have audited the Compamtgmal control over financial reporting as of Mar31, 2013, based on criteria
established imnternal Control - Integrated Framework by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations offtteadway Commission. The
Company's management is responsible for these lidaisal financial statements, for maintaining efifee internal control over financial
reporting, and for its assessment of the effecegsrof internal control over financial reportinglided in management's report on internal
control over financial reporting, appearing undem 9A. Our responsibility is to express an opimarthese consolidated financial statements
and an opinion on the Company's internal contrekr dwancial reporting based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those standard:s
require that we plan and perform the audits toinbasonable assurance about whether the conaliflaancial statements are free of
material misstatement and whether effective inferaatrol over financial reporting was maintainadail material respects. Our audits of the
consolidated financial statements included exarginim a test basis, evidence supporting the amaunatslisclosures in the consolidated
financial statements, assessing the accountingiptés used and significant estimates made by neanagt, and evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. Our audit ofrimeécontrol over financial reporting included dbtag an understanding of internal control
over financial reporting, assessing the risk thataderial weakness exists, and testing and evafy#tie design and operating effectiveness of
internal control based on the assessed risk. Qditsaaiso include performing such other procedases/e considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audits proviteaaonable basis for our opinions.

A company's internal control over financial repogtis a process designed to provide reasonableasasuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statets:iéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A
company's internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (ftaimeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettitansactions and dispositions of the assetsofdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatg@aparation of financial statements in accor@anwith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely detectfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company's assets that could havaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agject to the risk that controls may become inadegjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegeferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the consolidated financial position
of 8x8, Inc., as of March, 31, 2013 and 2012, &eddonsolidated results of its operations andaighdlows for each of the three years in the
period ended March 31, 2013, in conformity with@atting principles generally accepted in the UniB¢altes of America. Also in our opinion,
8x8, Inc., maintained, in all material respectéeeive internal control over financial reporting ef March 31, 2013, based on criteria
established imnternal Control - Integrated Framework by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations offtteadway Commission.

/s/ Moss Adams LLP

San Francisco, California
May 28, 2013
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8X8, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

March 31,
2013 2012
ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivale $ 50,305 $ 22,426
Shor-term investment 1,964 1,942
Accounts receivable, n 3,880 2,279
Inventory 511 581
Deferred cost of goods sc 182 122
Deferred tax ass 6,096 7,730
Other current assets 732 806
Total current asst 63,670 35,886
Property and equipment, r 6,673 3,820
Intangible assets, n 10,194 11,622
Goodwill 25,150 25,150
Non-current deferred tax ass 46,352 53,977
Other assets 572 278
Total assets $ 152,611 $ 130,733
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 5,644 $ 5,476
Accrued compensatic 3,629 3,105
Accrued warrant 452 387
Accrued taxe 1,912 1,472
Deferred revenu 1,236 891
Other accrued liabilities 862 884
Total current liabilitie 13,735 12,215
Non-current liabilities 1,843 68
Total liabilities 15,578 12,283
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Stockholders' equity
Preferred stock, $0.001 par val
Authorized: 5,000,000 shar
Issued and outstanding: no shares atiMait¢ 2013 and 201 - -
Common stock, $0.001 par val
Authorized: 200,000,000 shar
Issued and outstanding: 72,108,980 sterd/0,679,493 shar
at March 31, 2013 and 2012, respecti 72 71
Additional pai-in capital 246,17€ 241,555
Accumulated other comprehensive | (36) (58)
Accumulated deficit (109,179 (123,118
Total stockholders' equity 137,033 118,450
Total liabilities and stockhetd' equity $ 152611 % 130,733

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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8X8, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

Years Ended March 31,

2013 2012 2011
Service revenu $ 98,212 $ 78,382 $ 64,998
Product revenue 9,402 7,421 5,165
Total revenue 107,614 85,803 70,163

Operating expense

Cost of service reveni 22,201 18,065 14,508

Cost of product revent 11,801 9,822 8,115

Research and developm 8,147 6,745 4,819

Sales and marketit 46,244 37,980 31,744

General and administrati 8,619 6,012 4,733

Gain on patent sale (12,965 - -

Total operating expenses 84,047 78,624 63,919

Income from operation 23,567 7,179 6,244
Other income (loss), ni 105 (305 138
Income on change in fair value of warrant liabi - - 167
Income before provision (benefit) for income ta 23,672 6,874 6,549
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 9,733 (62,354 55
Net income $ 13,939 $ 69,228 $ 6,494
Net income per shar

Basic $ 0.20 $ 1.04 $ 0.10

Diluted $ 0.19 $ 099 $ 0.10
Weighted average number of shal

Basic 71,390 66,413 63,087

Diluted 74,700 70,149 65,873

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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8X8, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(IN THOUSANDS

Years Ended March 31,

2013 2012 2011
Net income $ 13939 $ 69,228 $ 6,494
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments in séesr 22 15 (73)
Comprehensive income $ 13961 $ 69,243 $ 6,421

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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8X8, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Balance at March 31, 2010

Issuance of common stock unt
stock plan:

Issuance of common stock
exercise of warral

Issuance of common stock 1
acquisition of Central Host, In

Issuance of restricted common st¢

Repurchase of common stc

Buyback of employee stock optio

Stock compensation char

Unrealized investment lo:

Net income

Balance at March 31, 201

Issuance of common stock unt
stock plan:

Issuance of common stock 1
acquisition of businesses, |
of issuance cos

Repurchase of common stc

Buyback of employee stock optio
and stock purchase rigl

Stock compensation char

Unrealized investment ga

Net income

Balance at March 31, 201:

Issuance of common stock unt
stock plan:

Cost of issuance of common stc

Repurchase of common stc

Stock compensation char

Income tax benefit from sto-
based compensati

Unrealized investment ga

Net income

Balance at March 31, 201:

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARES)

Accumulated

Additional other
Common Stock Paid-in Comprehensive Accumulated

Shares Amount Capital Income (Loss) Deficit Total
63,172,53¢ $ 63 $ 212,077 $ -$ (198,840 $ 13,300
1,869,54¢€ 2 2,272 - - 2,274
293,281 - 88C - - 880
432,276 - 60C - - 600
200,000 - 27¢ - - 278
(3,588,609 3 (7,808 - - (7,811
- - (539 - - (539,
- - 458 - - 458
- - - (73) - (73)
- - - - 6,494 6,494
62,379,03( 62 208,218 (73) (192,346 15,861
2,261,724 2 3,050 - - 3,052
6,692,56¢ 7 31,565 - - 31,572
(653,830 - (2,400 - - (2,400
- - (384, - - (384,
- - 1,506 - - 1,506
- - - 15 - 15
- - - - 69,228 69,228
70,679,49: 71 241,555 (58) (123,118 118,450
1,503,23¢ 1 2,400 - - 2,401
- (43) - - (43)
(73,751 - (419 - - (419,
- - 2,634 - - 2,634
- - 49 - - 49
- - - 22 - 22
- - - - 13,939 13,939
72,108,98( $ 72 $ 246,17€ $ (36) $ (109,179 $ 137,033

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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8X8, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(IN THOUSANDS)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to nehga®vided by
operating activities
Depreciatiol
Amortizatior
Stoc-based compensation expe!
Tax benefit from sto-based compensatic
Change in fair value of warrant liabil
Deferred income tax expense (ben
Othe
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Accounts receivab
Inventory
Other current and noncurrent as
Deferred cost of goods st
Accounts payab
Accrued compensati
Accrued warrani
Accrued taxe
Deferred revent
Other current and noncurrent liabilities

Net cash provided by operating aiitis

Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisitions of property and equipm
Cost of capitalized softwa
Restricted cash decre:
Purchase of investmet
Purchase of strategic investm
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acqt
Proceeds from the sale of property and equipme

Net cash used in investing actigitie

Cash flows from financing activities:
Capital lease paymer
Repurchase of common stc
Buyback of employee stock options and stoaklpase right:
Proceeds from exercise of warre
Tax benefit from sto-based compensatic
Proceeds from (cost of) issuance of commockstoet
Proceeds from issuance of common stock undetayee stock plans
Net cash provided by (used in) ficiag activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

Supplemental and noi-cash disclosures
Issuance of common stock in connection witlugsitions of businesse
Fair value of options assumed in connectidh acquisitions of business
Acquisition of property and equipment, net@amnection with

acquisitions of business

Acquisition of capital lease in connectioniwgtcquisitions of business
Transfer of net assets in purchase of straiegestmen
Assets acquired under capital le
Interest pait
Income taxes pa

Years Ended March 31,

2013 2012 2011
$ 13939$ 69228% 6,494
2,523 1,535 1,235
1,428 788 94
2,634 1,506 458
(49) - -

- - (167,
9,308 (62,422 -
616 561 84
(2,171 (1,059 (358)
27 1,535 29
(30) 489 75
(60) 1 (16)
410 (1,214 916
524 128 278
65 25 31
440 (356 24
345 (197 (475)
1,839 (1,337 (113
31,788 9,211 8,589
(5,678 (2,300 (2,057
(190, - -
- 28 -

- - (2,000

- - (315)

- (713, (998)

- - 6
(5,868 (2,985 (5,364
(86) (275, (38)
(419 (2,550 (7,662
- (384) (539!

- - 880

49 - -
(43) (60) 278
2,458 2,995 2,274
1,959 (274 ~ (4,807
27,879 5952 (1,582
22,426 16,474 18,056
$ 50,305 22426 $_ 16,474
$ - 31,358 600
- 274 -

- 364 80

- 317 -

- - 41

- 45 -

8 5 10
415 94 6

The accompanying notes are an integral part obthessolidated financial statemer
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8X8, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. THE COMPANY AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
THE COMPANY

8x8, Inc. ("8x8" or the "Company") develops and ke&s telecommunications services for Internet prottoor 1P, telephony and video
applications as well as web-based conferencinguaified communications services. The Company wesrjporated in California in February
1987 and was reincorporated in Delaware in Decerh®26.

The Company offers the 8x8 Virtual Office hosted®P&ervice, 8x8 Virtual Contact Center service, 8ual Office Pro unified
communications solution and 8x8 Cloud-Based Compublutions. Between November 2002 and April 2068 ,Company marketed its
services under the Packet8 brand. In May 2009Ctitapany began marketing its services under theb8x8d. As of March 31, 2013, the
Company had more than 32,500 business customerB.leginess customer subscribes to a number auslines and serviceg. physical
phone extensions, contact center seats, virtuahsidns, fax lines, toll free numbers, receptiosidtware, unified communications services,
etc.).

The Company's fiscal year ends on March 31 of eatdndar year. Each reference to a fiscal yedrase notes to the consolidated financial
statements refers to the fiscal year ended Marabf 81e calendar year indicated (for example, 1i€d 3 refers to the fiscal year ended March
31, 2013).

RECLASSIFICATION

Certain amounts previously reported within the Camys consolidated statements of income have lemdassified to conform to the current
period presentation. The reclassification includes:

e Reclassifying expenses related to the Companyés,selistomer service and marketing activities, Wwhiere previously included in
"sales, general and administrative" expenses,aiessand marketing."”

The reclassification had no impact on the Compamgsiously reported income from continuing opemasi, net income or basic or diluted
income per share amounts.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include tw®ants of 8x8 and its subsidiaries. All matendércompany accounts and transactions
been eliminated.

USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of the consolidated financial stetets in conformity with accounting principles geally accepted in the United States
requires management to make estimates and assus it affect the reported amounts of assetslifieb and equity and disclosure of
contingent liabilities at the date of the finanagtdtements and the reported amounts of revenuesx@enses during the reporting period. O
on-going basis, the Company evaluates its estimiaesding, but not limited to, those related &didebts, returns reserve for expected
cancellations, valuation of inventories, income aalkés tax, and litigation and other contingencié® Company bases its estimates on
historical experience and on various other assumgtihat are believed to be reasonable under ttenestances, the results of which form the
basis for making judgments about the carrying valugssets and liabilities that are not readilyappt from other sources. Actual results ci
differ from those estimates under different assimmgtor conditions.

REVENUE RECOGNITION
VolIP service and product revenue
The Company's VolIP service and product revenuerised from the sale of IP business telephonesvani@ service.
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Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Aceting Standards Codification ("ASC") 605-25 reqsithat revenue arrangements with
multiple deliverables be divided into separatesinftaccounting if the deliverables in the arrangetrmeet specific criteria. In addition,
arrangement consideration must be allocated antangdparate units of accounting based on thetiviel&ir values, with certain limitations.
The provisioning of the 8x8 service with the accamgng 8x8 IP telephone constitutes a revenue geraent with multiple deliverables. In
accordance with the guidance of ASC &2fp-the Company allocates 8x8 revenues, includitigation fees, between the 8x8 IP telephones
subscriber services based on the fair value detearty their relative selling prices. Revenuescalied to these devices are recognized as
product revenues during the period of the saletlessllowance for estimated returns during thel@@+rial period. All other revenues are
recognized as license and service revenues whearltited services are provided. The Company regesd=sue net of any sales-related taxes
that are billed to its customers. The Company keBehis approach results in financial statemdrasare more easily understood by users.

Under the terms of the Company's typical subscniptigreement, new customers can terminate theiceawithin 30 days of order placement
and receive a full refund of fees previously pdide Company has determined that it has sufficiestoty of subscriber conduct to make a
reasonable estimate of cancellations within thel@@irial period. Therefore, the Company recognimas subscriber revenue in the month in
which the new order was shipped, net of an allowdoc expected cancellations.

Product revenue

The Company recognizes revenue from product safestich there are no related services to be rexblepon shipment to partners and end
users provided that persuasive evidence of angeraant exists, the price is fixed, title has transid, collection of resulting receivables is
reasonably assured, there are no customer accepegrements, and there are no remaining sigmifiobligations. Gross outbound shipping
and handling charges are recorded as revenuehandlaited costs are included in cost of goods &#derves for returns and allowances for
partner and end user sales are recorded at thefisfépment. In accordance with the ASC 985-6B8,Gompany records shipments to
distributors, retailers, and resellers, where thletrof return exists, as deferred revenue. The @om defers recognition of revenue on sales t
distributors, retailers, and resellers until pradware resold to the end user.

License and related revenue

During fiscal 2013, 2012 and 2011, revenues froftwswe and technology licensing and related arrareggs were limited. The Company
recognizes revenue from license contracts whemecaacelable, non-contingent license agreemenbéeas signed, the software product has
been delivered, no uncertainties surrounding prodoceptance exist, fees from the agreement agd fix determinable, and collection is
probable. The Company uses the relative sellingepriethod to recognize revenue when a license mgrgdncludes one or more elements to
be delivered at a future date if evidence of thatiree selling price of all undelivered elementssex The relative selling price method allocate:
any discount in the arrangement proportionatelyach deliverable on the basis of each deliverabddlisig price. If evidence of the relative
selling price of the undelivered elements doesendt, revenue is deferred and recognized whenealglioccurs. When the Company enters
into a license agreement requiring that the Compeiayide significant customization of the softwareducts, the license and consulting
revenue is recognized using contract accountingeRge from maintenance agreements is recognizablyadver the term of the maintenance
agreement, which in most instances is one yearCidmpany recognizes royalties upon notificatiosal® by its licensees. Revenue from
consulting, training, and development servicegi®gnized as the services are performed.

DEFERRED COST OF GOODS SOLI

Deferred cost of goods sold represents the cgstanfucts sold for which the end customer or distb has a right of return. The cost of the
products sold is recognized contemporaneously thigtrecognition of revenue, when the subscriberalsaspted the service.

CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS

The Company considers all highly liquid investmanith an original maturity of three months or lésde cash equivalents. Management
determines the appropriate categorization of ie$tments at the time of purchase and reevaluagesdssification at each reporting date. The
cost of the Company's investments is determineddapon specific identification.
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The Company's investments are comprised of monelanand mutual funds. At March 31, 2013 and 2@llAnvestments were classified as
available-for-sale and reported at fair value, Hagmon quoted market prices, with unrealized gaim$losses, net of related tax, if any,
included in other comprehensive loss and disclaseal separate component of consolidated stockisbkelguity. Realized gains and losses on
sales of all such investments are reported withéncaption of other income, net in the consolidatatements of operations and computed
using the specific identification method. The Comgs investments in marketable securities are rometton a periodic basis for impairment.
In the event that the carrying value of an investihexceeds its fair value and the decline in vaduetermined to be other-than-temporary, an
impairment charge is recorded and a new cost basike investment is established.

Available-for-sale investments are presented ag-$tiom investments in the balance sheet and viethgusands):

Gross
Amortized Unrealized Estimated
Costs Loss Fair Value
As of March 31, 201
Mutual Funds $ 2,000 $ (36) $ 1,964
Total available-for-sale investments $ 2,000 $ (36) $ 1,964
Included in (in thousands
Short-term investments 1,964
Total $ 1,964
Gross
Amortized Unrealized Estimated
Costs Loss Fair Value
As of March 31, 201,
Mutual Funds $ 2,000 $ (58) $ 1,942
Total available-for-sale investments $ 2,000 $ (58) $ 1,942
Included in (in thousands
Short-term investments 1,942
Total $ 1,942

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE ALLOWANCE

The Company estimates the amount of uncollectibd®ants receivable at the end of each reportinggédrased on the aging of the receivable
balance, current and historical customer trends$,cammunications with its customers. Amounts arigen off only after considerable
collection efforts have been made and the amouatdetermined to be uncollectible. The allowancedfmibtful accounts was $328,000 and
$140,000 at March 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
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INVENTORY

Inventory is stated at the lower of standard omkich approximates actual cost using the firsfinsf-out method, or market. Any write-down
of inventory to the lower of cost or market at these of a fiscal period creates a new cost bhaissubsequently would not be marked up
based on changes in underlying facts and circuroesai©On an on-going basis, the Company evaluatestiory for obsolescence and slow-
moving items. This evaluation includes analysisalés levels, sales projections, and purchasdsioy as well as raw material usage related t
the Company's manufacturing facilities. If the C@mys review indicates a reduction in utility beloarrying value, it reduces inventory to a
new cost basis. If future demand or market conutitiare different than the Company's current eséisjain inventory adjustment may be
required, and would be reflected in cost of goanld & the period the revision is made. Inventogsweomprised of the following:

March 31,
2013 2012
(in thousands
Work-in-process $ 23 % 55
Finished goods 488 526

$ 511 §$ 581

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment are stated at cost lessradated depreciation and amortization. Depreciaiod amortization are computed using
straight-line method. Estimated useful lives otthyears are used for equipment and software wagdiars for furniture and fixtures.
Amortization of leasehold improvements is computsithg the shorter of the remaining facility leasert or the estimated useful life of the
improvements. Property and equipment was compo§éae following:

March 31,
2013 2012
(in thousands
Machinery and computer equipme $ 9,097 $ 8,211
Furniture and fixture 447 252
Licensed softwar 2,136 1,992
Construction in proces - 90
Leasehold improvements 3,343 263
15,023 10,808
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (8,350 (6,988

$ 6,673 $ 3,820

Maintenance, repairs and ordinary replacementstarged to expense. Expenditures for improveméatseixtend the physical or economic
life of the property are capitalized. Gains or &xsen the disposition of property and equipmentecerded in the income from operations.

GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite usdives are not amortized. Goodwill representsdkeess fair value of consideration
transferred over the fair value of net assets aedun business combinations. The carrying valugoafdwill and indefinite lived intangible
assets are not amortized, but are annually testachpairment and more often if there is an indicatf impairment.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are atized on a straight-line basis over the periodefited. The Company reviews the
recoverability of its long-lived assets when eveantshanges in circumstances occur that indicatettie carrying value of the asset or asset
group may not be recoverable. The assessment sibp@mpairment is based on the Company's atidityecover the carrying value of the
asset or asset group from the expected futuregareash flows (undiscounted and without interearghs) of the related operations. If these
cash flows are less than the carrying value of sigslet, an impairment loss is recognized for tfferédnce between estimated fair value and
carrying value. The measurement of impairment megunanagement to estimate future cash flows anththvalue of long-lived assets.
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Amortization expense for the customer relationshigngible asset is included in selling, genera administrative expenses. Amortization
expense for technology is included in cost of sErvevenue. The carrying values of intangible assete as follows (in thousands):

March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012
Gross Net Gross Net
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumulated Carrying
Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount
Technology $ 8,242 $ (1,256 $ 6,986 $ 8,242 $ (432 % 7,810
Customer relationshiy 3,305 (1,054 2,251 3,305 (450; 2,855
Trade names/domains 957 - 957 957 - 957
Total acquired
identifiable
intangible assets $ 12,504 $ (2,310 $ 10,194 $ 12,504 $ (882 % 11,622

At March 31, 2013, annual amortization of intangibksets, based upon our existing intangible agsdtsurrent useful lives, is estimated to b
the following (in thousands):

Amount
2014 $ 1,334
2015 1,325
2016 1,325
2017 1,318
2018 1,070
Thereafter 2,865
Total $ 9,237

WARRANTY EXPENSE

The Company accrues for estimated product warremgy upon revenue recognition. Accruals for produetranties are calculated based or
Company's historical warranty experience adjustedifiy specific requirements.

WARRANT LIABILITY

The Company accounts for issued warrants in acocedaith ASC 480-10 which requires warrants to lassified as permanent equity,
temporary equity or as assets or liabilities. Tlen@any previously had two outstanding warrants wee classified as liabilities. Both of
these warrants expired on December 19, 2010.

RESEARCH, DEVELOPMENT AND SOFTWARE COST

The Company accounts for software to be sold cgretise marketed in accordance with ASC 985Qts of Software to be Sold, Leased or
Marketed ("ASC 985-20") which requires capitalization of z#n software development costs subsequent tostiadleshment of technological
feasibility. The Company defines establishmentcohhological feasibility as the completion of a king model. Software development costs
for software to be sold or otherwise marketed iretiprior to the establishment of technologicatiieiity are included in research and
development and are expensed as incurred. Softfemedopment costs incurred subsequent to the edtatent of technological feasibility
through the period of general market availabilityhe product are capitalized, if material.

At March 31, 2013, the Company capitalized $0.2iomlof software development costs in accordandb wESC 985-20. At March 31, 2013,
there were no accumulated amortization costs ktlateapitalized software. Prior to March 31, 20d&sts incurred by the Company between
the completion of the working model and the pointhich the product is ready for general releasesteen insignificant. Accordingly, all
software development costs for software to be eplatherwise marketed incurred prior to March 3112 have been expensed as incurred.
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The Company accounts for computer software develop®btained for internal use in accordance wiBCA350-40]nternal Use Software
("ASC 35040"), which requires capitalization of certain sadte development costs incurred during the apjdicatevelopment stage. No st
costs were capitalized during the periods presented

ADVERTISING COSTS

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and $&Eemillion, $6.6 million and $5.9 million for ¢hyears ended March 31, 2013, 2012 and
2011, respectively.

SUBSCRIBER ACQUISITION COST¢

Subscriber acquisition costs are expensed as gdtamd include the advertising, marketing, pronmaj@ommissions, rebates and equipment
subsidy costs associated with the Company's effordsquire new subscribers.

INCOME TAXES

Income taxes are accounted for using the assdtaility approach. Under the asset and liabilippeoach, a current tax liability or asset is
recognized for the estimated taxes payable or dafiole on tax returns for the current year. A defbtax liability or asset is recognized for the
estimated future tax effects attributed to tempodifferences and carryforwards. If necessary ditferred tax assets are reduced by the an
of benefits that, based on available evidencs, rtare likely than not expected to be realized.

CONCENTRATIONS

Financial instruments that potentially subject@mmpany to significant concentrations of credik Bensist principally of cash and cash
equivalents, investments and trade accounts rdgeivBhe Company has cash equivalents and invesipodinies that limit the amount of
credit exposure to any one financial institutionl aestrict placement of these funds to financiatitations evaluated as highly credit-worthy.
The Company has not experienced any material los&sting to its investment instruments.

The Company sells its products to business custarat distributors. The Company performs ongoieglicevaluations of its customers'
financial condition and generally does not reqainlateral from its customers. For the years erdacch 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company
wrote-off accounts receivables for approximatehs$@illion and $0.2 million, respectively. For thear ended March 31, 2011, the Company
experienced minimal write-offs for bad debts andhttul accounts. At March 31, 2013 and 2012, ndamasr accounted for more than 10% of
accounts receivable.

The Company outsources the manufacturing of itdvaare products to independent contract manufacufdre inability of any contract
manufacturer to fulfill supply requirements of tBempany could materially impact future operatingutes, financial position or cash flows. If
any of these contract manufacturers fail to perfomtheir obligations to the Company, such failiaréulfill supply requirements of the
Company could materially impact future operatinguits, financial position and cash flows.

The Company also relies primarily on third partywark service providers to provide telephone nuratzerd PSTN call termination and
origination services for its customers. If thesevise providers failed to perform their obligatiotwsthe Company, such failure could materially
impact future operating results, financial positaord cash flows.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The estimated fair value of financial instrumesstslétermined by the Company using available manfketmation and valuation methodolog
considered to be appropriate. The carrying amanirttse Company's cash and cash equivalents, accoecgivable and accounts payable
approximate their fair values due to their shorturiies. The Company's investments are carriddiavalue.
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ACCOUNTING FOR STOCKBASED COMPENSATION

The Company accounts for its employee stock optisiask purchase rights and restricted stock units granted under the 1996 Sock Plan, 1996
Director Option Plan, 1999 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan, the 2006 Stock Plan, the 2003 Contactual Plan, 2012 Equity Incentive Plan and
stock purchase rights under the 1996 Employee Sockhase Plan (collectively "Equity Compensatiang") under the provisions of ASC
718 -Sock Compensation . Under the provisions of ASC 718, share-based emsgtion cost is measured at the grant date, loastte
estimated fair value of the award, and is recoghi&ean expense over the employee's requisitecegueriod (generally the vesting period of
the equity grant), net of estimated forfeitures.

To value option grants and stock purchase righteeuthe Equity Compensation Plans for stock-basetpensation the Company used the
Black-Scholes option valuation model. Fair valutedmined using the Black-Scholes option valuatiadel varies based on assumptions use
for the expected stock prices volatility, expedits] risk free interest rates and future dividgrayments. For fiscal years 2013, 2012 and 201.
the Company used the historical volatility of then@dpany's stock over a period equal to the expdifeedf the options to their fair value. The
expected life assumptions represent the weightedage period stock-based awards are expectingriaimeoutstanding. These expected life
assumptions are established through the revievistrical exercise behavior of stock-based awaathigrwith similar vesting periods. The risk
free interest is based on the closing market kattigion actively traded U.S. treasury securitighénover-the-counter market for the expected
term equal to the expected term of the option. diliglend yield assumption is based on the Compdnstery and expectation of future
dividend payout.

Stock-based compensation expense recognized Ddhsolidated Statements of Operations for fiscaB2@012 and 2011, was measured
based on ASC 718 criteria. Compensation expensalifehare-based payment awards are recognized tigrstraight- line single-option
method and includes the impact of estimated fanfeg. ASC 718 requires forfeitures to be estimateatie time of grant and revised, if
necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfestdiffer from those estimates.

The following table summarizes stock-based comparsaxpense (in thousands):

Years Ended March 31,

2013 2012 2011

Cost of service revent $ 211 % 129 % 50
Cost of product revent - - -
Research and developmt 428 260 111
Sales and marketir 1,363 859 192
General and administrative 632 258 105
Total stoclbased compensation expel

related to employee stock optio

and employee stock purchases-tax 2,634 1,506 458
Tax benefit - - -
Stock based compensation expense relate

employee stock options and employ

stock purchases, net of tax $ 2,634 % 1,506 $ 458

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Comprehensive income, as defined, includes allgbsim equity (net assets) during a period fromowner sources. The difference between
net income and comprehensive income is due to limedagains or losses on investments classifieavaflable-for-sale. Comprehensive
income is reflected in the consolidated statemeht®mprehensive income.

NET INCOME PER SHARE

Basic net income per share is computed by dividieigncome available to common stockholders (nutogray the weighted average number
of vested, unrestricted common shares outstandingglthe period (denominator). Diluted net incopee share is computed on the basis o
weighted average number of shares of common stosktipe effect of dilutive potential common shawesstanding during the period using the
treasury stock method. Dilutive potential
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common shares include outstanding stock optionsamuloyee restricted purchase rights.

Years Ended March 31,
2013 2012 2011
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Numerator:
Net income available to common stockholc $ 13,939 $ 69,228 $ 6,494
Denominator
Common shares 71,390 66,413 63,087
Denominator for basic calculatio 71,390 66,413 63,087
Employee stock optior 2,958 3,327 2,564
Employee restricted purchase rights 352 409 222
Denominator for diluted calculation 74,700 70,149 65,873
Net income per sha
Basic $ 0.20 $ 1.04 $ 0.10
Diluted $ 019 $ 099 % 0.10

The following shares attributable to outstandiragktoptions, restricted purchase rights and wasrasetre excluded from the calculation of
diluted earnings per share because their inclusmud have been antidilutive (in thousands):

Years Ended March 31,

2013 2012 2011
Common stock option 953 435 1,093
Stock purchase rights 16 73 33
969 508 1,126

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENT?¢

In February 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2@3-"Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Reporting Asfiounts Reclassified Out
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income."” Under AB)1302, the guidance requires that an entity report déffect of significar
reclassifications out of accumulated other compnsive income on the respective line items in nebime if the amount being reclassifie
required under U.S. generally accepted accountimgiples (GAAP) to be reclassified in its entirgtynet income. ASU 20182 is effectivi
for all entities that issue financial statementsspnted in conformity with U.S. GAAP and that réptems of other comprehensive incc
prospectively for reporting periods beginning afbmcember 15, 2012. The Company does not belieatettie adoption of ASU 20132 will
have a material impact on the Company's consolid&sults of operation and financial condition.

DEFERRED RENT
In April 2012, the Company entered into an 87-mdea#tse agreement for its new headquarters. Unddetims of the lease agreement:

e the Company received a three month rent holiday frental payments;
e base rent is $130,821 for the 15 months afteregheholiday; and
e rent expense increases 3% each year thereafter.
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The Company also received a $1.7 million allowafioceéenant improvements. In accordance with thelguce in ASC 840-20, Leases, the
Company accounts for its headquarters facility atieg lease as follows:

Rent Holidays. The Company recognizes the related rent expensestmaight-line basis at the earlier of the fissttrpayment or the date of
possession of the leased property. The differert@den the amounts charged to expense and thpaienis recorded as deferred lease
incentives and amortized over the lease term.

Rent Escalations. The Company recognizes escalating rent provisions straight-line basis over the lease term. Tfferdnce between the
amounts charged to expense and the rent paidasdeat as deferred lease incentives and amortizedtbg lease term.

Tenant Improvement Allowance . The tenant improvement allowance is deferredaandrtized on a straight-line basis over the lif¢hef lease
as a reduction to rent expense.

In the second quarter of fiscal 2013, the Compaucgived a $1.7 million allowance for reimbursenfenthe cost of tenant improvements that
the Company included in cash flows from operatiaiivies. At March 31, 2013, total deferred remtluded in other accrued liabilities and
non-current liabilities was $0.2 million and $1.8lion, respectively. At March 31, 2012, total defed rent included in other accrued liabilities
and non-current liabilities was less than $0.1liomlland $0, respectively.

2. INCOME TAXES

For the years ended March 31, 2013, 2012 and 28&XCompany recorded a provision (benefit) for medaxes of $9,733,000, ($62,354,000)
and $55,000, respectively. The provision for tharyended March 31, 2013 was attributable to fedmrdlstate current and deferred taxes. Fc
the year ended March 31, 2012, the Company recadhefit for income taxes of $62.4 million whighs primarily attributable to the
release of a significant portion of the valuatidiowaance related to the Company's deferred taxtaisSehe provision for the year ended March
31, 2011 was attributable to foreign and stateesurtax. The components of the consolidated prowifdr income taxes for fiscal 2013, 2012
and 2011 consisted of the following (in thousands):

March 31,

Current: 2013 2012 2011
Federa $ - $ - $ -
State 473 76 53
Foreign - (8) 2

473 68 55

Deferred
Federa $ 7465 $ (56,665 $ -
State 1,795 (5,757 -
Foreign - - -

Total deferred tax provision (benefit) 9,260 (62,422 -

Income tax provision (benefit) $ 9,733 $ (62,354 $ 55

The Company's income before income taxes inclu@e&® and $3,000 of foreign subsidiary income far fiscal years ended March 31, 2(
2012 and 2011, respectively.
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Deferred tax assets were comprised of the followinghousands):

March 31,

Current deferred tax asst 2013 2012
Net operating loss carryforwar $ 4795 % 6,518
Inventory valuatiol 18 45
Reserves and allowances 2,182 1,167
Net current deferred tax ass 6,995 7,730
Net operating loss carryforwar 48,002 54,783
Research and development and other credit carrgfals 3,026 2,436
Fixed assets and intangibles (2,468 (1,172
Net no-current deferred tax asst 48,560 56,047
Valuation allowance (3,107 (2,070
Total $ 52,448 $ 61,707

As of March 31, 2013 and 2012, management ass#ssedalizability of deferred tax assets basecdheravailable evidence, including a hisi

of taxable income and estimates of future taxaierne. At March 31, 2012, management determinddtthas more likely than not that the
deferred tax assets would be realized with redpetiost federal and state deferred tax assetspefaecertain net operating loss and tax cr
carryforwards. As a result a tax benefit of appmeedely $62.1 million was recorded. At March 31, 20hanagement evaluated the need for a
valuation allowance and determined that that aiitiaddl valuation allowance of approximately $1.0lion was needed. The net change in the
valuation allowance for the years ended March B132and 2012 was an increase of $1.0 million addcaease of $65.0 million, respectively.

The Company's state income taxes payable haverbdaned by the tax benefits associated with emplsyeck option transactions. These
benefits, credited directly to stockholders' equityounted to $49,000 for the year ended Marcl2813 and $0 for the year ended March 31,
2012.

At March 31, 2013, the Company had net operatirsg loarryforwards for federal and state income tabp@ses of approximately $14
million and $95.4 million, respectively, which erpiat various dates beginning in 2014 and contmtiimough 2032. The net operating
carryforwards include approximately $6.7 milliorsudting from employee exercises of ngualified stock options or disqualifying disposit&
the tax benefits of which, when realized, will bec@unted for as an addition to additional paiccapital rather than as a reduction of
provision for income taxes. In addition, at March 2013, the Company had research and developmedit carryforwards for federal a
state tax reporting purposes of approximately $2ildon and $3.7 million, respectively. The federadit carryforwards will expire at varic
dates beginning in 2021 and continuing through 20&3le the California credits will carry forwaradefinitely. A reconciliation of the ti
provision to the amounts computed using the statutioS. federal income tax rate of 34% is as foliqim thousands):

Years Ended March 31,

2013 2012 2011
Tax provision at statutory ra $ 8,048 $ 2,337 $ 2,226
State income taxes before valuation allowal
net of federal effec 846 408 372
Research and development cre (385 (211 (128
Change in valuation allowan: 1,038 (65,042 (2,247
Loss from change in fair value of warrant liabil - - (57)
Compensation/option differenc (207, (87) (291,
Non-deductible compensatic 403 220 75
Other (10) 21 5
$ 9,733 % (62,354 $ 55
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The Company recognizes the tax benefit from untetéx positions if it is more likely than not thiéie tax positions will be sustained on
examination by the tax authorities, based on tblertieal merits of the position. The tax benefitrisasured based on the largest benefit that h
a greater than 50% likelihood of being realizedruptiimate settlement. A reconciliation of the begng and ending amount of unrecognized
tax benefits is as follows (in thousands):

Unrecognized Tax Benefits

2013 2012 2011
Balance at beginning of ye $ 2483 $ 1,726 $ 1,743
Gross increase- tax position in prior perio 73 111 -
Gross decreast tax position in prior perio - - (157
Gross increase- tax positions related to the current y 468 646 140
Settlement: - - -
Lapse of statue of limitations - - -
Balance at end of year $ 3024 $ 2483 $ 1,726

At March 31, 2013, the company had a liability fimrecognized tax benefits of $3.0 million, all dfieh, if recognized, would affect the
company's effective tax rate. The Company doegxpect its unrecognized tax benefits to changefiigntly over the next 12 months.

The Company files U.S. federal and state incomedaxns in jurisdictions with varying statutedliafitations. The Company has not been
under examination by income tax authorities in fatjestate or other foreign jurisdictions. The 198ugh fiscal 2013 tax years generally
remain subject to examination by federal and miasé gax authorities.

The Company's policy for recording interest andabes associated with tax examinations is to reoich items as a component of operating
expense income before taxes. During the fiscal gaded March 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, the Compighyad recognize any interest or
penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits.

Utilization of the Company's net operating loss tmdcredit carryforwards can become subject tolstantial annual limitation due to the
ownership change limitations provided by Sectio 88the Internal Revenue Code and similar statgipions. Such an annual limitation
could result in the expiration or elimination o&thet operating loss and tax credit carryforwaefsite utilization. The Company has perforr
an analysis of its changes in ownership under &e&82 of the Internal Revenue Code. Managementtly believes that the Section 382
limitation will not limit utilization of the carrydrwards prior to their expiration, with the exceptiof certain acquired loss and tax credit
carryforwards of Contactual, Inc.

3. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Fair value is defined as the price that would lmeired to sell an asset or paid to transfer alliglin an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. When detgrgnine fair value measurements for assets antlified required or permitted to be
recorded at fair value, the Company considers timeipal market or the most advantageous markethich it would transact.

The accounting guidance for fair value measuremamuires the Company to maximize the use of obérvaputs and minimize the use of
unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. @asée inputs are inputs that reflect the assumptimarket participants would use in
valuing the asset or liability and are developeskElleon market data obtained from sources indepéndéme Company. Unobservable inputs
are inputs that reflect the Company's assumptibostathe factors that market participants wouldinsealuing the asset or liability developed
based on the best information available in theucirstances.
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The standard establishes a fair value hierarchgdan the level of independent, objective evideswreounding the inputs used to measure fai
value by requiring that the most observable inpetsised when available. A financial instrumenttegarization within the fair value hierarchy
is based upon the lowest level of input that isigigant to the fair value measurement. The falugehierarchy is as follows:

e Level 1 applies to assets or liabilities for whiblere are quoted prices in active markets for idahéissets or liabilities that the
Company has the ability to access at the measuteiagn

e Level 2 applies to assets or liabilities for whtblere are inputs other than quoted prices includégvel 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectlsuch as quoted prices for similar assets or ligslin active markets; quoted prices for
identical assets or liabilities in markets withuifficient volume or infrequent transactions (lest\e markets).

e Level 3 applies to assets or liabilities for whfelr value is derived from valuation techniquesvimich one or more significant inputs
are unobservable, including the Company's own agsans.

The following table presents the Company's faiugdiierarchy for assets and liabilities measurddiavalue on a recurring basis at March 31
2013 and 2012 (in thousands):

Quoted Prices

in Active
Markets Other Significant
for Identical Observable Unobservable Balance at
Assets Inputs Inputs March 31,
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) 2013
Cash equivalent:
Money market fund $ 14,376 $ - $ - $ 14,376
Shor-term investments
Mutual funds 1,964 - - 1,964
Total $ 16,340 $ - $ -9 16,340

Quoted Prices

in Active
Markets Other Significant
for Identical Observable Unobservable Balance at
Assets Inputs Inputs March 31,
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) 2012
Cash equivalent:
Money market fund $ 14,366 $ - $ - $ 14,366
Shor-term investments
Mutual funds 1,942 - - 1,942
Total $ 16,308 $ - $ - $ 16,308
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4. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Guarantees
Indemnifications

In the normal course of business, the Company rgegeato indemnify other parties, including custosnéassors and parties to other
transactions with the Company, with respect toatemnatters such as breaches of representatiw/enants or intellectual property
infringement or other claims made by third partiElsese agreements may limit the time within whinhralemnification claim can be made
the amount of the claim. In addition, the Compaayg &ntered into indemnification agreements witbffisers and directors.

It is not possible to determine the maximum potdratmount of the Company's exposure under thessminiication agreements due to the
limited history of prior indemnification claims arige unique facts and circumstances involved it gacticular agreement. Historically,
payments made by the Company under these agreeh@mtsot had a material impact on the Compangsatipg results, financial position
cash flows. Under some of these agreements, howsee€ompany's potential indemnification liabilitight not have a contractual limit.

Product Warranties

The Company accrues for the estimated costs thabmancurred under its product warranties upoenexe recognition. Changes in the
Company's product warranty liability, which is indked in cost of product revenues in the consoli@atatements of income were as follows
thousands):

Years Ended March 31,

2013 2012 2011
Balance at beginning of ye $ 387 $ 362 $ 331
Accruals for warrantie 611 496 446
Payments (546 (471 (415
Balance at end of year $ 452 % 387 $ 362

Leases

The Company leases its headquarters facility in¥ame, California under an operating lease agreetianexpires in October 2019. The lease
is an industrial net lease with monthly base réi§t180,821 for the first 15 months with a 3% in@e&ach year thereafter, and requires us to
pay property taxes, utilities and normal mainteacwsts.

At March 31, 2013, future minimum annual lease pagts under non-cancelable operating leases wdadl@ss (in thousands):

Year Ending March 31

2014 $ 1,578
2015 1,625
2016 1,674
2017 1,724
2018 and Thereafter 4,698
Total $ 11,299

Rent expense for the years ended March 31, 2012 20d 2011 was $1,195,000, $746,000 and $608;880ectively.
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Capital Leases

The Company has non-cancelable capital lease agresrfor office equipment bearing interest at wasicates. At March 31, 2013, future
minimum annual lease payments under noncancelapitatleases were as follows (in thousands):

Year ending March 31

2014 $ 22
2015 21
2016 7
Total minimum payment 50
Less: Amount representing interest (6)
44

Less: Short-term portion of capital lease obligagio (18)
Long-term portion of capital lease obligations $ 26

Capital leases included in office equipment wergd$200 and $139,000 at March 31, 2013 and 201fectisely. Total accumulated
amortization was $69,000 and $46,000 at March 8132nd 2012, respectively. Amortization expenseaésets recorded under capital lease:
is included in depreciation expense.

Minimum Third Party Customer Support Commitments

In the third quarter of 2010, the Company amentieddntract with one of its third party customeport vendors containing a minimum
monthly commitment of approximately $430,000 effieetApril 1, 2010. The agreement requires a 150uzice to terminate. At March 31,
2013, the total remaining obligation under the cacttwas $2.2 million.

Minimum Third Party Network Service Provider Commitments

The Company entered into contracts with multipladags for third party network service providers géhexpire on various dates in fiscal 2(
through 2016. At March 31, 2013, future minimum aamayments under these third party network sereamtracts were as follows (in
thousands):

Year ending March 31

2014 $ 2,091
2015 1,579
2016 52

Total minimum payments $ 3,722

Legal Proceedings

The Company, from time to time, is involved in wars legal claims or litigation, including patenfringement claims that can arise in
normal course of the Company's operations. Perafiffigture litigation could be costly, could cauke tliversion of management's attention
could upon resolution, have a material adverseceffe the Company's business, results of operatimacial condition and cash flows.

On February 22, 2011, the Company was named adifém a lawsuit, Bear Creek Technologies, In@x8, Inc.et al. , along with 20 other
defendants. On August 17, 2011, the Company vesigised without prejudice from this lawsuit undeieR21 of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure. On August 17, 2011, the Company was aga&in by Bear Creek Technologies, Inc. in thed¢hStates District Court for the
District of Delaware. The Company believes it hectdal and legal defenses to these claims anag&epting a vigorous defense. Further, on
November 28, 2012, the U.S. Patent & Trademarkc@ffiitiated a Reexamination proceeding with a Reeration Declaration explainir

that there is a substantial new question of pabdittg based on four separate grounds, affectimcheclaim of the patent which is the basis for
the complaint filed against the Company. On M&6h2013, the USPTO issued a first Office Actiortia Reexamination, with all claims of
the '722 patent being rejected on each of thedeparate grounds raised in the Request for Reeationn
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There is a pending motion to stay the litigatiosdzhon the possibility that at least one of theat@jns will be upheld. The Company cannot
estimate potential liability in this case at thislg stage of litigation.

On October 25, 2011, the Company was named a dafenda lawsuit, Klausner Technologies, Inc. va€e Corporatiomt al. , along with 3(
other defendants. The lawsuit alleges infringenoémat patent that is now believed to be expireth Ndvember 1, 2011, Klausner dismissed
the Complaint voluntarily and filed new complaiseparating the defendants, including a new Compdajainst 8x8. The Company believe
has factual and legal defenses to these claimssagrésenting a vigorous defense, and has filedraémotions consistent therewith includin
motion to transfer and a motion to dismiss the dainpas filed on February 23, 2012. On MarchZ113, Chief Judge Davis granted 8x8's
Motion to Change Venue, and has thereby orderddhisacase be transferred to the US District Céarthe Northern District of California on
or after April 4, 2013. This case been transfeaecbrdingly. The Company has not answered theplnt. The Company cannot estimate
potential liability in this case at this early stagf litigation.

Sate and Municipal Taxes

From time to time, the Company has received ingsifiom a number of state and municipal taxing eigsnwith respect to the remittance of
taxes. Four states currently are conducting taksofithe Company's records. The Company collectsas accrued for taxes that it believes
are required to be remitted. The amounts that baea remitted have historically been within theraalts established by the Company.

Regulatory

VolP communication services, like the Company's,satbject to less regulation at the federal levahtraditional telecommunication services
and states are preempted from regulating suchcesrnvMany regulatory actions are underway or airegheontemplated by federal and state
authorities, including the FCC, and state regujasmencies. The FCC initiated a notice of publiesmaking in early 2004 to gather public
comment on the appropriate regulatory environmentR telephony which would include the servicesaffer. In November 2004, the FCC
ruled that the VolP service of a competitor andhikir" services are jurisdictionally interstate amat subject to state certification, tariffing and
other legacy telecommunication carrier regulations.

The effect of any future laws, regulations anddtaers on the Company's operations, includingnbtitimited to, the 8x8 service, cannot be
determined. But as a general matter, increasedatimu and the imposition of additional funding iglaltions increases the Company's costs of
providing service that may or may not be recoverdtim the Company's customers which could reauthaking the Company's services less
competitive with traditional telecommunications\dees if the Company increases its retail pricedemreases the Company's profit margins if
it attempts to absorb such costs.

5. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
1996 Stock Plan

In June 1996, the Company's board of directors tadiajhe 1996 Stock Plan ("1996 Plan"). A total 2f0B5,967 shares were reserved for
issuance under the 1996 Plan prior to its expinatioaJune 2006. The 1996 Plan provided for grantiegntive stock options to employees and
nonstatutory stock options to employees, direatoinsultants. The stock option price of incensitack options granted could not be less
the determined fair market value at the date ofitgi@ptions generally vested over four years arttlehten-year term.

1996 Director Option Plan

The Company's 1996 Director Option Plan ("Dired®tan") was adopted in June 1996 and became eféeictiduly 1997. A total of 1,650,000
shares of common stock were reserved for issuamderuhe Director Plan prior to its expiration imé 2006. The Director Plan provided for
both discretionary and periodic grants of nonstaustock options to non-employee directors of@mnpany (the "Outside Directors"). The
exercise price per share of all options grantectuttte Director Plan was equal to the fair markti® of a share of the Company's common
stock on the date of grant. Options generally \bsteer a period of four years. Options granted tts@e Directors under the Director Plan
a ten year term, or shorter upon termination oDatside Director's status as a director.
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1999 Nonstatutory Stock Option Ple

In fiscal 2000, the Company's board of directongraped the 1999 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plang2Blan") with 600,000 shares initially
reserved for issuance thereunder. In fiscal 208 ntumber of shares reserved for issuance wasaseugo 3,600,000 shares by the Company
board of directors. Under the terms of the 199% Réations could not be issued to either officarditectors of the Company unless granted tc
an officer in connection with the officer's initiemployment by the Company. Options generally wkster four years and expire ten years
after grant. The 1999 Plan was not approved bygtihekholders of the Company. In May 2006, the Camjsaboard of directors cancelled the
1999 Plan, and no new grants may be made from388 Plan. There were no outstanding options urideiptan at March 31, 2013.

2006 Stock Plan

In May 2006, the Company's board of directors apgidhe 2006 Stock Plan ("2006 Plan™). The Com[gastpckholders subsequently ado
the 2006 Plan in September 2006, and the 2006H&leaime effective in October 2006. The CompanyvesdeZ, 000,000 shares of the
Company's common stock for issuance under this pldae 2006 Plan provides for granting incentivaktoptions to employees and
nonstatutory stock options to employees, direaoinsultants. The stock option price of incemtitock options granted may not be less tha
the fair market value on the effective date ofghant. Other types of options and awards unde®®® Plan may be granted at any price
approved by the administrator, which generally Wélthe compensation committee of the board otttire. Options generally vest over four
years and expire ten years after grant. In 20692006 Plan was amended to provide for the grquatirstock purchase rights. The 2006 F
expires in May 2016.

2003 Contactual Plan

In the second fiscal quarter of 2012, the Compasyimed the Amended and Restated Contactual, 168. 2ck Option Plan (the "2003
Contactual Plan") and registered an aggregate bB¥4 shares of the Company's common stock thatmagsued upon the exercise of stock
options previously granted under the 2003 Contaétlzan and assumed by the Company when it acq@icedactual. No new stock options or
other awards can be granted under 2003 Contadiamal P

2012 Equity Incentive Plan

In June 2012, the Company's board of directorsayga the 2012 Equity Incentive Plan ("2012 Plamfje Company's stockholders
subsequently adopted the 2012 Plan in July 201?tlen2012 Plan became effective in August 2012e Company reserved 4,100,000 share
of the Company's common stock for issuance undeptan. The 2012 Plan provides for granting itisenstock options to employees and
nonstatutory stock options to employees, direatoionsultants, and granting of stock appreciatigints, restricted stock, restricted stock u
and performance units, qualified performance-baseards and stock grants. The stock option prigaa&ntive stock options granted may not
be less than the fair market value on the effeaate of the grant. Other types of options and dsvander the 2012 Plan may be granted a
price approved by the administrator, which gengnaill be the compensation committee of the bodrdiectors. Options, restricted stock and
restricted stock units generally vest over fourgemnd expire ten years after grant. The 2012 &fgires in June 2022.
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Option, Stock Purchase Right and Restricted StoakitlActivity

Stock Purchase Right activity since March 31, 281€ummarized as follows:

Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Grant-Date Remaining
Number of Fair Market Contractual
Shares Value Term (in Years)
Balance at March 31, 20: 353,72C $ 0.71 3.26
Grantec 836,432 1.72
Vested (175,269 0.96
Forfeited (128,438 1.46
Balance at March 31, 20: 886,445 1.51 3.00
Grantec 563,10C 3.64
Vested (326,683 1.55
Forfeited (156,462 2.99
Balance at March 31, 20: 966,40C 2.50 2.61
Grantec 443,436 5.75
Vested (367,017 2.14
Forfeited (84,244 2.89
Balance at March 31, 2013 958,575 $ 4.11 2.52
Restricted Stock Unit activity since June 22, 2&1&mmarized as follows:
Weighted
Average
Weighted Remaining
Number of Average Contractual
Shares Purchase Price Term (in Years)
Balance at June 22, 20 - $ -
Grantec 25,000 -
Vested - -
Forfeited - -
Balance at March 31, 2013 25,000 $ - 2.47
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Option activity under the Company's stock opticengl since March 31, 2010, is summarized as follows:

Weighted
Shares Average
Shares Subject to Exercise
Available Options Price
for Grant Outstanding Per Share

Balance at March 31, 201( 2,869,411 9,267,40% $ 1.90
Grantec- Options (502,000 502,000 2.69
Stock purchase righ (836,432 - 1.72
Exercisec - (1,204,776 1.48
Canceled/Forfeite 1,595,431 (1,595,431 3.92
Termination of plans (1,572,431 -

Balance at March 31, 201: 1,553,97¢ 6,969,19¢ 1.56
Grantec- Options (2) (685,500 857,474 4.05
Stock purchase rights ( (563,100 - 3.64
Exercisec - (1,645,308 1.35
Canceled/Forfeite 147,027 (147,027 2.07
Termination of plans (76,860 -

Balance at March 31, 201: 375,546 6,034,33¢ 1.90
Change in options available for gr 4,100,00( - -
Grantec- Options (932,000 932,000 5.80
Stock purchase righ (443,436 - 5.75
Restricted Stock Uni (25,000 - -
Exercisec - (835,246 1.49
Canceled/Forfeite- Options 139,545 (139,545 4.00
Canceled/Forfeite- Restricted Stock Unil 4,000 - -
Termination of plans (43,394 -

Balance at March 31, 2013 3,175,261 5,991,544 $ 2.52

(1) The reduction to shares available for graniuides awards granted of 563,100 shares.
(2) The increase to shares subject to optionsandsig includes 171,974 shares subject to optissigsraed under the 2003 Contactual Plan.

Significant option groups outstanding at March 3113 and related weighted average exercise prigeamtractual life information for 8x8,
Inc.'s stock option plans are as follows:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Exercise Remaining Aggregate Exercise Aggregate
Price Contractual Intrinsic Price Intrinsic
Shares Per Share Life (Years) Value Shares Per Share Value
$0.55t0$ 1.2 1,766,50C $ 1.04 47% 10,265,94¢ 1,766,50C $ 1.04 % 10,265,94¢
$1.27t0$1.7. 1,475,90¢ $ 1.53 2.3 7,854,89( 1,475,90¢ $ 1.53 7,854,89(
$1.73t0 $ 3.3! 1,312,347 $ 2.57 5.3 5,623,09¢ 947,413 $ 2.48 4,141,56¢€
$3.36t0$5.8 1,394,79% $ 5.30 8.6 2,166,68( 343,177 $ 4.99 637,058
$5.881t0 $5.89 42,000 $ 5.89 9.6 40,320 4,375 $ 5.89 4,200
5,991,54¢ $ 25,950,931 4,537,36¢ $ 22,903,65¢
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The aggregate intrinsic value in the table abopeasents the total pre-tax intrinsic value (theraggte difference between the closing stock
price of the Company's common stock on March 31324hd the exercise price for in-the-money optidha) would have been received by the
option holders if all in-the-money options had be&ercised on March 31, 2013.

The total intrinsic value of options exercisedhe years ended March 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 waswiBion, $4.6 million and $1.4 million,
respectively. As of March 31, 2013, there was $iifon of unamortized stock-based compensatioreesp related to unvested stock options
and awards which is expected to be recognized awerighted average period of 2.91 years.

Cash received from option exercises and purchdsssaces under the Purchase Plans for the yeaesiévidrch 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 were
$2.4 million, $3.1 million and $2.3 million, resgaely. The total tax benefit attributable to stamitions exercised in the year ended March 3:
2013 was $49,000.

1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company's 1996 Stock Purchase Plan ("Emplotaek Purchase Plan") was adopted in June 1996 exahie effective upon the closing
of the Company's initial public offering in July9B The Company suspended the Employee Stock Fagd¢Han in 2003 and reactivated the
Employee Stock Purchase Plan in fiscal 2005. UttteEmployee Stock Purchase Plan, 500,000 shamswhon stock were initially
reserved for issuance. At the start of each figeaf, the number of shares of common stock suliebie Employee Stock Purchase Plan
increases so that 500,000 shares remain availabissuance. During fiscal 2013, 2012 and 2011,318, 358,166 and 489,501 shares,
respectively, were issued under the Employee Sfackhase Plan. In May 2006, the Company's boaditedtors approved a ten-year
extension of the Employee Stock Purchase PlankBtdaers approved a ten-year extension of the Eyeigl®Gtock Purchase Plan at the 2006
Annual Meeting of Stockholders held September 8862 The Employee Stock Purchase Plan is effeatinié2017.

The Employee Stock Purchase Plan permits eligiipl@yees to purchase common stock through payealuidtions at a price equal to 85% of
the fair market value of the common stock at thgifr@ng of each two year offering period or the efid six month purchase period,
whichever is lower. When the Employee Stock Puretilan was reinstated in fiscal 2005, the offedagod was reduced from two years to
one year. The contribution amount may not exceegézcent of an employee's base compensationdingwommissions, but not including
bonuses and overtime. In the event of a mergdreoCiompany with or into another corporation orghke of all or substantially all of the ass
of the Company, the Employee Stock Purchase Plarides that a new exercise date will be set fohegution under the plan which exercise
date will occur before the date of the merger setisale.

Assumptions Used to Calculate Sock-Based Compensation Expense

The fair value of each of the Company's option tg&ias been estimated on the date of grant usinBlttk-Scholes pricing model with the
following assumptions:

Years Ended March 31,

2013 2012 2011
Expected volatility 70% 72% 69%
Expected dividend yiel - - -
Risk-free interest rat 0.5% to 0.8% 0.3% to 1.2% 1.2% to 2.0%
Weighted average expected option te 5.3 year: 4.8 years 4.3 years
Weighted average fair value of options grar $ 3.32 % 2.30 $ 1.45
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The estimated fair value of stock purchase righasigd under the Purchase Plans were estimategl th&irBlack-Scholes pricing model with
the following weighted-average assumptions:

Years Ended March 31,

2013 2012 2011
Expected volatility 40% 73% 61%
Expected dividend yiel - - -
Risk-free interest rat 0.14% 0.10% 0.23%
Weighted average expected rights t¢ 0.75 year 0.75 year 0.75 year
Weighted average fair value of rights grar $ 1.78 $ 1.67 $ 0.79

STOCK REPURCHASE

On October 19, 2010, the Company's board of dire@athorized the Company to create a new stoakchpse plan to purchase an additiona
$10.0 million of its common stock from time to timatil October 19, 2011. The stock repurchase piquired on October 19, 2011. The stock
repurchase activity since March 31, 2010 is sunmzedras follows:

Weighted
Average
Shares Price Amount
Repurchased Per Share Repurchased

Balance at March 31, 20: 282,376 $ 075 $ 211,741
Repurchase of common stock 3,588,60¢ 2.30 7,810,94¢
Balance at March 31, 20: 3,870,98¢ 2.26 8,022,69(
Repurchase of common stock 301,800 2.95 888,964
Balance at March 31, 20: 4,172,78¢ 2.23 8,911,654
Repurchase of common stock - - -
Balance at March 31, 2013 4,172,785 $ 223 $ 8,911,654

The total purchase prices of the common stock wased and retired were reflected as a reductionnisolidated stockholders' equity during
the period of repurchase.

In fiscal 2012, the Company also repurchased inttamosactions at current market prices 352,030eshaith a total repurchase price of $1.5
million from former and current members of the lbaf directors outside of the stock repurchase.plan

In fiscal 2013, the Company also withheld 73,754reh related to net share settlement of restratteak awards with a total price of $0.4
million.

6. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN
401(k) Savings Plan

In April 1991, the Company adopted a 401(k) savipigs (the "Savings Plan") covering substantiallphits U.S. employees. Eligible
employees may contribute to the Savings Plan fiwgir tompensation up to the maximum allowed byitibernal Revenue Service. In January
2007, the Company reactivated the employer matotamgribution. The matching contribution is 100%eaich employee's contributions in
each year, not to exceed $1,500 per annum. Thehingtexpense in 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $0.3 mjl$6.3 million and $0.2 million,
respectively. The Savings Plan does not allow eygg@aontributions to be invested in the Company‘srmaon stock.
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7. SEGMENT REPORTING

ASC 280 "Segment Reporting " establishes annual and interim reporting starslfodan enterprise's business segments and releseldsures
about its products, services, geographic areasrajor customers. Under ASC 280, the method forrdeténg what information to report is
based upon the way management organizes the oppsagments within the Company for making operatiegjsions and assessing financial
performance. The Company has one reportable segment

The following table presents net revenues by groggbf similar products (in thousands):

Years Ended March 31,

2013 2012 2011
8x8 service, equipment and ot! $ 107,614 $ 85,800 $ 70,056
Technology licensing and related software - 3 107
Total revenues $ 107,614 $ 85803 $ 70,163

Revenue from customers outside the United Stateswatematerial for the fiscal years ended March281,3, 2012 and 2011.
All of the Company's property and equipment wasied in the United States.

8. ACQUISITIONS

Zerigo, Inc.

On June 16, 2011, the Company entered into an mgrewvith Zerigo, Inc. ("Zerigo"), a provider ofoeld services pursuant to which the
Company acquired 100% of the outstanding stockeoigd from its sole shareholder. Under the termhefagreement, the Company paid the
selling shareholder $750,000 in cash and issue(r38%&hares of its common stock. In addition, tbenffany agreed to pay the selling
shareholder an earn-out of up to $500,000 cash tigachievement of specified software developmeélgstones by December 31, 2011. As
of December 31, 2011, the shareholder had achignespecified software development milestones hadarn-out of $500,000 had been paic
to the shareholder.

The fair value of the consideration transferredsisted of the following (in thousands):

Cash $ 750
Contingent paymen 441
Fair value of shares of stock issued 750

Total purchase price $ 1,941

The Company recorded the acquired tangible andifadne intangible assets and liabilities assurbhaded on their estimated fair values. The
excess of the consideration transferred over tiyecagte fair values of the assets acquired anilifie® assumed is recorded as goodwill. The
amount of goodwill recognized is primarily attribbte to the operating synergies expected to b&eekthrough the acquisition of Zerigo and
the workforce of the acquired business. The fdueassigned to identifiable intangible assets imedwas based on estimates and assumg
made by management. Intangible assets will be &madrbn a straight-line basis.
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The estimated fair values of the assets acquirddialilities assumed are as follows (in thousands)

Estimated
Fair Value
Assets acquirec
Cast $ 35
Property and equipment, 1 25
Intangible assets 1,046
Total assets acquired 1,106
Liabilities assumei
Accounts payabl (8)
Deferred income tax liability, non-current (413
Total liabilities assumed (421
Net identifiable assets acqui 685
Goodwill 1,256
Total purchase price $ 1,941

Contactual, Inc.

On September 15, 2011, the Company acquired 10G#eaiutstanding shares of capital stock of Couatdgcinc. ("Contactual”), a provider of
cloud-based call center and customer interactionag@ment solutions, pursuant to the terms of a enexgreement between the Company anc
Contactual. The Company issued a total of 6,484sb@0es of common stock as acquisition considerafibis figure reflects a 215,100 share
reduction related to 8x8's agreement to pay statiéx withholding on behalf of five former Contaat executives under the terms of the
merger agreement. Approximately 1,005,000 of tlereshof common stock issued as acquisition coretiderare being held in escrow as
security for the indemnification obligations of tBentactual stockholders under the merger agreermbatestimated fair value of the
consideration transferred consisted of the follaim thousands):

Cash $ 892
Fair value of shares of stock isst 30,608
Fair value of options 274

Total purchase price $ 31,774

The Company recorded the acquisition of tangibktidentifiable intangible assets and liabilities@ased based on their estimated fair values
The excess of the consideration transferred oeeatjyregate fair values of the assets acquirediailities assumed is recorded as goodwill.
The amount of goodwill recognized is primarily ditrtable to the operating synergies expected telkzed through the acquisition of
Contactual and the workforce of the acquired bissin€he fair value assigned to identifiable inthfegassets acquired was based on estimate
and assumptions made by management. Intangiblesasgitidbe amortized on a straight-line basis.
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The estimated fair values of the assets acquirddialilities assumed are as follows:

Estimated
Fair Value
Assets acquirec

Cast $ 894
Restricted cas 28
Accounts receivable, n 572
Prepaids and other ass 265
Property and equipment, 1 347
Intangible assets 11,150
Total assets acquired 13,256

Liabilities assume:
Accounts payabl (2,059
Accrued compensatic (1,255
Deferred revenu (253
Other accrued liabilities (166
Total current liabilitie (3,733
Deferred income tax liability, n-current (301
Accrued liabilities, non-current (131
Total liabilities assumed (4,165
Net identifiable assets acqui 9,091
Goodwill 22,683
Total purchase price $ 31,774

9. STRATEGIC INVESTMENT

In April 2010, the Company invested $250,000 casimsferred its wholly-owned French research aneld@ment subsidiary, 8x8 Europe
SARL, and granted a non-exclusive license to ae@aB technology, to Stonyfish, a privately-heldngany in Los Altos, California in
exchange for a 17% interest in Stonyfish followitsginitial round of external fundraising.

In February 2012, the Company reviewed the recdiléyaof its strategic investment due to a chamgeircumstances that indicated that the
carrying value of the asset may not be recovera#{dehe change in circumstance was deemed to lee-tithn-temporary, the Company has
recorded an impairment charge and written the invest down to its fair value of $0.

10. PATENT SALE

In June 2012, the Company entered into a patechpse agreement and sold a family of patentshiodparty for approximately $12.0
million plus a future payment of up to a maximun$8f0 million based on future license agreementsred into by the third party purchaser.
In February 2013, the third party entered intoasate license agreement with its customer; thezethe Company earned an additional $1.0
million under the patent purchase agreement. Utideterms and conditions of the patent purchaseeaggnt, the Company has retained
certain limited rights to continue to use the ptefhe patent purchase agreement contains repatisas and warranties customary for
transactions of this type.
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Service revenu
Product revenue

Total revenue
Operating expense

Cost of service reven
Cost of product revent
Research and developm
Sales and marketit
General, and administrati
Gain on patent sale
Total operating expenses
Income from operation
Other income (loss), net
Income before provisior
(benefit) for income taxe
Provision (benefit) for
income taxes (1)

Net income

Net income per shar

Basic
Diluted

Shares used in per share calculatic

Basic
Diluted

8X8, INC.
CONSOLIDATED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)
(UNAUDITED)

QUARTER ENDED

March 31, Dec. 31, Sept.30, June 30, March 31, Dec.31, Sept.30, June 30,
2013 2012 2012 2012 2012 2011 2011 2011

$ 25,905% 24,958% 24,177$ 23,172 % 22,148% 21,200$% 18,013% 17,021

2,746 2,382 2,194 2,080 2,051 2,078 1,806 1,486

28,651 27,340 26,371 25,252 24,199 23,278 19,819 18,507

5,217 5,473 5,825 5,686 5,301 4,890 4,059 3,815

3,216 3,203 2,672 2,710 2,355 2,584 2,613 2,270

2,174 2,117 2,030 1,826 1,843 1,955 1,540 1,407

13,042 11,651 11,010 10,541 10,904 9,816 9,076 8,184

2,349 2,136 2,070 2,064 1,640 1,481 1,666 1,225

(1,000 - - (11,965 - - - -

24,998 24,580 23,607 10,862 22,043 20,726 18,954 16,901

3,653 2,760 2,764 14,390 2,156 2,652 865 1,606

15 73 9 8 (363 49 (11) 20

3,668 2,833 2,773 14,398 1,793 2,601 854 1,626

2,007 913 1,032 5,781 (62,070 15 22 (321

$ 1661% 1920% 1,741$% 8617 % 63,863 % 2,586 $ 832 ¢ 1,947

$ 0.02 $ 0.03 $ 0.02 $ 0.12 $ 091 % 0.04 $ 0.01% 0.03

$ 0.02 $ 0.03 $ 0.02 $ 0.12 $ 0.87 $ 0.04 $ 0.01% 0.03

71,998 71,611 71,261 70,717 70,205 69,445 63,710 62,264

75,053 74,988 74,558 74,110 73,648 73,214 67,759 65,808

(1) Comparability affected by the increase in the vidduneallowance related to the deferred tax asséttwiesulted in an increase in the provision faoime taxes of
$1.0 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018dathe income tax benefit of $62.1 million recordedhe fourth quarter of 2012 related to the reteaf deferred

tax asset valuation allowance.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Repgrtin

There have not been any changes in the Compangteah control over financial reporting, as suaimtés defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934rasnded (the "Exchange Act") during the most refiecal quarter that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materiallieaf, the Company's internal control over financédorting.

Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of DisclosarControls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Clagécutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, fesluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures, as such tedwefised in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) undeEttehange Act, as of March 31, 2013.
Based on such evaluation, our Chief Executive @©ffemd Chief Financial Officer have concluded thatpf March 31, 2013, our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over FirariReporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting, as such term is defined in
Rules 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Bader the supervision and with the participatdour management, including our
principal executive officer and principal financafficer, we conducted an assessment of the effmmtiss of our internal control over financial
reporting based on criteria established in the &aork inlnternal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Basethisrassessment, our management concluded thiateitaal control over financial
reporting was effective as of March 31, 2013.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @etaisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agject to the risks that controls may become inadegbecause of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

Moss Adams LLP, an independent registered pubtowaating firm has audited and reported on the didesed financial statements of 8x8,
Inc. and on the effectiveness of our internal agrdwer financial reporting. The report of Moss AtLLP is contained in Item 8 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
PART IlI

Certain information required by Part Il is omittedm this Report on Form 10-K. The Registrant \ii#t its definitive Proxy Statement for its
Annual Meeting of Stockholders pursuant to Regaiafi4A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, raeraded, not later than 120 days after
the end of the fiscal year covered by this Regort] certain information included in the 2013 Pr&tgitement is incorporated herein by
reference.

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE

Information regarding our directors and corporateggnance will be presented in our definitive prexgtement for our 2013 Annual Meeting
of Stockholders to be held on or about July 2532®ich information is incorporated into this reploy reference. However, certain
information regarding current executive officerarid under the heading "Executive Officers” in Iteérof Part | hereof is also incorporated by
reference in response to this Iltem 10.
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We have adopted a Code of Conduct and Ethics gdiea to our principal executive officer, princig@mancial officer and all other employees
at 8x8, Inc. This Code of Conduct and Ethics ig@b@ the corporate governance section of our ikehbs http://investors.8x8.com. We intend
to satisfy the disclosure requirement under Ited ®f Form 8-K regarding an amendment to, or wafkan, a provision of this Code of
Conduct and Ethics by posting such informatiorhim ¢orporate governance section on its websité@t/mvestors.8x8.com.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information relating to executive compensation wél presented in our definitive proxy statemenwofiar2013 Annual Meeting of Stockhold:
to be held on or about July 25, 2013, which infdiorais incorporated into this report by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Information relating to securities authorized fegsuiance under equity compensation plans and etfegmation required to be provided in
response to this item will be presented in ourrdiifie proxy statement for our 2013 Annual Meetofdstockholders to be held on or

about July 25, 2013, which information is incorgerhinto this report by reference. In addition,afgxions of our equity compensation plans
are set forth in Part I, Item 8 "FINANCIAL STATEM¥TS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA - NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- Note 5 STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Information required to be provided in responsthte item will be presented in our definitive prostatement for our 2013 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be held on or about July 25, 20&8¢h information is incorporated into this repbytreference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information required to be provided in responsthis item will be presented in our definitive prostatement for our 2013 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be held on or about July 25, 20&8¢h information is incorporated into this repbytreference.

PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(2)(2) Financial StatementsThe information required by this item is includedtem 8.
(a)(2) Financial Statement Scheduleshe information required by this item is includedtem 8.

(a)(3) Exhibits.The documents listed on the Exhibit Index appeairirthis Report are filed herewith or hereby inagied by reference.
Copies of the exhibits listed in the Exhibit Indei be furnished, upon request, to holders or liiersd owners of the Company's common
stock.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{dhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyigt 8x8, Inc., a Delaware corporati
has duly caused this Report on FormKL@ be signed on its behalf by the undersigneeketinto duly authorized, in the City of San Josate
of California, on May 28, 2013.

8X8, INC.

By: /sl BRYAN R. MARTIN
Bryan R. Matrtin,
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENT, that each perstiose signature appears below constitutes andrapryan R. Martin ar
Daniel Weirich, jointly and severally, his attorisen-fact, each with the power of substitution, for himany and all capacities, to sign i
amendments to this Report on FormK,0and to file the same, with exhibits thereto aitder documents in connection therewith, with
Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ragifgimd confirming all that each of said attorneyant, or his substitute or substitutes, 1
do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the SecuritiesExathange Act of 1934, this Report on FormKLBas been signed by the following persor
the capacities and on the date indicated:

Signature Title Date
/s BRYAN R. MARTIN Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (Principal May 28, 2013
Bryan R. Martin Executive Officer)
/s/ DANIEL WEIRICH Chief Financial Officer and Secretary May 28, 2013
Daniel Weirich (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
[s/ GUY L. HECKER Director May 28, 2013

Guy L. Hecker, Jr.

/sl MANSOUR SALAME Director May 28, 2013
Mansour Salame

/sl ERIC SALZMAN Director May 28, 2013
Eric Salzman

/sl VIKRAM VERMA Director May 28, 2013
Vikram Verma
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Exhibit
Number

2.1(a)

3.1
3.2 (b)
10.1 (c)

10.2

10.3 (d)*
10.4 (e)*
10.5 (f)*
10.5.1 (g)*
10.6
10.7 (h)*

10.8

10.9 (i)*
10.10 (j)*
10.11
10.12 (k)
10.13 (I)
10.14 (m)*
10.15 (n)*
10.16(0)*
10.17(p)*
10.18(p)*
10.19(q)*
10.20(r)*
10.21(r)*
10.22(s)*

21.1

23.1

24.1

31.1

31.2

32.1

32.2

101.INS**
101.SCH**
101.CAL**
101.DEF**
101.LAB**
101.PRE**

8X8, INC.
EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Title

Agreement and Plan of Merger Reorganization daggde®nber 11, 2011 by and among Registrant, Cabkiexgter
Corporation, Contactual, Inc., and Leapfrog VerguieL.P., as the Representative

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Registraiated August 22, 2012*** PDF provided as courtesy
Bylaws of Registrant

Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Regig and each of its directors and officers

Reserved

1996 Stock Plan, as amended, and form of Stoclo@ptgreement

Amended and Restated 1996 Employee Stock Purcliased® amended, and form of Subscription Agreement
1996 Director Option Plan, as amended and Formireicibr Option Agreement

Form of Director Option Agreement for 1996 Direc@ption Plan

Reserved

2006 Stock Plan, as amended

Reserved

Form of 2006 Stock Option Agreement under the 28@&k Plan

Form of Notice of Award of Stock Purchase Right &tdck Purchase Agreement under the 2006 Stock Plan
Reserved

Lease dated April 27, 2012, between Registrant@he| Office Holdings, LLC

Acquisition Agreement between 8x8, Inc., Centrabtitnc. and Andrew Schwabecher

Employment offer letter agreement between 8x8, dncl Debbie Jo Severin dated March 5, 2009
Employment offer letter agreement between 8x8, amcl Kim Niederman dated February 3, 2011

Annual Executive Incentive Plan.

Amended and Restated Contactual, Inc. 2003 Stotio®Plan

Form of Stock Option Agreement under the AmendetiRestated Contactual, Inc. 2003 Stock Option Plan
2012 Equity Incentive Plan

Form of Stock Option Agreement under the 2012 Bguitentive Plan

Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock Unit Award akgreement under the 2012 Equity Incentive Plan
Management Incentive Bonus Plan

Subsidiaries of Registrant. PDF provided as courtesy

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouring.  PDF provided as courtesy

Power of Attorney (included on page 71)

Certification of Chief Executive Officer of the Retgant pursuant to Rule 13a-14 PDF provided as courtesy
Certification of Chief Financial Officer of the Risgrant pursuant to Rule 13a-14 PDF provided as courtesy

Certification of Chief Executive Officer of the Rstzant pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adoptedupntdo Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.PDF provided as courtesy

Certification of Chief Financial Officer of the Ristrant pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adoptedupntdo Section 90
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. PDF provided as courtesy

XBRL Instance Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase

* Indicates management contract or compensatory @iarrangement.
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**Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, thederiactive data files are deemed not filed or pa# kegistration statement or prospectus for
purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the SecuritiesoA&033 or Section 18 of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934 and otherwise are not subje:
liability.

***Ejled herewith.

(a) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 2.1 to theiRegnt's Form 8-K filed September 14, 2011 (Fie R00-21783).
(b) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 3.2 to theiBegnt's Report on Form 8-K filed December 19,2(file No. 000-21783).

(c) Incorporated by reference to the same numberedbiexid the Registrant's Registration Statemerffamm S-1 Commission File
No. 333-15627), as amended, declared effectivelJul@97.

(d) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 4.1 to theiRegnt's Form S-8 filed November 7, 2000 (File 883-49410).

(e) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.5 to thgiReant's Form S-8 filed September 26, 2006 (Nite 333-137599).

(H Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.3 to thgiReant's Form S-8 filed August 28, 2003 (File [983-108290).

(9) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 4.2 to theiRegnt's Form S-8 filed November 7, 2000 (File 883-49410).

(h) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.7 to thgiReant's Form 10-K filed May 26, 2009 (File N@0321783).

() Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 to thgiReant's Form 10-Q filed February 7, 2007 (File R00-21783).

() Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.10 to tlegiBtrant's Form 10-K filed May 26, 2009 (File N@0-21783).

(k) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.12 to tlegiBtrant's Form 10-K filed May 24, 2012 (File 800-21783).

() Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.12 to tlegiBtrant's Form 10-K filed May 27, 2010 (File N@0-21783).

(m) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.13 to tlegiBtrant's Form 10-K filed May 23, 2011 (File N@0-21783).

(n) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.14 to tlegiBtrant's Form 10-K filed May 23, 2011 (File N@0-21783).

(o) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.15 to tlegiBrant's Form 10-Q filed July 22, 2011 (File R80-21783).

(p) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.16 and 2@olthe Registrant's Form S-8 filed Septembe203,1 (File No. 333-176895).
(q) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.19 to tlegiBtrant's Form S-8 filed August 28, 2012 (File R83-183597).

(r) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.20 and 1@2the Registrant's Form S-8 filed August 28,2(Hile No. 333-183597).
(s) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.19 to tlegiBtrant's Form 10-Q filed January 25, 2013 (Rite 000-21783).
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Exhibit 3.1

Delaware

The First Sate

I, JEFFREY W. BULLOCK, SECRETARY OF STATE OF THE SATE OF DELAWARE, DO HEREBY CERTIFY THE ATTACHED I¢
A TRUE AND CORRECT COPY OF THE RESTATED CERTIFICATEF "8X8, INC.", FILED IN THIS OFFICE ON THE TWENTY -

SECOND DAY OF AUGUST, A.D. 2012, AT 2:21 O'CLOCKN®.

A FILED COPY OF THIS CERTIFICATE HAS BEEN FORWARDEDTO THE NEW CASTLE COUNTY RECORDER OF DEED:!

sl Jeffrey W. Bullock

Jeffrey W. Bullock, Secretary of State

2676673 8100 AUTHENTICATION: 9800498

Date: 08-23-12

120960738

You may verify this certificate online
at corp.delaware.gov/authver.shtml




State of Delawart

Secretary of Stat

Division of Corporations
Delivered 03:03 PM 08/22/201
FILED 02:21 PM 08/22/2012
SRV 12096073 2676673 FILE

RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF
8X8, INC.

(Pursuant to Sections 242 and 245 of the
General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware)

8x8, Inc., a corporation organized and existingeaurathd by virtue of the provisions of the Generatgoration Law of the State of Delaw
(the "_General Corporation Laly,

DOES HEREBY CERTIFY:

FIRST: That the name of this corporation is 8x8, Inc. #rat this corporation was originally incorporatagguant to the General Corporai
Law on October 24, 1996.

SECOND: That the Board of Directors duly adopted resolwigmoposing to amend and restate the Certificaténodrporation of thi
corporation, as amended to date, declaring saithdment and restatement to be advisable and indbeifiterests of this corporation anc
stockholders, and authorizing the appropriate efficof this corporation to solicit the consent lné stockholders therefor, which resolu
setting forth the proposed amendment and restatemas follows:

RESOLVED, that the Restated Certificate of Incorporationhi$ torporation be amended and restated in itsegytas follows:
ARTICLE |

The name of this corporation is 8x8, Inc. (the 'fftwation™).
ARTICLE Il

The address of the Corporation's registered offidee State of Delaware is 1209 Orange Streetmifiton, Delaware 19801, County of N
Castle. The name of its registered agent at sudteasl is The Corporation Trust Company.

ARTICLE Il

The Corporation shall have perpetual existence. idtare of the business or purposes to be conductpdomoted by the Corporation is
engage in any lawful act or activity for which corations may be organized under the General Catiparaaw.




ARTICLE IV

The Corporation is authorized to issue two clasdeshares to be designated respectively CommorkStod Preferred Stock. Each shar
Common Stock shall have a par value of $0.001 aucti share of Preferred Stock shall have a par \&l$8.001. The total number of she
of Common Stock this Corporation shall have authiotd issue is 200,000,000, and the total numbestadres of Preferred Stock

Corporation shall have authority to issue is 5,000,

The Preferred Stock initially shall be undesignadsdo series. Any Preferred Stock not previouslsighated as to series may be issued
time to time in one or more series pursuant tosaltgion or resolutions providing for such issudydadopted by the Board of Direct
(authority to do so being hereby expressly veatetthé Board), and such resolution or resolutioral stiso set forth the voting powers, full
limited or none, of each such series of PreferredtiSand shall fix the designations, preferences ratative, participating, optional or otl
special rights and qualifications, limitations estrictions of each such series of Preferred Stdhk. Board of Directors is authorized to ¢
the designation, rights, preferences, privileges r@strictions granted to or imposed upon any whoflissued series of Preferred Stock
within the limits and restrictions stated in anywalkition or resolutions of the Board of Directonggmally fixing the number of shar
constituting any series of Preferred Stock, togase or decrease (but not below the number of sledr@ny such series then outstanding
number of shares of any such series subsequdm isdue of shares of that series.

Each share of Preferred Stock issued by the Cadipordf reacquired by the Corporation (whetherregemption, repurchase, conversio
Common Stock or other means), shall upon such wisitign resume the status of authorized and ueisshares of Preferred Stc
undesignated as to series and available for designand issuance by the Corporation in accordavittethe immediately preceding paragre

The Corporation shall from time to time in accorcamwith the laws of the State of Delaware increageauthorized amount of its Comn
Stock if at any time the number of shares of Comr8tack remaining unissued and available for isseat@ll not be sufficient to pert
conversion, if applicable, of the Preferred Stock.

ARTICLE V

Elections of directors need not be by written Halloless a stockholder demands election by writi@ifot at the meeting and before voi
begins or unless the Bylaws of the Corporationlstaprovide.

ARTICLE VI

The number of directors which constitute the whaderd of Directors of the Corporation shall be @xexclusively by one or more resoluti
adopted from time to time by the Board of Directors




ARTICLE VII

In furtherance and not in limitation of the powemnferred by statute, the Board of Directors isreggply authorized to make, alter, amen
repeal the Bylaws of the Corporation.

ARTICLE VIII

() To the fullest extent permitted by the GendZatporation Law as the same exists or as may herehé amended, a director of
Corporation shall not be personally liable to th@gration or its stockholders for monetary damdgebreach of fiduciary duty as a director.

(b) The Corporation may indemnify to the fullestemt permitted by law any person made or threatéodse made a party to an actior
proceeding, whether criminal, civil, administratige investigative, by reason of the fact that his,thstator or intestate is or was a dire:
officer, employee or agent of the Corporation oy anedecessor of the Corporation or serves or deaveany other enterprise as a dire
officer, employee or agent at the request of thep@mation or any predecessor to the Corporation.

(c) Neither any amendment nor repeal of this Aetielll, nor the adoption of any provision of thioKporation's Certificate of Incorporati
inconsistent with this Article VIII, shall eliminator reduce the effect of this Article VIII, in pct of any matter occurring, or any actiol
proceeding accruing or arising or that, but foistiiticle VIII, would accrue or arise, prior to suamendment, repeal or adoption o
inconsistent provision.

ARTICLE IX

Meetings of stockholders may be held within or withthe State of Delaware, as the Bylaws may pevidb action may be taken by
stockholders of the Corporation without a meetiagg no consents in lieu of a meeting may be takesuant to Section 228 of the Gen
Corporation Law. The books of the Corporation maykbépt (subject to any provision contained in tfa¢uses) outside of the State of Delav
at such place or places as may be designated inoertd time by the Board of Directors or in the 8yk of the Corporation.

ARTICLE X

Vacancies created by newly created directorshipsated in accordance with the Bylaws of this Coaion, may be filled by the vote o
majority, although less than a quorum, of the daecthen in office, or by a sole remaining directo

ARTICLE XI

Advance notice of new business and stockholder natiains for the election of directors shall be giuethe manner and to the extent prov
in the Bylaws of the Corporation.




ARTICLE XII

The Corporation reserves the right to amend, adteange or repeal any provision contained in thegtificate of Incorporation, in the man
now or hereafter prescribed by statute, and dtitsigonferred upon stockholders herein are grasubgbct to this reservation.

* k *

THIRD: That the foregoing amendment and restatement waegd at an annual meeting of stockholders byhttiders of the requisi
number of shares of said corporation.

FOURTH: That said Restated Certificate of Incorporationjcltrestates and integrates and further amendgrthasions of this corporatiot
Certificate of Incorporation, has been duly adoptedccordance with Sections 242 and 245 of thee@éiCorporation Law.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Restated Certificate of Incorporation has bexetcuted by a duly authorized officer of this argiion on thi
22"dday of August, 2012.

/s/ Bryan R. Martin
Bryan R. Martin,
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer







8x8, Inc.

SUBSIDIARIES OF REGISTRANT

Name Jurisdiction of Incorporation
Netergy Microelectronics, Inc. California, USA
Visit, Inc. California, USA
Central Host, Inc. California, USA
Contactual, Inc. Delaware, USA

Zerigo, Inc. Colorado, USA

EXHIBIT 21.1




Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRbgistration Statements (Form S-3 No. 333-18748d, Form B
Nos. 33:-30943, 333-15627, 333-50519, 333-49410, 333-663388-90172, 333-108290, 333-118642, 32B337
333-137599, 333-176895 and 3B83597) of our report dated May 28, 2013, relatinghe consolidated financ
statements of 8x8, Inc., and the effectivenessitarmal control over financial reporting of 8x8clnappearing in th
Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended M&8th2013.

/s/ Moss Adams LLP

San Francisco, California
May 28, 2013




Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIERCHANGE ACT OF 1934
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Bryan R. Martin, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16f&x8, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadorany untrue statement of a material fact or dondttate a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmislieading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer anar¢ responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant andénav

A. Designed such disclosure controls and procedoresaused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatheg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

B. Designed such internal control over financialoming, or caused such internal control over finaheporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atmuoce with generally accepted accounting princjples

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registram@asure controls and procedures and presentdsineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures as of the end of the period coumyehis report based on such
evaluation; and

D. Disclosed in this report any change in the regrgts internal control over financial reportingttoccurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofisttal quarter in the case of an annual repod tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasir's internal control over financial reportinggan

5. The registrant's other certifying officer anbalve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thataumnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

A. All significant deficiencies and material weakaes in the design or operation of internal cordx@r financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig's ability to record, process, summarize aport financial information; ar

B. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveanagement or other employees who have a significée in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

May 28, 2013

/s| BRYAN R. M ARTIN
Bryan R. Martin
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer







Exhibit 31.Z
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIERCHANGE ACT OF 1934
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Daniel Weirich, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16f&x8, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadorany untrue statement of a material fact or dondttate a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmislieading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer anar¢ responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant andénav

A. Designed such disclosure controls and procedoresaused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatheg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

B. Designed such internal control over financialoming, or caused such internal control over finaheporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atmuoce with generally accepted accounting princjples

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registram@asure controls and procedures and presentdsineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures as of the end of the period coumyehis report based on such
evaluation; and

D. Disclosed in this report any change in the regrgts internal control over financial reportingttoccurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofisttal quarter in the case of an annual repod tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasir's internal control over financial reportinggan

5. The registrant's other certifying officer anbalve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thataumnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

A. All significant deficiencies and material weakaes in the design or operation of internal cordx@r financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig's ability to record, process, summarize aport financial information; ar

B. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveanagement or other employees who have a significée in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

May 28, 2013

/s/ DANIEL W EIRICH
Daniel Weirich
Chief Financial Officer and Secretary







Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S. C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 1048®8, Inc. (the "Company") for the year ended Me8d, 2013, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the dateh@he "Report"), I, Bryan R. Martin, Chairman a@tief Executive Officer of the
Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.i8ec350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 dbérbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requiremenitSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExchaAgeof 1934; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairlggents, in all material respects, the financiad@n and results of operations of the
Company.

/s/ BRYAN R. M ARTIN
Bryan R. Martin
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

May 28, 2013

This certification accompanies this Report purstiarg 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 andl siod, except to the extent required by
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or otherwise remgljibe deemed filed by the Company for purpos&s1@ of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended.




Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S. C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 1048®8, Inc. (the "Company") for the year ended Me8d, 2013, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date@h@he "Report”), I, Daniel Weirich, Chief FinaatiOfficer and Secretary of the
Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.i8ec350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 dbérbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requiremenitSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExchaAgeof 1934; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairlggents, in all material respects, the financiad@n and results of operations of the
Company.

[s/ DANIEL W EIRICH
Daniel Weirich
Chief Financial Officer and Secretary

May 28, 2013

This certification accompanies this Report purstarg906 of the Sarban@xley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to the ektequired by th
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or otherwise requibeddeemed filed by the Company for purposes ofd1Be Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended.




